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Preface by the executive board

Ladies and Gentlemen,

we are pleased to present the Annual Financial Report of KA Finanz AG for the business year 2009. For 
KA Finanz AG, 2009 was a year marked by profound restructuring. In the wake of the fi nancial market crisis, 
99.78% of the former Kommunalkredit Austria (KA Old) was taken over by the Republic of Austria. In 
agreement with the new owner and based on the provisions of the Financial Market Stability Act (FinStaG), 
the Inter-Bank Market Support Act (IBSG) as well as the rules of the European Union (EU), an appropriate 
restructuring programme had to be elaborated and implemented.

The activities of KA Old were divided into strategic and non-strategic segments and split into two legally inde-
pendent segments on the basis of the Austrian Demerger Act (SpaltG) – Kommunalkredit Austria AG 
(KA New) and KA Finanz AG (KF). Thanks to the intensive efforts of all concerned, the restructuring plan 
was implemented within a highly ambitious time frame: the demerger became legally effective upon its entry 
in the Companies Register on 28 November 2008, 0:00 hrs.

The restructuring was implemented through the split-off of the company’s strategic business operations and 
their transfer to and absorption by Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG, formerly a wholly- owned subsidiary. The 
latter was renamed Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA) on 28 November 2009 simultaneously with the entry of 
the demerger in the Companies Register. The non-strategic business remained with the former Kommunal-
kredit (KA Old), which was renamed KA Finanz AG (KF) on 28 November 2009. The European Commission 
agreed to the demerger within the framework of its approval procedure, which is expected to be concluded in 
the course of this year.

KF’s activities essentially comprise the non-strategic securities and CDS portfolios of KA Old as well as the 
100% holding in Kommunalkredit International Bank (KIB). According to the restructuring plan, these port-
folios are to be phased out on a medium-term basis, with every effort being made to preserve their value 
recovery potentials. Moreover, within the framework of a cross-border merger according to Directive 2005/56/
EC on Cross-Border Mergers of Limited Liability Companies (EU Cross Border Mergers Directive), the 
activities of KIB are to be transferred to KF. The on-site activities in Cyprus will subsequently be discontinued.

On the basis of the restructuring measures taken, the company reports a consolidated surplus for the year of 
EUR 435 million according to IFRS, which comprises the results of KA Old up to the implementation of the 
demerger on 28 November 2009 and the retained business segment until the end of the year.  According to the 
new Austrian Company Code, the year closes with a consolidated loss for the year of EUR 267 million, 
comprising the results of KA Old for six months up to the reporting date of the demerger, i.e. 30 June 2009, 
according to the new Austrian Company Code, and the retained business segments until the end of the year.  

The signifi cant difference between the results according to IFRS and those according to the new Austrian 
Company Code is due to the fact that the improvement of the valuation result of the CDS portfolio by 
EUR 545.1 million from EUR -1,146.5 million to EUR -601.4 million is not recognised in the result according 
to the new Austrian Company Code, whereas collective risk provisions of EUR 165 million set up under the 
new Austrian Company Code are not recognised under IFRS. For details, see the Management Discussion and 
the Notes to the Financial Statements.

KF operates as a fully licensed bank according to the provisions of the Austrian Banking Act and is therefore 
subject to banking and bank supervision law. As of 31 December 2009, its consolidated own funds amounted 
to EUR 862.5 million. This results in a total capital ratio of 14.3% and a tier-1 ration of 7.2%. Based on separate 
agreements, the target tier-1 ratio has been set at a minimum of 7%. The capitalisation of KF is due to the 
positive effects of a debtor warrant structure (see page 37). Within the framework of this structure, the Republic 
of Austria gives a surety in the amount of EUR 1.0 billion as guarantor and payer. Thus, the original guarantee 
line of the Republic of Austria has been reduced by EUR 207.9 billion. Moreover, the government assumed 
guarantees in the amount of EUR 6.1 million for funding issues as of 31 December 2009.
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Guarantee fees of EUR 116 million for guarantees granted by the Republic of Austria were paid in the year 
under review. Given the fact that guarantee fees are payable on a continuous basis, the company does not expect 
to generate a surplus in the foreseeable future; therefore, distributions on supplementary and participation 
capital will presumably not be possible.

The structure now in place enables KF to implement its strategic goal of phasing out its portfolio while pre-
serving any value recovery potentials in a market environment which continues to be very challenging.

The Executive Board and the staff of KA Finanz AG will continue to pursue this target with great commitment 
in the interest of the public owners throughout the current year. We wish to express our gratitude for the support 
we received from those involved in this crucial period of restructuring, above all the shareholders, the Super-
visory Board and our market partners. We also extend our special thanks and appreciation to the staff of the 
company for their untiring efforts.

Mag. Alois Steinbichler
Chairman of the Executive Board 
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Consolidated management discussion of KA Finanz AG

The reporting framework of KA Finanz AG (formerly Kommunalkredit Austria AG) for the business year 2009 
is determined by the restructuring measures taken during the year under review. The restructuring process had 
to be implemented under the impact of the fi nancial market crisis and comprised the following steps: 

• Takeover of Kommunalkredit Austria AG by the Republic of Austria on 3 November 2008 
 (closing on 5 January 2009) 
• Restructuring in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Market Stabilisation Act (FinStaG) 
 and the Inter-Bank Market Support Act (IBSG) as well as the rules of the European Commission 
 (Directorate General for Competition)
• Demerger of the company according to the restructuring plan and on the basis of the Demerger Act (SpaltG) 

The restructuring of Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old) was implemented through the split-off of the com-
pany’s strategic business operations and their transfer to and absorption by Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG, 
formerly a wholly owned subsidiary, as of the demerger reporting date of 1 July 2009. The latter was renamed 
Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA) on 28 November 2009 upon its entry in the Companies Register. The non-
strategic business remained with Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old), which was renamed KA Finanz AG 
(KF) on 28 November 2009. 

In this report, the following company names are used for the entities involved: 

• Kommunalkredit Austria AG prior to the demerger:   KA Old
• KA Finanz AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009
 formerly Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old):    KF
• Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG prior to the demerger:   KDB
• Kommunalkredit Austria AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009 
 formerly Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG:    KA
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Boards of the company

Company name

since the entry of the demerger in the Companies Register on 28 November 2009: 
KA Finanz AG (KF)

up to the entry of the demerger in the Companies Register on 28 November 2009: 
Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old)

Executive board

Alois Steinbichler
Chairman of the Executive Board

Born in 1953; studied business administration at the Vienna University of Economics; M.Sc. (Master of Science 
in Management) from Purdue University, Indiana (USA ). International banking activities at Continental Illinois 
and State Street Boston in Chicago, Vienna, London and Zürich. From 1987 Creditanstalt/BA-CA: risk manage-
ment; head of London offi ce; head of international business; Member of the Board of BA-CA International. 2001 
to 2006 UniCredit Group, Milan and Zagreb; member of the Management Committee New Europe; Deputy 
Chairman of the Board of Zagrebačka banka. 2006 to 2008 Member of the Board of BAWAG P.S.K within the 
framework of restructuring. Since November 2008 Chairman of the Board of KA Old (KA Finanz AG). 

Andreas Fleischmann
Member of the Executive Board since 1 February 2009

Born in 1967; studied business management IT at the University of Vienna, M.Sc. (Master of Science in Finance) 
from the British Columbia University, Vancouver (Canada). From 1990 in banking business: GiroCredit Bank, 
Österreichische Postsparkasse and BA-CA. Most recently Head of Global ABS and Head of Structured Credit 
Vienna at UniCredit Markets & Investment Banking UniCredit CA IB AG. Since February 2009 Member of 
the Board of KA Old (KA Finanz AG).

Pierre Vérot
Member of the Executive Board until 30 April 2009
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Supervisory board

Elected by the General Meeting on 8 January 2009:

Klaus Liebscher
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
(Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG)

Adolf Wala
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
(Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG)

Helmut Mödlhammer
(President of the Association of Austrian Municipalities, Mayor of Hallwang)

Werner Muhm
(Director of the Vienna Chamber of Labour and the Federal Chamber of Labour)

Herbert Paierl
(Executive Vice President of Cosma Europa/Magna)

Georg Schöppl
(Member of the Board of Österreichische Bundesforste)

Franz Hofer 
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Martin Öhlknecht 
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Christine Sipek 
(delegated by the Staff Council)
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Until closing on 5 January 2009:

Franz Pinkl
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
(former Director General of Österreichische Volksbanken-AG)

François Durollet
(former Deputy Director General Public Finance, Dexia S.A., Paris)

François Laugier
(Dexia Crédit Local, Paris)

Wolfgang Perdich
(Member of the Board of Österreichische Volksbanken-AG)

Franz Hofer
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Christine Sipek
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Astrid Sukup
(delegated by the Staff  Council) until 7 January 2009
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State commissioner 

Peter Braumüller
State Commissioner. Financial Market Supervisory Authority, Head of Division II, 
Insurance and Pension Fund Supervision

Wolfgang Nitsche
Deputy State Commissioner, Federal Ministry of Finance

Government commissioner for the cover pool 

Appointed as government commissioners for depository management of the cover pool for covered bonds until 
the effective date of the demerger on 28 November 2009:

Heinrich Traumüller
Government Commissioner. Federal Ministry of Finance

Peter Braumüller
Deputy Government Commissioner. Financial Market Supervisory Authority, Head of Division II, Insurance 
and Pension Fund Supervision

Branch offi ces

The KF Group has no branch offi ces.
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Economic framework 

After the most severe global economic crisis in many decades, 2009 was marked by a slow recovery of the 
world economy. Whereas the worldwide downturn continued throughout the fi rst two quarters of the year, the 
comprehensive stimulus packages adopted by governments and central banks began to take effect in the second 
half of the year, resulting in a return to very moderate economic growth. Globally, worldwide economic growth 
was negative at -1.0% in 2009. The economic output of the euro area contracted by 4.1%.

The economic situation in Austria followed the international trend, with the country’s gross domestic product 
shrinking considerably in the fi rst half of 2009. Stimulus packages adopted by the government, relatively stable 
private consumer demand and growing export demand produced fi rst signs of an economic recovery starting in 
the third quarter of 2009. Compared with the previous year, economic growth was negative at -3.6%.

Given the continuing tension in the fi nancial system, the persistent capital spending restraint of economic 
operators, rising unemployment and the growing propensity of private households to save rather than spend 
their disposable income, a sustainable recovery is still a matter of great uncertainty. The Austrian Institute for 
Economic Research (WIFO) currently expects the economy of the euro area to grow by 1.0% in 2010; a 
growth rate of 1.3% has been forecast for Austria. 

Situation of the fi nancial economy 

Thanks to government support programmes for the fi nancial sector, the fi nancial markets also stabilised to a 
certain extent in 2009. Moreover, central banks throughout the world reacted to the crisis of confi dence in the 
fi nancial markets with strongly expansive monetary policies. Through extraordinary monetary policy measures, 
such as the expansion of the range of securities eligible as collateral for central banks and the 12-month tenders, 
the European Central Bank also provided massive liquidity support.

Money market rates continued on their steep downward trend in the fi rst half of 2009 and stabilised at a very 
low level. Since mid 2009, the 3-month EURIBOR has been below the ECB key rate of 1%. The US Federal 
Reserve maintained its key interest rate range at a record low of between 0% and 0.25% throughout the year. 
Compared with money market rates, the change in capital market rates was far less drastic. Between the end of 
2008 and the end of 2009, the secondary market yield of Austrian government bonds with a tenor of 10 years 
fell from 3.9% to 3.6%. These interest rate developments in the money and capital markets also resulted in a 
signifi cantly steeper yield curve.

Given the fact that the current economic outlook is marked by a certain degree of optimism, the extraordinary 
liquidity measures taken by central banks are expected to expire. To a growing extent, banks will again resort 
to the money market for funding, which ought to result in a rise in money-market interest rates in the course of 
2010. An increase of the key lending rates, unchanged at 1% since May, is not yet in sight, as infl ation expec-
tations remain low.

Due to sluggish economic activity and high losses in the banking sector, credit market came under severe pressure 
during the fi rst quarter, with high spread volatility in the fi st two months of 2009. However, comprehensive 
measures taken by governments to stabilise the fi nancial sector as well as economic stimulus packages helped 
to stabilise investor confi dence and initiated a counter-trend of credit spreads, starting in March 2009.  
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Despite some phases of volatility in the equity markets, favourable economic data resulted in signifi cant stock 
price increases in the second half of 2009. The MSCI World Index, for example, which reached its all-time low 
in March, picked up by about 65% until the end of the year. The ATX rose by about 75% during the same period.

Market developments in 2009 were primarily determined by monetary policy measures and governmental 
stimulus programmes. In view of the expected gradual expiry of these measures, a sustainable recovery of the 
fi nancial markets will still be burdened with high volatilities.

Signifi cant events of the business year 

Takeover of KA Old by the Republic of Austria

In the course of the international fi nancial crisis, KA Old found itself confronted with an acute shortage of li-
quidity in October 2008, which was aggravated by valuation losses and impairments in its securities portfolio 
and substantial spread widening in the CDS portfolio. The situation could only be overcome through instant 
support measures taken by the Republic of Austria. On 3 November 2008, acting on the basis of the Inter-Bank 
Market Support Act and the Financial Markets Stabilisation Act, the Republic of Austria signed a purchase 
contract to acquire the shares in KA Old held by its then shareholders Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna, 
and Dexia Crédit Local, Paris, at a price of EUR 1.00 each. At the same time, KA Old sold its shares in Dexia 
Kommunalkredit Bank AG (Dexia-Kom) to Dexia Crédit Local, also at a price of EUR 1.00. The transfer of 
ownership in the shares of KA Old was effected as of 5 January 2009, followed by the transfer of ownership in 
the shares of Dexia-Kommunalkredit Bank AG on 19 March 2009. Thus, the Republic of Austria has held 
99.78% of the shares in KF since 5 January 2009. The remaining 0.22% continue to be held by the Association 
of Austrian Municipalities. 

The purchase contract dated 3 November 2008 also provided for Dexia Crédit Local to convert EUR 200 million 
of its non-collateralised claims against KA Old into participation capital. Likewise, Österreichische Volksbanken-
AG converted EUR 172.5 million of its non-collateralised claims into participation capital. The conversion 
took effect as of 9 January 2009. Since that time, the participation capital has been eligible as core capital. As a 
result, the core capital ratio of the Group increased by 4.0 percentage points to 9.0% on 9 January 2009. 

Moreover, as of the end of 2008, the Republic of Austria pledged itself in writing to ensure a tier-1 ratio of 7% 
by giving a surety to maintain the quality of assets otherwise impaired and/or to avoid provisioning which 
otherwise would have been necessary. The surety given by the Republic of Austria amounted to a maximum of 
EUR 1,207.9 million and remained valid, after its prolongation as of 30 September, until 30 November 2009; 
it was terminated and/or replaced within the framework of the restructuring process described in the following 
paragraphs.  

Liquidity support 

The crucial concern towards the end of 2008 and in early 2009 was to secure the liquidity of the bank. On 
account of the new ownership conditions, the tight liquidity situation was stabilised during the fi rst months of 
the year and the bank re-gained access to the international fi nancial and capital markets. After the issuance of 
government-guaranteed bonds under the Austrian Inter-Bank Market Support Act, the entire volume of liquidity 
previously drawn from the ECB/OeNB Emergency Liquidity Assistance (ELA) Programme, which had been 
utilised to a maximum level of EUR 4.0 billion under a maximum line of EUR 5.3 billion, was redeemed. At 
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the same time, the bank succeeded in taking in customer deposits in the amount of EUR 1.5 billion, which 
contributed substantially towards closing the original liquidity gap. Finally, the additional outfl ow of liquidity 
was controlled through negotiations with CSA partners under ISDA agreements. 

Another essential liquidity support measure – though only available fully for a short period – consisted in the 
establishment of two commercial paper programmes with a total volume of EUR 5.0 billion from September 
2009. Within one month, EUR 1.7 billion were raised. The further build-up of liquidity was interrupted by 
Moody’s decision on the KF rating (Baa3/P-3). Since KF was rated A (long-term) and A-1 (short-term) by 
S&P in March 2010, the commercial paper programmes are to be relaunched.

Restructuring 

In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Markets Stabilisation Act and the guidelines of the European 
Commission (DG Competition), a restructuring plan was drawn up for the bank in the spring of 2009. After the 
approval of the plan by the Supervisory Board, the Federal Ministry of Finance submitted it to the European 
Commission for approval in June 2009.

The plan was drawn up with the following objectives in mind:

• Avoidance of a destabilisation of Austria as a fi nancial centre
• Minimisation of the input of public funds while, at the same time, maintaining a margin of fl exibility 

for the Republic of Austria
• Avoidance of actual losses in a “distressed market” and preservation of value recovery potentials
• Implementation of the restructuring process based on the requirements of the law (Financial Markets 

Stabilisation Act, Inter-Bank Market Support Act and EU law)

The best way to implement these objectives was to split the company’s operations into “strategic” and “non-
strategic” fi elds of business. The non-strategic business (securities and CDS portfolio as well as Kommunal-
kredit International Bank Ltd (KIB)) remained with what is now KF; the provision of fi nance for local authorities 
and the related service activities were transferred to the former Depotbank AG, a Group-held entity, through 
the absorption-type demerger pursuant to Sect.5 and Sect. 17.Z.5 of the Demerger Act in conjunction with 
Sect. 220.b of the Stock Corporations Act. Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG was then renamed “Kommunal-
kredit Austria AG” (KA) and is now the new Kommunalkredit (KA). This split into two banks has made the 
effi cient and targeted implementation of two different business strategies possible. KF will phase out the 
securities and CDS portfolio, including the assets of KIB, while preserving their value recovery potential. KA 
will act as a centre of competence for local-authority matters and a provider of solutions for municipal and 
infrastructure-related project fi nance. KF will limit itself to the following activities:

• Funding of the existing assets (e.g. ECB tenders, commercial paper programmes, money market)
• Active risk management measures (hedging transactions to manage currency, interest-rate and credit risks)
• Medium-term phasing out of existing transactions
 
Apart from the above, KF will not engage in any new business. 

Implementation of the Restructuring Plan

On 17 November 2009, the shareholders of KA Old and the former Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG decided 
to transfer the banking business with its strategic activities to what was then KDB through an absorption-
type demerger (the “demerger”). The demerger took effect as of its entry into the Companies Register on 
28 November 2009. At the same time, KA Old was renamed KA Finanz AG (KG) and Kommunalkredit 
Depotbank AG was renamed Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA). 
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Pursuant to Sect. 15.5 of the Demerger Act, holders of profi t-sharing rights (participation and supplementary 
capital) had to be granted “equivalent rights”  according to the following regime: the nominal value of the ex-
isting profi t-sharing rights of KF was reduced to 75.83% of the original nominal value prior to the demerger 
and, at the same time, the holders of profi t-sharing rights were granted new supplementary capital of KA on 
the same conditions at a nominal value of 24.17% of the original nominal value. The distribution resulted from 
the consolidated risk-weighted assets (RWAs) on the basis of the break-down by strategic and non-strategic 
assets of KA Old.

Capital measures within the framework of restructuring

At the time of the demerger, KF was recapitalised. As part of the process, the surety given by the Republic of 
Austria war reduced from its originally agreed maximum amount of EUR 1,207.9 million to EUR 1 billion. 
The following steps were taken:

• Based on the agreement of 17 November 2009 (Capitalisation Agreement) concluded with the Republic of 
Austria and with KF, KA waived its claim against KF for repayment of money market deposits in the amount 
of EUR 1 billion against issue of a debtor warrant, effective as of 30 November 2009. In accordance with the 
debtor warrant, KF will, from its future annual surpluses, make payments to Kommunalkredit Austria AG 
equal to the amount waived, plus interest, starting from the date of the waiver of the money market deposit 
claim. Payments to be made under the debtor warrant are senior to claims for coupon payments on supple-
mentary and participation capital, but junior to claims to interest payments by lenders of KF (including 
secondary lenders).  

• Also on 17 November 2009, KA entered into a put arrangement with a special purpose vehicle, granting KA 
the right to sell the debtor warrant by the end of the exercise period of the put option, i.e. the third anniversary 
of the effective date of the demerger (28 November 2012), at a price equal to the amount waived, plus 
accrued interest, minus payments made under the debtor warrant. 

• The Republic of Austria assumed liability for the obligations arising from the debtor warrant under the put 
arrangement as a guarantor and payer. KF has to pay a guarantee fee of 10% of the amount guaranteed on a 
monthly basis to the Republic of Austria. 

• Moreover, KF waived its rights from the surety previously given by the Republic of Austria up to a maxi-
mum amount of EUR 1,207.9 million. The waiver took effect simultaneously with KA’s money-market 
deposit waiver against KF.

KA Old

CDS portfolio

Municipal 
 business

Securities

Other

Funding

Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA)

Municipal 
 business

Funding

KA Finanz AG (KF)

CDS portfolio

Securities
KIB

Other 
Funding

Demerger 
 pursuant to 

 Demerger Act

Strategic 
 activities

Non-strategic 
 activities
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• Finally, the Republic of Austria pledged itself to KF to inject restructuring contributions, from the effective 
date of the demerger until 31 December 2013, through the re-allocation and netting of guarantee fees payable 
by KF to the Republic of Austria in the amount of max. EUR 60.0 million in 2009 and max. EUR 75.0 million 
annually from 2010 to 2013. The restructuring contributions are drawn from payments otherwise to be made 
by KF to the Republic of Austria, but are subject to separate approval by the Republic of Austria. Thus, the 
restructuring contributions of the Republic of Austria are fi nanced from the guarantee fees, but reduce the 
gross amount of guarantee fees payable. According to IFRS, the gross amount payable for sureties and/or 
guarantees given by the Republic of Austria totalled EUR 176.2 million in 2009. After netting of the restruc-
turing contribution of EUR 60.0 million made by the Republic of Austria, the net fl ow of funds to the Republic 
of Austria in 2009 totalled EUR 116.2 million according to IFRS. If the aforementioned restructuring contri-
butions are drawn again in the business years 2010 to 2013, the net fl ow of funds to the Republic of Austria 
will be positive as well. The purpose of the agreement providing for restructuring contributions is to ensure a 
suffi cient degree of fl exibility for the company to maintain a tier-1 ratio of 7%.   

Service Level Agreement between KA and KF

As agreed with the supervisory body, KF receives operational services from KA under a service level agreement. 
Since the demerger, KA has acted as a service provider for KF. The KF Group has a staff of 22 employees, 
who are responsible for portfolio management, risk management and the operational processes of the company. 
A guideline for the avoidance of confl icts of interest has been issued and approved by the supervisory body. 
Compliance with this guideline is monitored by the Supervisory Boards of both companies on a regular basis; 
if need arises, the matter is to be put to the annual general meeting.

State Aid under examination by the European Commission

In accordance with legal provisions, the restructuring plan was submitted to the European Commission by the 
Federal Ministry of Finance on 10 June 2009 after its approval by the Supervisory Board. The implementation 
of the demerger was agreed upon with the European Commission. A valuation of a portion of the securities 
portfolio remaining with KF (approx. 10% of the portfolio) is being conducted in accordance with the Com-
munication from the Commission on the Treatment of Impaired Assets of 25 February 2009. The approval 
procedure is expected to be brought to a positive conclusion in the course of 2010. Negotiations are being 
conducted in a constructive spirit and according to schedule.

Changes in Board memberships

Following the acquisition of the shares by the Republic of Austria, the owner representatives on the Super-
visory Board, except for the member nominated by the Association of Austrian Municipalities, were newly 
appointed: 

•  Klaus Liebscher, Chairman (Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG (FIMBAG), 
former Governor of the Austrian National Bank (OeNB))

•  Adolf Wala, Deputy Chairman (Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG (FIMBAG), 
former President of the Austrian National Bank (OeNB)) 

Members of the Supervisory Board appointed as of the same date are: 

• Werner Muhm (Director of the Vienna Chamber of Labour) 
• Herbert Paierl (Executive Vice President of Cosma Europa/Magna, former member of the Government of 

the Province of Styria responsible for fi nancial and economic affairs)
• Georg Schöppl (Member of the Board of Österreichische Bundesforste AG)
• Herbert Mödlhammer (President of the Association of Austrian Municipalities). 
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Thus, the bank has a supervisory body composed of highly qualifi ed and experienced members. The Super-
visory Board members delegated by the staff council remained unchanged.

The membership of the Executive Board changed upon signature of the takeover agreement with the Republic 
of Austria on 3 November 2008. After the withdrawal of confi dence by the general meeting, the former Executive 
Board of the company was removed from offi ce by the Supervisory Board. On 7 November 2008, Alois Stein-
bichler took offi ce as Chairman of the Executive Board. Andreas Fleischmann was appointed Member of the 
Executive Board as of 1 February 2009. Pierre Vérot, Member of the Executive Board delegated by the Dexia 
Group since 1 October 2008, resigned from the Executive Board upon transfer of the shares in Dexia 
Kommunalkredit Bank to Dexia Crédit Local as of 30 April 2009. 

Strengthening of corporate governance and risk management

The new corporate governance unit intensively monitored the situation and supported the restructuring of the 
company. A total of 13 Supervisory Board meetings and four Audit Committee meetings were held in 2009. 
Moreover, the Supervisory Board introduced new rules of procedure with extensive reporting obligations for 
the Executive Board. The agenda of the weekly Executive Board meetings comprises decision-making and 
reporting items as well as reviews of and follow-up to previously agreed positions. The internal audit unit 
submits its reports to the Supervisory Board on a quarterly basis.

The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board both pay special attention to the optimisation of risk manage-
ment. The bank’s risk and ICAAP strategies were reviewed and improvements have been introduced. Issues 
relating to credit risks, market risks, operational and other risks are dealt with on a structured basis at the 
monthly Risk Management Committee meetings. Additional working groups in charge of issues relating to 
credit, capital and liquidity meet at weekly or even shorter intervals.

Rating 

Upon implementation of the demerger plan, KF was re-rated by Fitch and Moody’s. Fitch set its long-term 
rating of KF at A+ and its short-term rating at the highest possible level of F1+. Moody’s Investors Service rated 
KF Baa3 (long-term) and P-3 (short-term). In March 2010 S&P rated KF A (long-term) and A-1 (short-term).
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Assets, fi nancial position and income

Impact of the demerger on the reporting period

For accounting purposes, the demerger according to the Demerger Act results in different accounting periods 
under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the new Austrian Company Code.

According to IFRS, the effective date of the demerger, i.e. 28 November 2009, is also the relevant date for ac-
counting purposes; thus, the strategic operations spun off from KA Old are no longer contained in the result of 
KF as of 28 November 2009.

Balance-sheet recognition of the demerger according to IFRS

Under the new Austrian Company Code, the reporting date for the demerger is 30 June 2009, while 28 No-
vember 2009 is the effective date of the demerger under Austrian civil law. Therefore, the strategic operations 
spun off from KA Old are no longer contained in the result of KF.

Balance-sheet recognition of the demerger according to the new Austrian Company Code

effective date of the 
demerger = effective date 
according to IFRS

reporting date of the demerger

28-11-2009

28-11-2009

30-06-2009 

implementation of demerger
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Financial Performance Indicators of the KA Finanz Group according to IFRS

Balance-sheet structure - Assets

As of 31 December 2009, the total assets of the KF Group amounted to EUR 21.4 billion, down from 
EUR 37.5  billion as of 31 December 2008. The drop in total assets is primarily due to the spin-off of the stra-
tegic assets in the amount of EUR 15.1 billion to KA. The Group’s total assets include short-term investments 
between KA and KF in the amount of EUR 0.9 billion, which were redeemed according to schedule in January 
2010. No new business was booked in 2009.

The nominal volume of the securities portfolio of KA Old remaining with KF totals EUR 12.2 billion, of 
which approximately 38% is rated AAA/AA and a total of 96% is in the investment-grade range. Broken down 
by sector, the issuers are public-sector entities (46%), banks (27%), corporates (17%) and securitisations 
(10%). Geographically, 57% of the portfolio is of EU origin, with 44% accounted for by the EU-15 and 13% 
by the remaining EU Member States. Other regions, except for the United States accounting for 17%, are 
immaterial. In the course of 2009, a volume of EUR 0.5 billion was phased out from the securities portfolio for 
risk mitigation.

KF’s loan portfolio amounts to a total of EUR 2.9 billion and primarily derives from KIB; it comprises mainly 
exposures to banks and quasi-public sector operators.

The CDS portfolio remaining entirely with KF amounts to EUR 10.1 billion, of which approximately 75% is 
rated AAA/AA and 97% is investment-grade rated. The underlying risks of the CDS transactions exist in 

Selected balance-sheet fi gures in EUR million 2009 1) 2008

Total assets 21.407,3 37.456,6

Loans and advances to customers 6.535,2 18.157,5

Financial investments 4.775,7 7.164,4

Securitised Liabilities 6.850,2 16.686,6

Net interest income 2) 38,5 90,0

Pre-tax result for the year 447,6 -1.477,2

After-tax result for the year 435,0 -1.451,4

Key ratios 2009 2008 3)

Risk-weighted assets Basel II – credit risk (in EUR million) 6.040,5 9.186,0

Capital adequacy requirement (in EUR million) 483,2 734,9

Own funds (in EUR million) 862,5 1.156,8

Total capital ratio (= own funds / capital adequacy requirement / 0.8) * 100) 14,3 % 12,6 %

Core capital tier-1 (in EUR million) 436,2 827,3

Core capital ratio (= core capital / capital adequacy requirement / 0.08) * 100) 7,2 % 9,0 %

Rating 2009 2008

Long-term Fitch / S&P / Moody's 4) A+ / A / Baa3 A+ / n.a. / Aa3

Short-term Fitch / S&P / Moody’s 4) F1+/ A-1 / P-3 F1+/ n.a. / P-1

1) The 2009 result comprises KA Old up to 28-11-2009 and KF from 28-11-2009 to 31-12-2009
2) After expenses for guarantee fees, the 2009 net interest income amounts to EUR 18.1 million
3) Comparative fi gures contain the participation capital issued as of 09-01-2009
4) The S&P rating has existed since March 2010: Moody’s rating is to be withdrawn  
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respect of public-sector entities (93%), banks (6%) and corporates (1%).  Geographically, 92% of the portfolio 
is of EU origin, with 77% accounted for by the EU-15 and 15% by the remaining EU Member States. In the 
course of 2009, a volume of EUR 1.6 billion was phased out from the CDS portfolio for risk mitigation. 
Another EUR 0.3 billion were hedged through hedging measures.

Risk-weighted assets and equity

As of 31 December 2009, KF had a consolidated core capital of EUR 436.2 million, with own funds amounting 
to EUR 862.5 million. With risk-weighted assets of EUR 6,040.5 million, this resulted in a tier-1 ratio of 7.2% 
and a total capital ratio of 14.3%. Equity according to IFRS is negative at EUR -250.9 million, up from 
EUR -1,161.9 million on 31 December 2008

The aforementioned capital ratios are based on the calculation criteria to be applied in accordance with the 
Austrian Banking Act; the FIRB (foundation IB) approach has been used for the calculation of risk-weighted 
assets. Exposures to sovereigns, territorial authorities, special fi nance, public institutions and public-sector 
entities are subject to the standard approach. The standard approach is also applied to operational risks.

Funding structure

As of 31 December 2009, the total volume of long-term funding available to the KA Finanz Group (government-
guaranteed bonds, private placements, loans) amounted ti EUR 7.9 billion. Short-term funding, comprising 
commercial paper programmes, ECB tenders, repo funding and money-market deposits, totalled EUR 8.4 billion.

The most important funding instruments in 2009, as of 31-12-2009, were:

EUR 6.1 billion government-guaranteed bonds
EUR 6.6 billion money market (including ECB tenders and repos)
EUR 0.7 billion commercial paper

In accordance with the parameters of the restructuring plan, the focus of future funding activities will be on the 
short-term range. 

Income situation of the Group according to IFRS

The consolidated income statement presented by KF in conformity with IFRS comprises the result of KA Old 
from January to December 2009 and the result of the residual assets not spun off for December 2009. 
Kommunal kredit International Bank Ltd. is contained fully in the KF result for the year. The results of the 
subsidiaries spun off (mainly Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH and Kommunalkredit Beteiligungs- 
und Immobilien GmbH) are also included in the consolidated income with their results from January to 
November 2009.

Net interest income, after guarantee fees payable for EUR 18.1 million drawn from the Emergency Liquidity 
Assistance Programme of the ECB/OeNB and the Austrian clearing agency, amounts to EUR 38.5 million.

Net commission income stands at EUR -150.3 million due to guarantee fees payable for sureties and issue 
guarantees given by the Republic of Austria in the amount of EUR -158.1 million. The guarantee fees are not 
income dependent and were paid in full to the Republic of Austria. Together with the amounts netted in interest 
income, fees paid to the Republic of Austria total a gross amount of EUR 176.2 million.

General administrative expenses in the amount of EUR -52.4 million are not fully comparable with the previous 
year’s value of EUR -42.5 million. Signifi cant differences are due to non-recurrent income for the release of 
personnel provisions in 2008, the absence of general administrative expenses re-invoiced to Dexia Kommunal-
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kredit Bank, and non-recurrent expenses incurred through the demerger. Corrected for these special factors, 
general administrative expenses are EUR 6.1 million below the previous year’s level.

Net credit risk provisions stand at EUR -196.1 million and are primarily due to provisioning required upon 
expiry of the surety given by the Republic of Austria within the framework of the restructuring measures out-
lined above. 

The net income from fi nancial investments of the KF Group according to IFRS totalled EUR 810.8 million in 
2009, comprising the following signifi cant components:

 Signifi cant positive effects:

 • Money market deposit waiver by KA EUR +1,000 million
 • Valuation of the CDS portfolio EUR +545 million
  (from EUR -1,146.5 million to EUR -601.4 million)
 • Buyback of equity instruments EUR +106 million

 Signifi cant negative effects:

 • Impairment and valuation adjustment of assets covered 
  by the surety of the Republic of Austria in 2008 EUR -717 million
 • Risk-mitigating rundown from the CDS portfolio EUR -106 million
 • New provisioning for securities in 2009 EUR -35 million

Based on the above, the after-tax result for the year is EUR 435.0 million (2008: EUR -1,451.4 million).

The consolidated IFRS result differs signifi cantly from the solo result according to the new Austrian Company 
Code. According to the issuing terms and the Austrian Banking Act, the latter – discussed below – are relevant 
for distributions on participation and supplementary capital.
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Financial Performance Indicators of the KA Finanz Group according to the 
new Austrian Company Code

The KF solo statement according to the new Austrian Company Code shows a loss for the year of 
EUR 267.0 million. Compared with the IFRS result, the difference is mainly due to the fact that the valuation 
yield from the CDS portfolio of EUR 545.2 million is not recognised under the new Austrian Company Code 
(for details see Note to Separate Financial Statements). At the same time, risk provisions of EUR 165 million 
under the new Austrian Company Code are not recognised under IFRS.

Another difference – though largely immaterial for the loss for the year – results from different effect of the 
demerger under IFRS and the new Austrian Company Code. Whereas IFRS accounting recognises the demerger 
as of the day of its entry in the Companies Register, accounting under the new Austrian Company Code is 
based on Austrian commercial law, which provides for a retroactive demerger date of 30 June 2009. The in-
come statement of KF according to the new Austrian Company Code therefore comprises the result of KA Old 
(all business segments prior to the demerger) from January to June 2009 and the result of the residual assets 
not spun off from June to December 2009. 

Moreover, income from the buyback of supplementary capital issues is also treated differently: due to the 
different reporting dates, it counts fully for KF under IFRS, whereas only 75.83% is allocated to KF under the 
new Austrian Company Code, the rest going to KA.

The solo fi nancial statements according to the new Austrian Company Code are relevant for the servicing of 
profi t-dependent equity instruments. Given the fact that neither the after-tax result for the year nor the result 
after appropriation to reserves shows a profi t, no distributions on income-dependent capital instruments will be 
made in 2010 for the business year 2009. This was already announced in KF’s ad-hoc notifi cation dated 17 No-
vember 2009.

 

Selected balance-sheet and income statement fi gures in EUR million 2009

Total assets 17.657,28

Loans and advances to customers 2.088,40

Bonds 4.203,97

Securitised liabilities 7.659,06

Net interest income 10,63

General administrative expenses -31,55

Profi t on ordinary activities -1.262,96

After-tax result for the year -267,04

Key ratios 2009

Risk-weighted assets (in EUR million) 4.845,48

Capital adequacy requirement (in EUR million) 396,00

Own funds (in EUR million) 749,37

Total capital ratio (= own funds / capital adequacy requirement / 0.8) * 100) 15,14 %

Core capital tier-1 (EUR million) 374,69

Core capital ratio (= core capital / capital adequacy requirement / 0.08) * 100) 7,57 %

Number of shares 307.500

Dividend per share + bonus (in EUR) 0
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Non-fi nancial performance indicators

Personnel 

As of 31 December 2009, the KF Group had a total of 22 employees (excluding the Executive Board), 12 women 
and 10 men, all of them belonging to Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd. in Limassol/Cyprus.

Since the restructuring of KF in November 2009, eleven employees of Kommunalkredit – four women and seven 
men (no change since 31 December 2009) – have been working for KF. Based on a secondment agreement, they 
work exclusively for KF, but formally belong to the staff of KA.

The costs are settled between the banks on the basis of the aforementioned agreement.

Communication

The restructuring of KA Old involved a major communication effort. The bank’s new logo was designed and 
implemented with input from both employees and the management. Management letters were sent out and the 
members of the Executive Board explained the new structure, including its impact on operational procedures, 
e.g. payment transfer, to customers and market partners in numerous personal conversations. Special thanks 
are due to all those concerned for their support and understanding, which enabled the bank to cope success-
fully with this complex situation.

Signifi cant events after the balance-sheet date 

On 24 March 2010 (value date), KF issued a government-guaranteed bond with a volume of EUR 1 billion. On 
account of the government guarantee, the bond war rated triple A by Fitch, S&P and Moody’s.

Having been mandated to rate KF at the beginning of the year, Standard & Poors (S&P) published its ratings 
on 03-03-2010, awarding the company a long-term rating of A and a short-term rating of A-1. Thus, KF is
rated highly in the short-term segment by both Fitch (F1+) and S&P (A-1). The company intends to have 
Moody’s rating withdrawn.
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Essential holdings 

Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd

The decision in principle not to continue Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd. (KIB, Cyprus), but to close 
down its on-site operations in the course of 2010 after a cross-border merger with KF as the parent company 
was already taken in December 2008 with the approval of the Cypriot supervisory authorities. The decision 
was taken in close coordination with the regulatory authorities in charge. This move has been considered ad-
visable, as KIB was severely affected by the fi nancial crisis its equity is negative. In view of the intended 
merger, which has been approved in principle, the local supervisory authority waived the requirement of cor-
rective capital measures. For KIB, the business year 2009 was marked by stabilisation measures in preparation 
of the merger with KF planned for 2010. The bank’s headcount was reduced from 33 to 22 (excluding the 
Executive Board) in the year under review further reduced to 15 in the fi rst quarter of 2010.

Risk reporting

The control and limitation of risks is performed on the basis of a specifi ed risk strategy and supervised at the 
regular meetings of the Risk Management Committee (RMC). In addition to the RMC, task force meetings 
(credit, liquidity, restructuring, capital, etc.) are held at weekly or even shorter intervals to support the RMC in 
operational terms.

The primary goal of asset and liability control is to secure the liquidity of the bank and to phase out the non-
strategic business of KA Old, while minimising the need for funds from the Republic of Austria and realising 
the value recovery potential to the greatest possible extent.  

The breakdown of credit exposures by rating shows a concentration of exposures in the upper rating categories. 
The credit quality of the on-balance portfolio and the CDS portfolio is refl ected in the breakdown by rating:

  AAA/AA 48%
  A 25%
  BBB 23%
 

Non-investment-grade ratings account for 4% of the total portfolio. 

Broken down by sector, 55% of the exposures are accounted for by public-sector entities and 30% by fi nancial 
institutions. The remaining exposure comprises corporates (11%) and securitisations (4%). In the CDS port-
folio, 93% of the exposures are to public-sector entities, 6% to banks and 1% to corporates.

The good credit quality of the portfolio is primarily due to the high percentage of sovereign and quasi-sovereign 
risks.

For details on risk management, please refer to the risk report annexed to the consolidated fi nancial statements 
(Note 62).

Details on the use of fi nancial instruments are contained in Note 62.
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Internal control and risk management system (ICS)

Introduction

Generally recognised standards* are referred to in the description of the essential features of the internal 
control system (ICS). The framework used consists of fi ve interrelated components: control environment, risk 
assessment, control measures, information and communication, and supervision.

The management of KF is responsible for the design of the ICS and the risk management system as well as the 
establishment of these systems and processes in accordance with the needs and requirements of KF and its 
accounting policies. One of the essential goals of the system is to ensure a correct and transparent presentation 
of the fi nancial position of the company.

The objective of the internal control system is to support the management and enable it to ensure effective and 
continuously improving internal controls of accounting. The system is intended, on the one hand, to ensure 
compliance with guidelines and regulations and, on the other hand, to create favourable conditions for specifi c 
control measures to be applied in key accounting processes. 

This includes all processes designed by KF’s ICS offi cer, coordinated with the management and implemented 
in the company in order to monitor and supervise 

• the effectiveness and cost effi ciency of operational activities (including the protection of assets against 
losses through abuse and mismanagement)

• the reliability of fi nancial reporting, and
• compliance with all legal provisions of relevance to the company.

The risk management system comprises all processes serving to identify, analyse and assess risks. On this 
basis, measures must be taken to ensure that the achievement of the company’s targets is not jeopardised by 
the occurrence of such risks.

This report is intended to provide an overview of the organisation of internal controls of the accounting process.

Control environment

The corporate culture as the overall framework for all management and staff activities represents the funda-
mental aspect of the control environment. The company is making every effort to improve communication and 
to convey its basic corporate values in order to ensure that ethical principles and integrity govern all processes 
within the company and its relations with others.

Central organisational principles concern the avoidance of confl icts of interest through a strict separation of 
front-offi ce and back-offi ce operations, the transparent documentation of core processes and control steps, as 
well as the consistent implementation of the four-eyes principle.

Based on a service level agreement, KF has outsourced essential components of its organisation to KA. This 
applies, in particular, to accounting and reporting, including the related processes and controls to be performed 
within the framework of the ICS. However, the ultimate responsibility for all the activities outsourced under 
the service level agreement and their results remains with the bodies of KF. An essential additional control 
function is performed by the operating offi cer in charge of accepting the services rendered under the service 
level agreement, who is responsible for ensuring that these services are complete and meet the requirements of 
KF, as defi ned by the Executive Board. 

* e.g. the rules of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 

24



Accounting has been outsourced to KA via a service level agreement (SLA). All accounting issues arising at 
individual company and consolidated levels are resolved via the SLA. Other outsourced activities comprise 
budgeting, cost accounting, including the monitoring of actual and target cost fi gures, as well as reporting to 
the Austrian National Bank and/or other controlling institutions at the national level. On the basis of the SLA, 
KA also drafts and updates the accounting manuals for the entire Group, performs plausibility checks on the 
reports received from the subsidiaries and consolidates these reports.

The SLA also covers the service which KF receives from KA’s internal audit unit, which independently audits 
the accounting department for compliance with the internal rules on a regular basis. The head of the internal 
audit unit reports directly to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.

Risk assessment

KF’s risk management is aimed at discovering all identifi able risks and, if necessary, initiating defensive and 
preventive measures. This also includes the risks of material misrepresentation of transactions.

Risks relating to the accounting process are assessed and monitored by the management. Special attention is 
devoted to risks regarded as material.

The internal control measures taken by the units in charge are evaluated annually. The risk of incorrect fi nancial 
reporting is assessed on the basis of different criteria. For example, complex accounting principles may carry 
an increased risk of error. Diverging principles for the valuation of assets as well as a complex and changing 
business environment may also give rise to a risk of material errors in fi nancial reporting.

The SLS specifi es the standards and rules applicable to all standard transactions recorded in the primary system 
of the bank. Foreseeable accounting issues are addressed in the accounting manuals. Valuation questions are 
covered by valuation manuals and standard operating instructions. A specialised, qualifi ed organisational unit 
(valuation and modelling), independent of the front offi ce, determines the values to be entered in the fi nancial 
statements. New products are subject to a stringent product approval and introduction process.

Accounting issues that are of particular complexity or not governed by detailed rules are discussed with the 
Executive Board and, if necessary, resolved with the assistance of external consultants and in close coordination 
with the external auditor.

Control measures

KA has a regulatory system which defi nes the structures, processes, functions and roles within the company. It 
provides explicit instructions on how to deal with and/or act upon standard operating procedures or guidelines. 
This applies, above all, to information processing, the documentation of information sent and received, as well 
as the avoidance of undesirable purchases or sales of assets that would have a material impact on the annual 
accounts. In addition to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, the general control environment also 
comprises the middle management level of KF (risk offi cer, portfolio offi cer and operating offi cer) as well as 
internal audit services obtained from KA via the SLA.

All control measures are applied in the course of day-to-day business operations to ensure that potential errors 
or non-compliances in fi nancial reporting are prevented and/or discovered and corrected. The control measures 
range from checks of period results by the management to the specifi c reconciliation of accounts and the analysis 
of continuous accounting processes. The accounting and budgeting process, including the control steps, has 
been documented for the Group and is subject to an annual review. The process sequence and the units in 
charge are replicated in a process documentation software and can be downloaded from the Intranet by all 
those involved in the process. It is incumbent upon the Executive Board to ensure that the hierarchy does not 
allow an activity to be performed and controlled by the same person (four-eyes principle). 
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IT security control measures are an essential component of the control system. For example, the separation of 
sensitive activities is supported through a restrictive policy of granting IT user authorisations.

Transactions are recorded, settled and booked centrally in the treasury and loan module and/or the FI module 
of SAP. The procedures are documented in the back offi ce manual.

The reporting packages of the essential subsidiaries are checked for plausibility and consolidated centrally by 
KA via the SLA. The respective managements of the subsidiaries are ultimately responsible for the introduction 
and design of an internal control and risk management system for the accounting process, meeting the stand-
ards of the Group and the requirements of the company concerned, as well as for compliance with Group-wide 
guidelines and rules in effect.

Market conformity checks are guaranteed through the monthly plausibility checks performed by the control-
ling department.

Information and communication

The risk offi cer, the deputy risk offi cer, the portfolio offi cer and the operating offi cer report to the Executive 
Board of KF. As regards the presentation and avoidance of confl icts of interest, they also report to the Super-
visory Board. The depth of information depends on what the Boards demand and what the offi cers concerned 
consider important.

Via the SLA, the member of the Executive Board responsible for treasury operations receives daily interim 
reports from the treasury department on the liquidity risk. The risk offi cer submits comprehensive monthly 
performance and risk reports (RMC folder) to the full Executive Board, which is largely based on information 
received via the SLA. 

The Supervisory Board also receives regular comprehensive reports. The fl ow of information comprises the 
fi nancial statements (balance sheet and income statement, including comments on signifi cant developments, 
capital budgeting) of the company as well as liquidity risk analyses by the treasury department received via the 
SLA and analyses of portfolio management and/or phasing-out measures by the portfolio offi cer. The share-
holders / the public are informed through the mid-year report and the annual report. Information is also 
provided in the form of ad-hoc notifi cations.

Discussions on fi nancial reporting and the related guidelines and rules are conducted regularly in a number of 
bodies involving the management as well as department heads and accounting executives of KA in charge of 
providing services for KF. Their works serves, inter alia, to ensure compliance with accounting guidelines and 
rules and to identify and communicate weaknesses and potential areas of improvement in the accounting process.

Moreover, accounting staff are continuously updated on new developments in national and international account-
ing methods, which enables them to identify risks of unintended reporting errors as early as possible. 

Supervision

The responsibility for continuous and Group-wide supervision lies with the Executive Board. At the same 
time, the department heads concerned are also responsible for supervising their areas of responsibility under 
the SLA; controls and plausibility checks are performed at regular intervals. 

Financial reports to be published are acknowledged and explicitly released by accounting executives and the 
Executive Board prior to their submission to the accounting committee of the Supervisory Board. 

By monitoring compliance with all rules, KA Finanz hopes to achieve a maximum level of security for all 
operational procedures and processes and ensure conformity with all Group-wide standards. If major risks and 
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weaknesses in the control system are detected, every effort is made to communicate remedial and defensive 
measures to those concerned as quickly as possible.

In order to ensure compliance at Group level, regular audits are performed in accordance with the annual inter-
nal and Group-wide audit plan.

Compliance and money laundering 

The Standard Compliance Code of the Austrian banking sector (SCC) signed by KF specifi es requirements of 
fairness and mutual confi dence in the relations of banks with their customers that go beyond the provisions of 
the law. 

On the basis of the SCC, KF adopted an internal compliance code and introduced a compliance organisation 
headed by a compliance offi cer. In line with the SCC, the compliance code is primarily aimed at preventing the 
abuse of information, e.g. through insider trading or market manipulation. Moreover, the compliance unit is 
responsible for taking the necessary measures to prevent any violation of legal provisions or internal policies 
that might jeopardise the reputation of the company. It also ensures that the compliance code is kept up to date 
and observed throughout the Group.

The compliance offi cer acts as a point of contact for all staff members, informing them regularly about the 
rules and regulations in effect. In his capacity as anti-money-laundering offi cer, the compliance offi cer is also 
responsible for ensuring compliance with Sections 40 and 41 of the Austrian Banking Act regarding the 
“special duty of diligence in the fi ght against money laundering and the fi nancing of terrorism”.

It goes without saying that compliance with all relevant legal requirements and regulations is the basis for all 
the company’s business activities. Continuous monitoring of legislative developments keeps the company’s 
body of legal knowledge up to date.

Outlook 

Based on the new ownership structure and the resulting stabilisation of its liquidity situation, KF is well 
equipped to cope with the volatility of the current market environment.

According to the restructuring plan, KF will manage and phase out its securities and CDS portfolios, while 
making every effort to preserve their value recovery potentials. The necessary prerequisites were created in 
2009 by

• securing the company’s liquidity base,
• securing its capitalisation, and
• securing an adequate corporate framework.
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The negotiations with the European Commission are on schedule and expected to be concluded in the course 
of 2010. The merger of Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd with KF, scheduled for September 2010, will 
conclude the corporate restructuring of KF.

After completion of the merger with Kommunalkedit International Bank Ltd, KF will no longer have the status 
of a group of banks. Therefore, it will present its accounts only in conformity with the criteria of the new Aus-
trian Company Code, as provided for in the restructuring plan. The guarantee fees payable to the Republic of 
Austria are not income-dependent and will therefore be paid in full. In view of the resulting fi nancial burden, 
the company will not be able to generate a positive result and/or a net income in the foreseeable future. Thus, it 
will not be in a position to make distributions on participation and supplementary capital, as was already dis-
closed in the ad-hoc notifi cation of 17 November 2009. KF aims at maintaining a tier-1 ratio of 7%. To reach 
this target, it will require the restructuring contributions provided for in the capitalisation agreement concluded 
with the Republic of Austria on 17 November 2009 (netting against guarantee fees paid).  

Generally speaking, markets are expected to remain volatile throughout 2010. The debate on government debt 
will continue and markets will only calm down when the concern over the level of public debt eases. Apart from 
the fact that loans and securities with a volume of EUR 1.26 billion will mature, KF will make every effort – 
always depending on market conditions – to run down assets of a nominal value of up to EUR 500 million.

The Executive Board and the staff of KA will remain committed to these challenging tasks with great energy 
and dedication.

The Executive Board of KA Finanz AG

Mag. Alois Steinbichler                Mag. Andreas Fleischmann
  Chairman of the Executive Board  Member of the Executive Board

Vienna, 16 April 2010
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Consolidated fi nancial statements of the 
KA Finanz Group according to IFRS

I. Balance sheet

Assets in EUR 1.000 Note 31. 12. 2009 31. 12. 2008*)

Cash and balances with central banks (24) 559.666,7 171.113,6

Loans and advances to banks (25) 6.177.703,8 8.537.763,8

Loans and advances to customers (26) 6.535.172,5 18.157.517,5

Risk provisions (28) -230.315,9 -53.399,0

Trading assets (29) 0,0 16.419,7

Financial investments (30) 4.775.718,4 7.164.444,9

 of which holdings in associated companies 0,0 723,9

Plant and equipment (31) 5.805,4 39.765,4

Other assets (33) 3.583.577,1 3.423.021,3

 of which intangible assets 0,0 289,0

 of which tax assets 59.525,3 115.373,7

Assets 21.407.328,0 37.456.647,1

Liabilities in EUR 1.000 Note 31. 12. 2009 31. 12. 2008 *)

Amounts owed to banks (35) 9.596.640,6 14.509.895,4

Amounts owed to customers (36) 46.835,0 1.001.719,1

Securitised liabilities (38) 6.850.186,5 16.686.585,3

Trading liabilities (39) 0,0 14.903,3

Provisions (40) 1.687,9 18.496,9

Other liabilities (41) 4.816.077,2 5.887.401,6

Subordinated capital (42) 346.820,0 499.118,7

Equity (43) -250.919,2 -1.161.473,1

 of which participation capital 434.126,8 200.000,0

 of which minorities 0,0 111,3

Liabilities 21.407.328,0 37.456.647,1

*) Due to the demerger (see Note 3) the fi gures are not fully comparable.
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II. Income statement

III. Statement of comprehensive income

Comprehensive income in EUR 1.000 Note 2009 2008 *)

After-tax result for the year 434.968,1 -1.451.448,1

from revaluation of fi nancial assets available for sale (43)

 of which from valuation results 195.460,7 -354.569,1

 of which from reclassifi cation of  valuation results to profi t or loss -6.732,1 892,5

 of which demerger-related changes 32.258,6 0,0

 of which changes in scope of consolidation 0,0 239,2

 of which changes in currency reserve 0,0 -4.688,8

Other after-tax result 220.987,1 -358.126,2

Comprehensive result 655.955,1 -1.809.574,3

 of which: attributable to owners 655.936,6 -1.812.763,9

 of which: attributable to minorities 18,6 44,3

 of which: distributions on participation capital 0,0 3.145,4

Income statement in EUR 1.000 Note 2009 2008 *)

Interest and similar income 2.547.371,2 3.196.461,2

 of which distributions from affi liated companies 587,8 312,9

 of which distributions from associated companies valued at equity 365,8 -44,5

Interest and similar expenses -2.508.823,5 -3.106.466,9

Net interest income (44) 38.547,6 89.994,3

 Fee and commission income 38.019,5 41.482,0

 Fee and commission expenses -188.332,6 -20.900,2

Net fee and commission income (45) -150.313,1 20.581,8

General administrative expenses (46) -52.377,9 -42.451,6

Trading result (47) 3.328,4 625,4

Net credit risk result (48) -196.095,1 -41.407,0

Net income from fi nancial investments (49) 810.825,5 -1.328.967,3

 thereof from CDS 545.156,2 -1.087.844,9

Other operating result (50) -6.324,5 -175.526,1

Pre-tax result for the year 447.590,8 -1.477.150,6

Taxes on income (51) -12.622,7 25.702,6

After-tax result for the year 434.968,1 -1.451.448,1

 of which: attributable to owners 434.949,5 -1.454.637,7

 of which: attributable to minorities 18,6 44,3

 of which: distributions on participation capital 0,0 3.145,4

*) Due to the demerger (see Note 3) the fi gures are not fully comparable.

*) Due to the demerger (see Note 3) the fi gures are not fully comparable.
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IV. Statement of changes in equity

The development of equity according to IFRS for 2008 and 2009 is as follows:

As of 31-12-2009, equity according to IFRS is negative at TEUR -250,919.2. This is essentially due to the 
negative market value of the CDS in the amount of TEUR -605,397.3 and the negative AFS reserve in the 
amount of TEUR -192,489.5. Own funds eligible under the Austrian Banking Act amount to TEUR 862,476.3 
as of 31-1-2-2009 (31-12-2008: TEUR 784,313.5); all statutory requirements are met. The total capital ratio 
stands at 14.3%, the tier-1 ratio is 7.2 %. For details see Note 43.

 in EUR 1.000 Subscribed
capital 

Participation
capital

Capital
reserves1)

Retained 
earnings2)

Currency
reserve

AFS
reserve3)

Hedge
reserve

Surplus
for the year

Equity excl. 
minorities

Minority 
interest

Equity

as of 01.01.2008 18.530,9 207.714,6 178.104,9 195.416,3 4.688,8 -60.039,1 -65,1 -44.921,3 499.429,9 107,9 499.537,9

Capital increase 3.815,2 0,0 162.949,5 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 166.764,7 0,0 166.764,7

Distribution 0,0 -7.714,6 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -6.114,9 -13.829,5 -40,9 -13.870,4

Release of retained earnings 0,0 0,0 0,0 -51.036,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 51.036,2 0,0 0,0 0,0

After-tax surplus for the year 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.454.637,7 -1.454.637,7 44,3 -1.454.593,4

Change in hedge/AFS reserve 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -353.676,6 65,1 0,0 -353.611,5 0,0 -353.611,5

Change in scope of consolidation 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -4.688,8 239,2 0,0 0,0 -4.449,6 0,0 -4.449,6

Other changes5) 0,0 0,0 -1.250,7 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.250,7 0,0 -1.250,7

as of 01.01.2009 22.346,0 200.000,0 339.803,7 144.380,1 0,0 -413.476,6 0,0 -1.454.637,7 -1.161.584,4 111,3 -1.161.473,1

Capital increase 0,0 372.500,0 60.000,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 432.500,0 0,0 432.500,0

Distribution 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Appropriation/release retained earnings 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.454.637,7 0,0 0,0 0,0 1.454.637,7 0,0 0,0 0,0

Release 4) 0,0 0,0 -332.088,8 349.875,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 17.786,4 0,0 17.786,4

After-tax surplus for the year 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 434.949,5 434.949,5 -18,6 434.930,9

Change hedge/AFS reserve 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 188.728,5 0,0 0,0 188.728,5 0,0 188.728,5

Change in scope of consolidation 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Change due to demerger 0,0 -138.373,3 0,0 -54.393,1 0,0 32.258,6 0,0 0,0 -160.507,8 -90,4 -160.598,2

Other changes 5) 0,0 0,0 -2.793,8 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -2.793,8 0,0 -2.793,8

as of 31.12.2009 22.346,0 434.126,8 64.921,2 -1.014.775,6 0,0 -192.489,5 0,0 434.949,5 -250.921,6 2,4 -250.919,2

1) Capital reserves include TEUR 9.351,2 earmarked and TEUR 55.570,0 non-earmarked. 
2) Retained earnings include a liability reserve of TEUR 76.091,1 (31.12.2008: TEUR 76.620,1).   
3) AFS reserve as of 31.12.2009 considering deferred taxes of TEUR 41.862,2 (31.12.2008: TEUR 94.765,9).  
    TEUR -6.732,1 were carried over to income statement in the year under review (2008: TEUR 892,5) due to disposals. 
4) This position represents releases as of 30.06.2009 to offset the net loss as of 31.12.2008 and the current loss of 2009 
 according to the Austrian Banking Act in connection with the demerger.
5) Other changes represent transaction costs in connection with the issue of participation capital.
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 in EUR 1.000 Subscribed
capital 

Participation
capital

Capital
reserves1)

Retained 
earnings2)

Currency
reserve

AFS
reserve3)

Hedge
reserve

Surplus
for the year

Equity excl. 
minorities

Minority 
interest

Equity

as of 01.01.2008 18.530,9 207.714,6 178.104,9 195.416,3 4.688,8 -60.039,1 -65,1 -44.921,3 499.429,9 107,9 499.537,9

Capital increase 3.815,2 0,0 162.949,5 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 166.764,7 0,0 166.764,7

Distribution 0,0 -7.714,6 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -6.114,9 -13.829,5 -40,9 -13.870,4

Release of retained earnings 0,0 0,0 0,0 -51.036,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 51.036,2 0,0 0,0 0,0

After-tax surplus for the year 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.454.637,7 -1.454.637,7 44,3 -1.454.593,4

Change in hedge/AFS reserve 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -353.676,6 65,1 0,0 -353.611,5 0,0 -353.611,5

Change in scope of consolidation 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -4.688,8 239,2 0,0 0,0 -4.449,6 0,0 -4.449,6

Other changes5) 0,0 0,0 -1.250,7 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.250,7 0,0 -1.250,7

as of 01.01.2009 22.346,0 200.000,0 339.803,7 144.380,1 0,0 -413.476,6 0,0 -1.454.637,7 -1.161.584,4 111,3 -1.161.473,1

Capital increase 0,0 372.500,0 60.000,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 432.500,0 0,0 432.500,0

Distribution 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Appropriation/release retained earnings 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1.454.637,7 0,0 0,0 0,0 1.454.637,7 0,0 0,0 0,0

Release 4) 0,0 0,0 -332.088,8 349.875,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 17.786,4 0,0 17.786,4

After-tax surplus for the year 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 434.949,5 434.949,5 -18,6 434.930,9

Change hedge/AFS reserve 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 188.728,5 0,0 0,0 188.728,5 0,0 188.728,5

Change in scope of consolidation 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Change due to demerger 0,0 -138.373,3 0,0 -54.393,1 0,0 32.258,6 0,0 0,0 -160.507,8 -90,4 -160.598,2

Other changes 5) 0,0 0,0 -2.793,8 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -2.793,8 0,0 -2.793,8

as of 31.12.2009 22.346,0 434.126,8 64.921,2 -1.014.775,6 0,0 -192.489,5 0,0 434.949,5 -250.921,6 2,4 -250.919,2
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V. Cash fl ow statement

The cash fl ow statement shows the position and development of cash and cash equivalents of the KF Group. 
Cash holdings shown here comprise cash and balances with central banks, strictly interpreted.

in EUR 1000 2009 2008

After-tax surplus for the year 434.949,5 -1.454.637,7

Non-cash items included in surplus for the year and adjustments 
to reconcile suplus for the year to cash fl ows from operating activities

  

 Depreciation/revaluation gains on fi nancial investments -365,8 44,5

 Depreciation/revaluation gains on property and equipment and intangible assets 2.134,3 2.741,3

 Transfer to/release of reserves and risk provisions 185.437,5 53.049,5

 Profi t/loss from valuation of fi nancial assets and property and equipment -900.106,7 1.297.332,6

 Non-realised profi ts/losses from currency adjustments -3.124,7 -614,2

 Other adjustments (net) -864.146,8 -25.241,3

Changes in assets and liabilities from operating
activity after adjustment for non-cash components

 Loans and advances to banks -2.445.952,4 -1.828.548,6

 Loans and advances to customers 1.403.579,1 -4.639.210,1

 Trading assets -40.123,9 11.271,2

 Financial investments excl. held to maturity 410.216,5 2.655.146,0

 Other assets from operating activity -928.300,5 -1.590.695,5

 Amounts owed to banks -2.432.504,2 5.873.502,0

 Amounts owed to customers 329.261,3 342.034,9

 Securitised liabilities 3.757.125,1 -2.989.355,7

 Trading assets 21.232,5 5.271,9

 Other liabilities from operating activity 55.976,4 2.065.763,8

 Interest received 2.715.773,5 751.650,2

 Interest paid -1.847.322,6 -724.352,4

 Dividends received 537,8 312,9

 Taxes on income paid -4.841,8 -2.369,3

Cash fl ow from operating activity -150.565,8 -196.904,1

Proceeds from the disposal/redemption of 

 fi nancial assets held to maturity 157.218,1 194.491,8

 Property and equipment and intangible assets 26,0 17,5

Payments for the acquisition of 

 fi nancial assets held to maturity 0,0 -290,0

 Property and equipment and intangible assets -563,4 -4.660,7

 Holdings 0,0 0,0

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activity 156.680,7 189.558,6
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Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements of the 
KA Finanz Group

In these Financial Statements, the following names are used for the entities involved: 

• Kommunalkredit Austria AG prior to the demerger:   KA Old
• KA Finanz AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009
 formerly Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old):    KF
• Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG prior to the demerger:   KDB
• Kommunalkredit Austria AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009 
 formerly Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG:    KA

General principles

1. General information

KA Finanz AG (hereinafter called KF), with its registered offi ce in 1090 Vienna, Türkenstraße 9, is a specialised 
bank mandated to phase out the non-strategic business of the former Kommunalkredit Austria AG on a long-
term basis. It is registered with the Commercial Court of Vienna under Companies Register number 128283b.

KF was established in the course of a restructuring process which had to be implemented after the nationalisation 
of KA Old in the wake of the fi nancial crisis. Pursuant to Sect. 1.2.Z.2 in conjunction with Sect. 17 of the 
Demerger Act (absorption-type demerger), KA Old was split into two fi nancial institutions: KA took over the 
core business of KA Old, which comprises, in particular, municipal and infrastructure-related business. KF 
retained the other, non-strategic business (in particular the securities business, the credit default portfolio and 
the holding in Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd, Cyprus).

The purpose of business of KF is to manage and realise the non-strategic portfolio of KA Old in the best 
possible manner, minimising the input of funds of the Republic of Austria. KF is not intended to conduct any 
new business involving loans, securities or CDS sell positions, but for the purposes of active portfolio manage-
ment KF continues to engage actively in banking transactions, particularly for funding purposes and in the 
derivatives segment for interest, FX and portfolio hedging. 

in EUR 1000 2009 2008

Proceeds from capital increases 432.500,0 166.764,7

Dividend payments 0,0 -6.114,9

Changes in funds from other fi nancing activities -50.061,8 -10.343,2

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activity 382.438,2 150.306,6

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the previous period 171.113,6 28.152,5

Cash fl ow from operating activity -150.565,8 -196.904,1

Cash fl ow from investing activity 156.680,7 189.558,6

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activity 382.438,2 150.306,6

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 559.666,7 171.113,6
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In legal terms, the procedure involved a demerger of the core business of the former Kommunalkredit Austria 
AG for transfer to the subsidiary Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG and the payout of the shares to the owners 
of Kommunalkredit Austria AG. After the demerger, Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG was renamed 
Kommunal kredit Austria AG, while KA Old with its non-strategic business was renamed KA Finanz AG. The 
reporting date for the demerger in terms of commercial and tax law was 30 June 2009 pursuant to the new 
Austrian Company Code. The demerger was entered into the Companies Register on 28 November 2009. 
Thus, the demerger became legally effective in terms of civil law (and consequently for IFRS purposes).

The Republic of Austria holds 99.78% of the shares of KF, while the remaining shares are held by the Associa-
tion of Austrian Municipalities. KF is the superordinate fi nancial institution of a group of fi nancial institutions, 
as defi ned in Sect. 30 of the Austrian Banking Act. KF prepares its consolidated fi nancial statements on the 
basis of IFRS pursuant to Section 59.a of the Austrian Banking Act.

The fi nancial statements are presented in euro, as this is the functional currency of the company. Unless otherwise 
indicated, the fi gures are rounded to the nearest thousand, which may result in rounding differences in the tables.

2. Standards and interpretations applied

The Consolidated Financial Statements of KF were prepared on the basis of the International Accounting 
Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted and published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as the Interpretations by the International Financial 
Reporting Committee (IFRIC and SIC), as applicable in the European Union.

New and/or amended standards and interpretations applied in the business year 2009 and of material 
importance for KF:

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” replaces IAS 14 and requires application of the management approach to 
segment reporting. The operating segments, as reviewed by the top management level at regular intervals, are 
to be disclosed. In these fi nancial statements, KF discloses the segments according to the new requirements. 
IRS 8 has no impact on the presentation of the assets, fi nancial position and income of KF.

IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (revised 2007) introduces, inter alia, the presentation of a 
statement of comprehensive income showing all changes in equity not due to owner-related transactions. 
Application of these changes only affected the presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements of KF.

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (revised 2009) is intended to improve the disclosures regarding 
fi nancial instruments. The revised rules provide for extended disclosures on fi nancial instruments measured at 
fair value on the basis of a three-level fair-value hierarchy, which refl ects the types of input parameters used in 
the methods of measurement. Moreover, the qualitative and quantitative disclosures on liquidity risks were 
changed. These changes – except for the additional and/or amended disclosures required – have no impact on 
the consolidated fi nancial statements of KF. No comparative fi gures are to be indicated for the fi rst year.

Other amendments of standards (in particular IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” - revised 2007, IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations” – revised 2008, IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payment” – revised 2008, IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: 
Presentation” – revised 2008) and new interpretations (IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes”, IFRIC 15 
“Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”, IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Opera-
tion”) have no effects on the consolidated fi nancial statements of KF.

The following standards and/or amendments to standards were adopted by the IASB and taken over by the EU, 
but their application is not yet mandatory for the business year 2009; they were not yet applied by KF on a 
voluntary basis, but will presumably have a material effect on the consolidated fi nancial statements of KF 
when fi rst applied: 
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IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” were amended 
in January 2009. The amendments are effective for business combinations established on or after 1 July 2009. 
In substantive terms, the rules for application of the acquisition method have been further developed and modi-
fi ed and/or specifi ed with regard to non-controlling interests as well as changes of non-controlling interests. 
Material effects of these amendments will only occur with future business combinations of KF. 

3. Restructuring / Demerger of Kommunalkredit Austria AG

The 2009 demerger of the strategic business of Kommunalkredit Austria AG and its transfer to the subsidiary 
KDB is a so-called “common control transaction” according to IFRS 3, as all the parties involved (KA Old and 
Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG) were controlled by the same owner prior to the demerger (Republic of 
Austria, Association of Austrian Municipalities). Such transactions are explicitly excluded from IFRS 3 and 
are not covered by IFRS rules. IFRIC 17 “Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners”, even if it were al-
ready applicable in the business year 2009, does not apply either, given the fact that the company is controlled 
by the Republic of Austria. KF therefore has to apply an accounting policy that results in relevant and reliable 
information. Disposals resulting from the demerger correspond to equivalent additions to KA.  

The effects of the demerger on the balance sheet of KF are as follows:

Restatement of the previous year’s fi gures is not required according to IAS 1.38f.

Assets in EUR 1.000 Demerger-related disposals
28.11.2009

Cash and balances with central banks -241,6

Loans and advances to banks -5.674.109,7

Loans and advances to customers -10.218.765,9

Risk provisions 778,7

Trading assets -36.030,5

Financial investments -2.038.637,3

 of which investments in associated companies -1.089,7

Property and equipment -38.494,5

Other assets -788.257,8

Assets -18.793.758,6

Liabilities in EUR 1.000 Demerger-related disposals
28.11.2009

Amounts owed to banks -2.480.750,6

Amounts owed to customers -1.284.145,4

Securitised liabilities -13.593.523,9

Trading liabilities -15.622,7

Provisions -9.067,1

Other liabilities -1.147.813,9

Subordinated capital -102.236,9

Equity -160.598,2

 of which participation capital -138.373,3

 of which minorities -90,4

Liabilities -18.793.758,6
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4. Recapitalisation / Debtor warrant

KF was recapitalised through the following interrelated measures:

• Waiver by KA of its claim to repayment of money market deposits in the amount of EUR 1 billion against KF.
• Debtor warrant granted by KF to KA, guaranteeing payments to be made to KA from KF’s future annual 

surpluses in the amount of the debt waived, plus interest of 4.3%. Payments to be made under the debtor 
warrant are senior to claims to coupon payment on the supplementary and participation capital of KF, but 
junior to interest claims of the borrowers of KA (including subordinate borrowers).

• Waiver by KF of its rights under the surety given by the Republic of Austria as of 31-12-2009 for certain 
assets up to a maximum of EUR 1,207.9 million.

Considering the recovery in value of the assets guaranteed by TEUR 291,333.4, the expiry of the surety had 
the following effects on the balance sheet and the income statement of KF:

Balance sheet

Income statement

KA’s waiver of its money market deposit claim results in a non-recurrent income of TEUR 1,000,000.0 and is 
recognised in the net income from fi nancial investments.

According to IAS 37.14.c, no provisions are set up for obligations arising under the debtor warrant, given the 
fact that these payments are indeterminate in both time and amount.

Assets in EUR Mio. Expiry of
surety

Value recovery Effect
2009

Loans and advances to banks -482.644,0 20.154,6 -462.489,4

Loans and advances to customers -156.578,0 85.410,1 -71.168,0

Risk provisions -311.262,4 143.087,7 -168.174,6

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported -185.775,6 139.131,6 -46.644,0

Financial investments -160.401,8 50.399,3 -110.002,5

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported -14.964,4 7.658,4 -7.306,0

Other assets -97.000,0 2.356,5 -94.643,5

Liabilities in EUR Mio. Expiry of
surety

Value recovery Effect
2009

Other liabilities 0,0 10.074,8 -10.074,8

Equity -1.207.886,2 291.333,4 -916.552,8

Income statement in EUR Mio. Expiry of
surety

Value recovery Effect
2009

Net credit risk provisions -338.775,6 143.488,1 -195.287,5

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported -185.775,6 139.131,6 -46.644,0

Net result of fi nancial investments -869.110,6 147.845,3 -721.265,3

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported -14.964,4 7.658,4 -7.306,0

Consolidated result for the year -1.207.886,2 291.333,4 -916.552,8

38



5. Scope of consolidation and other holdings

The consolidated companies and other holdings of the KF Group include, besides Kommunalkredit as the parent 
company, the following companies as of 31 December 2009:

Compared with the previous year, the following entities are no longer within the scope of consolidation as a 
result of the demerger:

Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG, Vienna
Kommunalkredit Beteiligungs- und Immobilien GmbH, Vienna
Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH, Vienna
Kommunalkredit Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH, Vienna
TrendMind IT Dienstleistung GmbH, Vienna
Kommunalkredit Leasing s.r.o., Prague
OOO Kommunalkredit Public Consulting Russia, Moscow (winding up)
Kommunalleasing GmbH, Vienna (winding up)
Kommunalnet E-Government Solutions GmbH, Vienna
Kommunalkredit Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH & Co OEG, Vienna

The effects are described in Note 3.

Name and registered offi ce Holding Information on the fi nancial statement

direct indirect Extent of
investment 

in %

Last fi nancial 
statements

total assets
sum

in EUR 1.000

Equity

in EUR 1.000

Surplus for 
the year 

in EUR 1.000

1. Affi liated companies

1.1. Fully consolidated affi liated companies

  Kommunalkredit 
  International Bank 
  Limited, Limassol/CY

x 100,00 % 31.12.2009 8.973.256,2 -622.712,0 -246.110,8

   Kommunalkredit Capital I 
  Limited, St. Helier 
  (Island of Jersey)*)

x 100,00 % 31.12.2009 80.000,0 0,0 0,0

  KIB Properties Ltd. 
  Limassol/Zypern

x 100,00 % 31.12.2009 2.310,8 126,6 104,4

1.2. Affi liated companies included at amortised cost

  Kommunalkredit Dexia Asset 
  Management AG, Wien**)

x 51,00 % 31.12.2009 1.734,9 1.566,7 59,6

2. Other holdings

2.1. Other holdings included at cost

  ARZ-Volksbanken Holding  
  GmbH, Wien

x 0,03 % immaterial

  Einlagensicherung der 
  Banken und Bankiers 
  Gesellschaft mbH, Wien

x 0,10 % immaterial

*) preliminary unaudited fi gures.
**) company is being wound up; immaterial and therefore not consolidated 
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Accounting and valuation principles

6. General accounting and valuation principles

The consolidated fi nancial statements of KF have been prepared on a going concern basis. The fi nancial 
information in the consolidated fi nancial statements contains the data of the parent company together with its 
subsidiaries, presented as one economic entity.

Thus, the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the KF Group according to 
IFRS rules. 

Acquisitions and disposals of fi nancial assets are recognised on the day of trading. 

7. Consolidation principles

All essential direct and indirect holdings controlled by KF are fully consolidated.

The consolidation actions taken include capital consolidation, debt consolidation, the consolidation of expenses 
and income and the elimination of intra-Group results. The fully consolidated companies all present their 
annual fi nancial statements as of 31 December.

Within the framework of capital consolidation, all material and immaterial identifi able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the holding are re-valued at the time of acquisition. The acquisition costs are offset 
against the pro-rata net assets of the holding at the time of transfer of ownership. Any remaining positive 
difference is recognised as goodwill. Intra-Group receivables, liabilities, expenses and income as well as 
intra-Group results are eliminated, unless they are of minor signifi cance.

Companies on which KF has a material infl uence (associates) are accounted for under the equity method and 
recognised under fi nancial investments in companies accounted for at equity. Under the equity method the 
shares held in associates are recognised at acquisition cost, plus any post-acquisition changes in the shares 
held by the Group in the net assets of the associate. For this purpose, the most recent fi nancial statements of 
the associates are used as a basis. The pro-rata results (excluding dividends distributed) are recognised – pro 
rata temporis up to the reporting date of the demerger – in the income statement under interest and similar 
income (investments in associates). 

 8. Currency conversion

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted at the rate notifi ed by the European Central Bank as 
of the balance sheet date; forward exchange deals are converted at forward rates.

9. Loans and advances

Loans and advances to banks and to customers are recognised under loans and securities.

Loans are either classifi ed as loans and receivables and entered at amortised cost or designated at fair value 
through profi t or loss (fair-value option, available for sale) and measured at their fair value.

Securities not quoted in an active market are recognised in the loans and receivables category and measured at 
amortised cost, unless the fair-value option is applied. Moreover, this item also includes non-listed securities 
allocated to the held-to-maturity portfolio, the available-for-sale (AFS) portfolio or the fair-value portfolio. 
While the former are measured at amortised cost, available-for-sale and fair-value securities are measured at 
their fair values, with valuation changes of AFS securities being recognised in equity and FV securities carried 
through profi t or loss and recognised under fi nancial investments.
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Application of the fair-value option is based on the fact that these assets are managed, measured and reported 
on a fair-value basis. 

10. Risk provisions

Risk provisions for loans and advances comprise impairment losses (for on-balance-sheet lending business) 
and provisions (for off-balance-sheet lending business) for all recognisable credit risks.

A multi-level risk control process is used to identify and manage increased credit risks; all exposures are 
classifi ed according to four risk levels.

  Level 0 Standard risk level, no increased credit risk
  Level 1 Slightly increased credit risk or negative rating development  
  Level 2 Problem exposures (payment arrears, impairment) except for work-out cases in which 

  default according to Basel II has occurred
  Level 3 Default according to Basel II

Specifi c impairment allowances are made on the basis of a clearly defi ned catalogue of criteria if circumstances 
have occurred which indicate that a claim will not be fully recoverable. For risk levels 1 and higher, the need 
for impairment allowances is reviewed at monthly intervals. 

In addition, a risk provision is set up for “losses incurred but not reported“. For this purpose, the fi nancial 
assets are broken down into comparable groups by risk profi le. On the basis of empirical values regarding 
defaults in these groups, which are adjusted to the current economic situation through expert estimates, the 
provisioning requirement is determined for the loss identifi cation period (LIP) concerned.

11. Trading assets

This item comprises securities, derivatives and other fi nancial instruments acquired for trading purposes. Trading 
assets are entered at their fair value as of the balance-sheet date and pass through profi t or loss. All results under 
this item are shown in the net trading result. 

12. Financial investments

Items shown under fi nancial investments comprise all listed fi xed-income and variable-income securities 
carried on the trading book, investments in affi liated companies not fully consolidated, associates and other 
holdings as well as investment property. For measurement purposes, they are classifi ed as follows:

Financial instruments of the held-to-maturity portfolio are measured at amortised cost. Fixed-income and 
determinable-income securities with fi xed maturities are shown under this category, if KF has the intention 
and the ability to hold them to maturity. If the cost differs from the repayment amount, the difference is reco-
gnised pro-rata temporis in net interest income. If the debtor’s rating is deteriorating and leads to an impair-
ment, the item is written off to the extent necessary (see risk provisions).

Financial instruments of the available-for-sale category are measured at their fair value. Changes in the value 
of these portfolios are shown under other comprehensive income and in the available-for-sale reserve (AFS 
reserve) within equity. If the impairment test to be performed regularly indicates an impairment, all previous 
valuation losses are reclassifi ed from the AFS reserve to the net result of fi nancial investments. Further changes 
in the fair value immediately pass through profi t or loss (up to the amount of amortised cost). Any value recovery 
of an equity instrument is recognised in the AFS reserve. If the asset is sold or otherwise derecognised, an 
amount previously included in the AFS reserve will pass through profi t or loss.
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KF applies the fair-value option to assets managed, measured and reported to the executive level on a fair-value 
basis. They are measured at their fair value. Effects on income are shown under the net result of fi nancial 
investments. 

Material associates are accounted for under the equity method. Investments in affi liated companies not fully 
consolidated as well as other investments are measured at cost. Their asset quality is reviewed as of every 
reporting date.

13. Derivatives

Depending on their category, derivatives are subject to different accounting treatment:

1. Derivatives not used for hedging purposes are reported under trading assets or trading liabilities, if 
they are held for trading (no such portfolio as of 31-12-2009), or shown under other assets or other 
liabilities. Changes in the dirty price are recognised in the trading result for derivatives held for trading 
and in the result of fi nancial investments for all other derivatives. Most of the derivatives not held for 
hedging purposes are credit default swaps (CDS).

2. Derivatives intended to protect the fair value of an asset (micro fair-value hedges) are shown at their 
fair value (dirty price) under other assets or other liabilities. Changes in the fair value of the items to 
be hedged are recognised in the Income Statement under the net income from investments.  

3. Derivatives intended to hedge against the market price risks of a portfolio (macro fair-value hedges) 
are also recognised at their dirty prices under other assets or other liabilities. Changes in the clean 
prices of these assets are shown in the net income from fi nancial investments, whereas interest income 
and expenses are shown in net interest income. Since the bank uses derivatives to control the interest-
rate risk at Group level, this part of the result may be volatile due to time differences.

14.  Determination of the fair value

The method applied to determine the fair value depends on a number of conditions (existence of an active 
market, availability of prices, suffi cient liquidity of the security, etc.). A distinction is made between the mark-
to-market method (based on market prices if an active market exists) and the mark-to-model method (model-
based valuation).

As a matter of principle, mark-to-market is to be given preference over mark-to-model, provided the condi-
tions of an active market are fulfi lled.

If no prices are quoted, known “near-real-time” transactions (OTC) can be used to determine a market-oriented 
price, provided the counterparties are knowledgeable, willing to enter into a contract (no defensive price) and 
independent (no fi ctional transaction). These valuations must be subjected to a plausibility test. For details 
regarding the fair-value hierarchy, see Note 54.

In a small number of exceptional cases, indicative prices of counterparties or security prices derived from 
benchmark prices are used in non-active markets. The passive securities portfolio is measured by means of the 
discounted cash fl ow method (calculation of net present value) as of the measurement date. Embedded 
optional and other non-linear components are measured by means of the usual mathematical models. 
Instrument-specifi c risk premiums are always taken into consideration, their adequacy being reviewed on a 
monthly basis and adjusted, if necessary.

Loans and advances allocated to the fair-value portfolio are measured by means of a valuation model based on 
the net present value method. The future cash fl ows are discounted on the basis of current yield curves, consid-
ering market-based credit spreads. No other discounts are made.
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Swaps are also measured by means of a valuation model based on the discounted cash-fl ow method, with due 
consideration given to current yield curves. Current yield curves and credit spreads are considered in the 
measure ment of credit default swaps (CDS) 

As a matter of principle, options are valued at current stock-exchange prices. If such prices are not available, 
options and/or option components are valued by means of suitable option valuation models.

15. Hedge accounting

IAS 39 contains special provisions on hedge accounting, which are intended to prevent economically unjusti-
fi ed effects on the income statement due to different valuations of hedged underlying transactions and hedging 
instruments. The purpose of the hedge accounting rules is to recognise value changes of hedging instruments 
and the transactions hedged as mutually offsetting. In order to apply the hedge accounting rules, it is necessary 
to provide evidence of an effective hedging relation between the underlying transaction and the hedging trans-
action. A hedging relation is considered effective if the results of the hedging instrument and the results of the 
hedged underlying transaction – relative to the risk hedged – offset each other within a range of 80% to 125%. 
KF verifi es compliance with these conditions through prospective (cross-checking of the components deter-
mining the market value) and retrospective effi ciency tests.

The fair-value hedge applied by KF serves to hedge the fair value of assets or liabilities. This type of hedge 
accounting is used to convert fi xed-income or structured transactions into money-marked-based transactions. 
The hedging instruments used most frequently are interest rate swaps and interest-rate cross-currency swaps. 
The derivative used as a hedging instrument is entered at its fair value, with valuation changes recognised in 
the income statement. For the hedged asset or liability the changes in fair value resulting from the hedged risk 
are also recognised and shown in the income statement.

16. Classes of fi nancial instruments

In accordance with the requirement to group fi nancial instruments into classes of similar fi nancial instruments 
within the framework of the Notes to the Financial Statements (IFRS 7.6), KF distinguishes the following 
classes of fi nancial instruments:

• Cash and balances with central banks
• Financial assets:

 loans and receivables
 held-to-maturity

• At fair value through profi t or loss (fair-value option, held-for-trading)
 available-for-sale

• Financial liabilities:
 at amortised cost

• At fair value through profi t or loss (fair-value option, held-for-trading)
• Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
• Financial guarantees
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17. Property and equipment

Property and equipment comprises land and buildings for the company’s own use as well as offi ce furniture 
and equipment. 

Land and buildings as well as offi ce furniture and equipment are entered at acquisition cost less planned 
straight-line depreciation. The assumed projected periods of use are:

• Buildings: 30 to 45 years
• Offi ce furniture and equipment: 4 to 10 years
• IT investments: 3 to 4 years

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement under general administrative expenses.

Minor-value assets up to single-item acquisition costs of EUR 400.00 are written off in the year of purchase. 

18. Intangible assets

Intangible assets exclusively comprise software purchases. Software is written off by the straight-line method 
over 3 or 4 years.

19. Liabilities

Upon initial recognition, liabilities are entered at their fair value. Subsequent measurements are based on am-
ortised cost. Liabilities allocated to the fair-value option are entered at their fair value. Premiums and discounts 
are spread over the term of the debt.

20. Provisions

As all employees of KA Old were transferred to KDB at the time of the demerger, all personnel provisions 
were spun off as well. As of 31-12-2009, KF has no employees of its own and, consequently, shows no personnel 
provisions.

Other provisions are set up in the amounts corresponding to the projected use.

21. Current and deferred taxes

Taxes on income are accounted for and calculated in accordance with IAS 12. Current income-tax assets and 
liabilities are valued according to current tax rates. Tax claims are shown under tax assets, and tax payable 
under tax liabilities. For the calculation of deferred taxes all temporary differences in amount are taken into 
consideration. Under this concept, the values of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are compared with 
the values relevant for taxation of the consolidated company in question. Temporary differences between these 
values lead to differences in value, for which deferred tax items must be formed on the assets or liabilities side 
– irrespective of the time of their release. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if they exist 
for each company against the same tax creditor.

Unused tax losses carried forward are recognised as tax assets, if they are expected to be used up in the future. 
The potential for tax losses carried forward to be used up is reviewed annually on the basis of the bank’s tax 
budgeting process.
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22.  Derecognition of fi nancial assets and liabilities

A fi nancial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset expire or when 
the Group has transferred the rights to receive such cash fl ows on the fi nancial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the rights and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial asset are transferred. A fi nancial asset is 
derecognised when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or when a fi nancial liability is 
replaced by a liability against the same lender under signifi cantly different contractual conditions.

23.  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of fi nancial statements according to IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions regarding certain categories of assets and liabilities. Areas in which such estimates 
and judgements are required include, in particular, the determination of the fair value of fi nancial assets and 
liabilities, write-downs for credit defaults, the impairment of assets, the recognition and valuation of deferred 
taxes and the valuation of provisions. 

These judgements and assumptions infl uence the carrying values of assets and liabilities, contingent claims 
and contingent liabilities as of the balance-sheet date, and of income and expenses in the reporting period. 
Actual results may differ from management estimates.
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Notes to the balance sheet of the KA Finanz Group

Due to the demerger, the comparative values of the previous year are not fully comparable with the values as 
of 31-12-2009. The effects of the demerger are outlined in Note 3.

24. Cash and balances with central banks

25.  Loans and advances to banks

This item includes loans and securities serving as underlyings in micro hedges in the amount of TEUR 
401,450.2 (31-12-2008: TEUR 695,118.8). According to IAS measurement rules, the portfolios are broken 
down as follows:

These loans and advances include subordinated items in the amount of TEUR 28,301.0 (31-12-2008: TEUR 
31,905.8).

The loans and receivables category comprises securities with a book value of TEUR 2,177,632.1 (31-12-2008: 
TEUR 2,419,595.6) and loans with a book value of TEUR 1,081,409.8 (31-12-2008: TEUR 1,822,792.2). 
Securities with a book value of TEUR 424,665.5 are credit-linked notes. The remaining assets included under 
this item are mostly short-term inter-bank transactions. The book values of the fair-value portfolio are 
non-listed securities in the amount of TEUR 285,570.1 (31-12-2008: TEUR 455,399.6) and loans in the 
amount of TEUR 0.0 (31-12-2008: TEUR 6,955.8).

26. Loans and advances to customers

This item includes micro-hedged loans and securities serving as underlyings in micro hedges in the amount of 
TEUR 3,357,327.6 (31-12-2008: TEUR 6,997,150.8).

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Cash 2,4 7,9

Balances with central banks 559.664,3 171.105,7

Total 559.666,7 171.113,6

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Repayable on demand 0,0 314,2

Other 6.535.172,5 18.157.203,2

Total 6.535.172,5 18.157.517,5

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Held to maturity 18.366,5 18.787,8

Loans and receivables 5.834.096,6 8.011.720,9

Fair value through profi t or loss (fair-value option) 285.570,1 462.355,4

Available for sale 39.670,6 44.899,7

Total 6.177.703,8 8.537.763,8
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According to IAS measurement criteria, the portfolios are broken down as follows:

The loans and receivables category includes securities with a book value of TEUR 3,764,206.6 (31-12-2008: 
TEUR 4,595,874.7) and loans with a book value of TEUR 1,621,964.6 (31-12-2008: TEUR 9,169,388.0). 
The book values of loans and advances to customers in the fair-value portfolio comprise loans of TEUR 0.0 
(31-12-2008: TEUR 2,831,107.2) and non-listed securities of TEUR 967,089.3 (31-12-2008 TEUR 1,245,075.5).

27. Loans and advances to affi liated companies and companies in which an equity investment is held

Loans and advances shown under Notes 25, 26 and 33 do not include any loans and advances to affi liated 
companies (31-12-2008: TEUR 50.1) and companies in which an equity investment is held (31-12-2008: 
TEUR 166,363.6).

28. Risk provisions 

Risk provisions exclusively comprise impairments according to IAS 39.

Additions to risk provisions exclusively concern loans and/or securities of the loans and receivables portfolio. 
The increase of additions, compared with the previous year, essentially results from the expiry of the surety 
given by the Republic of Austria; provisions had to be set up for items previously covered by the surety.

Additions to and releases of risk provisions are broken down as follows under the net credit risk result and the 
net income from fi nancial investments:

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Held to maturity 115.285,4 222.235,1

Loans and receivables 5.381.478,1 13.765.577,0

Fair value through profi t or loss (fair-value option) 967.089,3 4.076.182,7

Available for sale 71.319,7 93.522,7

Total 6.535.172,5 18.157.517,5

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

as of 1.1. 53.399,0 1.652,5

Additions

Addition to risk provisions 199.088,9 52.408,0

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported 46.644,0 0,00

 of which from expiry of surety 121.530,6 0,00

Releases

Earmarked use 0,00 -340,1

Release to risk provisions -21.393,4 -321,2

Changes due to demerger -778,6 0,00

as of 31.12. 230.315,9 53.399,0

in EUR 1.000 Total Net credit risk 
result

Result of fi nancial 
investments

Allocation to risk provisions 199.088,9 107.388,3 91.700,7

Release of risk provisions -21.393,4 -10.275,8 -11.117,6

Total 177.695,5 97.112,5 80.583,1
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29. Trading assets

The trading portfolio was spun off to KA.

30. Financial investments

This item comprises securities serving as underlyings in micro hedges in the amount of TEUR 1,181,557.6 
(31-12-2008: TEUR 1,586,897.6).

In accordance with IAS 39.50E, fi nancial assets were reclassifi ed from the available-for-sale category to loans 
and receivables in 2008. The reclassifi cation of interest-bearing securities was made due to the absence of an 
active market and based on the company’s intention to hold the securities for the foreseeable future or until 
maturity. A total amount of TEUR 3,958,468.7 was thus reclassifi ed.

As of 31-12-2009, the book values and fair values of the reclassifi ed securities amounted to TEUR 3,863,103.5 
and TEUR 3,760,222.9, respectively (31-12-2008: 4,400,931.2 and 3,901,277.7, respectively).

If these assets had not been reclassifi ed, a change in the available-for-sale reserve in the amount of 
TEUR 337,558.5 (31-12-2008: TEUR 281,350.7) would have had to be reported in 2009.

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities

Exchange-listed bonds and similar instruments 4.772.222,6 7.088.785,5

 of which held to maturity 650.815,9 1.262.821,0

 of which fair value through profi t or loss 1.956.519,1 3.114.684,0

 of which available for sale 2.164.887,6 2.711.280,6

Other variable-yield securities

Exchange-listed investment certifi cates 2.707,6 67.593,7

Shares in non-consolidated affi liated companies 765,0 1.057,3

Shares in companies valued at equity 0,00 723,9

Investment property 0,00 6.244,2

Other holdings 23,1 40,2

Total 4.775.718,4 7.164.444,9

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities 0,0 1.515,2

 of which own exchange-listed bonds 0,0 1.515,2

Positive fair values from derivative fi nancial instruments 0,0 14.902,9

Other trading assets 0,0 1,6

Total 0,0 16.419,7
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31. Property and equipment

The development and composition of property and equipment is presented in Note 32 (Schedule of Fixed 
Asset Transactions). The balance-sheet value of land and buildings used by the Group includes a land value of 
TEUR 0.0 (31-12-2008: TEUR 3,961.1).

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Land and buildings 5.541,9 36.323,5

Offi ce furniture and equipment 263,5 3.441,9

Total 5.805,4 39.765,4
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32. Schedule of Fixed Asset Transactions

The Schedule of Fixed Asset Transactions shows the development and composition of intangible non-current 
assets as well as property and equipment.

The Schedule of Fixed Asset Transactions as of 31-12-2009, compared with the previous year, shows the 
following:

33. Other assets

Other assets include the following material items: amounts receivable from Kommunalkredit Austria AG, 
mostly resulting from the demerger, in the amount of TEUR 48,840.8 (31-12-2008: TEUR 0.0) as well as 
amounts receivable from tax accounting in the amount of TEUR 1,955.3 (31-12-2008: TEUR 3,443.8). 
Receivables from deferred taxes show future tax credits arising out of temporary differences between valua-
tion according to IFRS and amounts from the calculation of the Group company’s taxable net income. The 
breakdown and explanation of deferred taxes in contained in Note 0. The development of intangible assets is 
shown in Note 32 (Schedule of Fixed Asset Transactions).

Property and equipment 2009 At cost

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2009

disposal from 
demerger *) Additions Disposals Reclassifi cations

as of
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation

Book value
31.12.2009

Depreciation 
2009

Book value
31.12.2008

Property and equipment 50.059,3 -43.181,8 533,3 -392,4 0,0 7.018,5 -1.213,1 5.805,4 -1.951,3 39.765,4

Land and buildings 42.966,8 -36.823,5 232,6 0,0 34,7 6.410,6 -868,8 5.541,9 -1.176,5 36.323,5

Offi ce furniture and equipment 7.092,6 -6.358,3 300,7 -392,4 -34,7 607,9 -344,3 263,5 -774,8 3.441,9

Facilities under construction 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Intangible assets -2.693,1 30,0 -1.151,1 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -183,0 289,0

Total -45.874,9 563,4 -1.543,5 0,0 7.018,5 -1.213,1 5.805,4 -2.134,3 40.054,3

Property and equipment 2008 At cost

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2008

disposal from 
demerger Additions Disposals Reclassifi cations

as of
31.12.2008

Accumulated 
depreciation

Book value
31.12.2008

Depreciation 
2008

Book value
31.12.2007

Property and equipment 47.190,1 0,0 4.436,9 -1.567,6 0,0 50.059,3 -10.294,0 39.765,4 -2.491,8 38.389,2

Land and buildings 38.899,2 0,0 3.300,2 0,0 767,3 42.966,8 -6.643,3 36.323,5 -1.310,0 33.634,7

Offi ce furniture and equipment 7.523,6 0,0 1.136,6 -1.567,6 0,0 7.092,6 -3.650,7 3.441,9 -1.181,8 3.987,1

Facilities under construction 767,3 0,0 0,0 0,0 -767,3 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 767,3

Intangible assets 0,0 223,8 -402,4 0,0 3.814,2 -3.525,2 289,0 -249,5 314,6

Total 0,0 4.660,7 -1.970,0 0,0 53.873,5 -13.819,2 40.054,3 -2.741,3 38.703,8

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Positive fair values from derivatives 3.462.171,6 3.285.633,5

Other assets 59.756,1 21.312,5

Deferred tax assets 59.525,3 115.373,7

Deferred items 2.124,1 412,7

Intangible assets 0,0 289,0

Total 3.583.577,1 3.423.021,3

*) The corresponding book values amount to a total of TEUR 38,494.5.
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Property and equipment 2009 At cost

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2009

disposal from 
demerger *) Additions Disposals Reclassifi cations

as of
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation

Book value
31.12.2009

Depreciation 
2009

Book value
31.12.2008

Property and equipment 50.059,3 -43.181,8 533,3 -392,4 0,0 7.018,5 -1.213,1 5.805,4 -1.951,3 39.765,4

Land and buildings 42.966,8 -36.823,5 232,6 0,0 34,7 6.410,6 -868,8 5.541,9 -1.176,5 36.323,5

Offi ce furniture and equipment 7.092,6 -6.358,3 300,7 -392,4 -34,7 607,9 -344,3 263,5 -774,8 3.441,9

Facilities under construction 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Intangible assets -2.693,1 30,0 -1.151,1 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -183,0 289,0

Total -45.874,9 563,4 -1.543,5 0,0 7.018,5 -1.213,1 5.805,4 -2.134,3 40.054,3

Property and equipment 2008 At cost

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2008

disposal from 
demerger Additions Disposals Reclassifi cations

as of
31.12.2008

Accumulated 
depreciation

Book value
31.12.2008

Depreciation 
2008

Book value
31.12.2007

Property and equipment 47.190,1 0,0 4.436,9 -1.567,6 0,0 50.059,3 -10.294,0 39.765,4 -2.491,8 38.389,2

Land and buildings 38.899,2 0,0 3.300,2 0,0 767,3 42.966,8 -6.643,3 36.323,5 -1.310,0 33.634,7

Offi ce furniture and equipment 7.523,6 0,0 1.136,6 -1.567,6 0,0 7.092,6 -3.650,7 3.441,9 -1.181,8 3.987,1

Facilities under construction 767,3 0,0 0,0 0,0 -767,3 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 767,3

Intangible assets 0,0 223,8 -402,4 0,0 3.814,2 -3.525,2 289,0 -249,5 314,6

Total 0,0 4.660,7 -1.970,0 0,0 53.873,5 -13.819,2 40.054,3 -2.741,3 38.703,8
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34. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include taxes arising out of temporary differences between valuation accord-
ing to IFRS and amounts from the calculation of the Group company’s taxable net income. The origin and 
development of deferred taxes is shown in the following table: 

The resulting deferred tax assets are shown under other assets (see Note 0). All tax losses carried forward were 
carried over to KA in the course of the demerger.

35.  Amounts owed to banks

36.  Amounts owed to customers

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Loans and advances to banks 0,0 4.651,8 -20.792,4 0,0

Loans and advances to customers 0,0 0,0 -32.092,7 -268.016,0

Financial investments 23.428,9 33.551,5 0,0 0,0

Provisions for personnel expenses 0,0 296,8 0,0 0,0

Amounts owed to banks 0,0 877,0 0,0 0,0

Amounts owed to customers 0,0 0,0 -6.843,3 -7.208,8

Securitised liabilities 4.628,6 0,0 0,0 -5.207,3

Other assets / liabilities 97.868,8 362.824,0 0,0 0,0

Subordinated capital 0,0 0,0 -6.672,5 -6.409,0

Tax losses carried forward 0,0 13,6 0,0 0,0

Total 125.926,3 402.214,8 -66.401,0 -286.841,0

Balance 59.525,3 115.373,7

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Repayable on demand 37.959,8 11.598,6

Other 9.558.680,8 14.498.296,8

Total 9.596.640,6 14.509.895,4

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Repayable on demand 2.532,6 10.186,5

Other 44.302,5 991.532,6

Total 46.835,0 1.001.719,1
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37. Amounts owed to affi liated companies and holdings

The amounts shown under Notes 35 and 36 and/or 41 comprise the following amounts owed to affi liated 
companies and holdings:

38. Securitised liabilities

As in the previous year, there were no securitised liabilities allocated to the fair-value portfolio in 2009. 
In 2010 bonds issued in the amount of 1,112,243.6 (2009: TEUR 3,972,933.5) will fall due.

39. Trading liabilities

The trading portfolio was spun off to KA.

40. Provisions

Provisions developed as follows:

In the course of the demerger, all employment contracts were transferred to Kommunalkredit Austria AG. The 
corresponding provisions for personnel were also spun off to KA..

Affi liated companies Companies in which an 
equity investment is held

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Amounts owed to banks 0,00 0,00 0,00 41.300,0

Amounts owed to customers 1.431,7 1.426,4 0,00 433,5

Other liabilities 0,00 0,00 0,00 17.060,9

Total 1.431,7 1.426,4 0,00 58.794,4

of which listed

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Bonds issued 6.850.186,5 16.263.636,7 6.012.720,0 12.700.822,2

Other securitised liabilities 0,0 422.948,6 0,0 169.087,7

Total 6.850.186,5 16.686.585,3 6.012.720,0 12.869.909,9

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Negative fair values arising from derivative fi nancial instruments 0,0 14.903,3

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Provisions for personnel expenses 0,0 7.177,5

Other provisions 1.687,9 11.319,3

Total 1.687,9 18.496,9
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Prior to the demerger, provisions for personnel developed as follows:

41. Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise deferred expenses to the Republic of Austria in connection with guaranteed issues in 
the amount of TEUR 14,321.9. Moreover, the item comprises liabilities of TEUR 8,686.1 for the guarantee 
assumed by the Republic of Austria on the basis of the debtor warrant structure. 

in EUR 1.000  Pension  Provisions for
severance

 Jubilee bonus Total

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligation – 
DBO as of 1.1.2009

6.648,6 2.239,5 224,4 9.112,5

– plan asserts -1.934,9 0,00 0,00 -1.934,9

Provisions as of 1.1.2009 4.713,6 2.239,5 224,4 7.177,6

Current service cost 32,4 83,9 4,8

Interest cost 174,5 54,8 5,6

Amortization of actuarial gain from DBO 121,9 -192,0 14,5

Payments -206,6 -36,8 0,00

Other changes 161,3 0,00 0,00

Changes in plan assets -389,5 0,00 0,00

Actuarial result 283,4 -90,1 24,8

Spin-off DBO due to demerger -6.932,0 -2.149,5 -249,2

Spin-off plan assets due to demerge 2.324,4 0,00 0,00

DBO as of 31.12.2009 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

– plan assets 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Actuarial provision requirement as of 31-12-2009 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Negative fair values from derivatives 4.783.368,8 5.855.035,1

Deferred items 5.739,4 7.984,6

Other liabilities 26.968,9 24.381,9

Total 4.816.077,2 5.887.401,6
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42. Subordinated capital

Subordinated liabilities are broken down as follows:

Expenses related to all subordinated liabilities in the fi nancial year amounted to TEUR -13,242.8 (2008: 
TEUR -21,239.3). Claims of creditors to the repayment of these liabilities are subordinated in relation to other 
creditors and, in the event of bankruptcy or liquidation, may be paid back only after all non-subordinated 
creditors have been satisfi ed.

Due to the negative result for the year according to the Austrian Banking Act after appropriations to reserves, 
distributions and/or coupon payments on income-dependent issues for 2009 will not be made in 2010. 

The book values of subordinated liabilities in the fair-value portfolio amount to TEUR 40,550.9 (31-12-2008: 
TEUR 41,597.6). 

ISIN Interest rate Currency Nominal value 
in EUR 1.000

Carrying value 
in EUR 1.000

AT0000329768 6,250 % EUR 4.360,4 4.578,4

AT0000329941 5,500 % EUR 10.900,9 12.165,4

XS0140045302 6,080 % EUR 19.500,0 13.275,2

XS0144772927 6,460 % EUR 5.000,0 3.158,3

XS0185015541 5,430 % EUR 20.000,0 12.320,7

AT0000441209 5,000 % EUR 20.000,0 11.796,7

XS0267751245 3,415 % EUR 30.000,0 30.008,4

XS0255270380 4,444 % EUR 5.000,0 5.286,9

XS0279423775 4,440 % EUR 35.000,0 35.145,3

XS0257275098 4,900 % EUR 10.000,0 10.664,7

XS0286975973 4,775 % EUR 40.000,0 39.833,5

XS0232312479 3,840 % EUR 10.000,0 9.452,6

XS0234526423 4,010 % EUR 10.000,0 9.641,8

XS0230588120 4,270 % EUR 11.336,5 11.186,4

XS0301679022 4,520 % EUR 10.000,0 9.883,6

AT0000329966 5,188 % EUR 8.266,2 8.767,2

AT0000320890 5,875 % EUR 5.687,3 5.714,0

XS0270579856 5,230 % EUR 18.957,5 18.942,0

XS0284217709 4,263 % EUR 7.583,0 8.315,1

AT0000502893 5,312 % EUR 10.000,0 9.958,8

DE000A0DHT43 4,718 % EUR 80.000,0 76.725,1

Total 346.820,0

of which listed

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Subordinated liabilities 218.397,8 276.433,5 190.906,7 237.201,9

Supplementary capital 128.422,2 222.685,2 43.382,1 54.234,9

Total 346.820,0 499.118,7 234.288,7 291.436,8
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43. Equity

A. Development and composition

The share capital of EUR 22,346,025.00 is subdivided into 307,500 no-par-value shares, of which 306,816 
are held by the Republic of Austria and 684 by the Association of Austrian Municipalities. The shares are 
issued to bearer and have a nominal value of EUR 72.67 each. All shares are fully paid in.

At the 16th extraordinary general meeting on 27-09-2005, the Executive Board was authorised to increase the 
share capital by 26-09-2010 through the issue of new shares in one or several tranches by a maximum of 
EUR 8,175,375.00 (authorised capital), subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board. On this basis, the 
share capital of the company was increased for the fi rst time as of 04-01-2006 by EUR 2,180,100.00 to 
EUR 18,530,850.00, and the premium of EUR 76,419,900.00 thus generated was transferred to the earmarked 
capital reserve. Moreover, the share capital was increased by EUR 3,815,175.00 to EUR 22,346,025.00 as of 
03-01-2008; the premium of EUR 162,949,500.00 thus generated was transferred to the earmarked capital 
reserve. Following this increase, the authorized capital, to be utilized by 26-09-2010, amounts to 
EUR 2,180,100.00.

As of 31-12-2009 and during the business year no own shares were held in the Kommunalkredit portfolio.

 In December 2009, in accordance with the provisions of the recapitalisation agreement, a loan of the Republic 
of Austria in the amount of EUR 60 million was converted into a shareholder contribution in order to maintain 
the contractually agreed tier-1 capital ratio of 7%. This shareholder contribution was appropriated to the free 
capital reserve without passing through profi t or loss and therefore increases the company’s equity. 

KA Old issued participation capital in a total amount of TEUR 572,500.0, with an issue of TEUR 372,500.0 
in the course of the 2008 change in ownership subscribed to by the former owners Österreichische Volks-
banken AG and Dexia Crédit Local through conversion of portions of their unsecured exposures (VBAG 
TEUR 172,500.0; Dexia: TEUR 200,000.0). The latter participation capital, which carries a dividend of 8%, 
was subscribed to on the date of closing on 05-01-2009 and has been effective as of 09-01-2009. Within the 
framework of the participation capital arrangements, the Republic of Austria gave its assurance to the subscribers, 
Österreichische Volksbanken AG and Dexia Crédit Local, that after fi ve years and upon request by either Dexia 
Crédit Local or Österreichische Volksbanken AG it would endeavour to obtain from the management of KA, un-
der the conditions of Sect. 23 and/or Sect. 102.1 of the Austrian Banking Act, a reduction and/or redemption of 
the participation capital subscribed to by Dexia Crédit Local and Österreichischen Volksbanken AG.

In the course of the demerger, all profi t-sharing rights were distributed between KF and KA at a ratio of 
75.83% to 24.17%; thus, after entry of the demerger in the Companies Register, the economic situation of the 
holders of these rights corresponds at least to their position prior to the demerger. Therefore, equivalent rights, 
as defi ned in Sect. 15.5 of the Demerger Act, were granted to the holders of participation capital in the course 
of the demerger. KA took over participation capital in the amount of TEUR 138,373.3, which represents equity 
under IAS 32. The participation capital meets the provisions of Sect. 23.4 of the Austrian Banking Act and 
counts towards the core capital of the bank.

The detailed development and composition of equity according to IFRS is shown in Item IV (Statement of 
Changes in Equity).

As of 31-12-2009, KF reports negative equity according to IFRS in the amount of TEUR -250,919.2 
(31-12-2008: TEUR -1,161,473.1), which is primarily due to the following factors:

• the negative market values of the CDS in the amount of TEUR -605,397.3
• the negative AFS reserve in the amount of TEUR -192,489.5
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B. Dividend payment on equity

In its solo fi nancial statements prepared according to the new Austrian Company Code/Austrian Banking Act, 
KF reports a net result after appropriation to reserves of EUR -345,780.6 and therefore will not pay out a divi-
dend for 2009. In the absence of a distributable profi t for the year, no profi t distribution will be made on 
participation capital in 2010 (for 2009).

C. Capital adequacy management

KF’s capital adequacy management aims at maintaining a tier-1 ratio of at least 7%. For the purposes of opera-
tional implementation, regular monthly meetings of accounting, portfolio, credit risk and strategy groups in 
charge of preparing the decisions to be taken by the Executive Board are held. 

As of 31-12-2009, consolidated own funds pursuant to Sect. 24 of the Austrian Banking Act amounted to 
TEUR 862,476.3 (31-12-2008: TEUR 784,313.5). The consolidated assessment base of TEUR 6,040,455.9 
(31-12-2008: TEUR 9,185,989.9) results in a consolidated total capital ratio of 14.3%. As of 31-12-2008, the 
ratio stood at 8.5%. With participation capital of 

TEUR 372,500.0 eligible as of 09-1-2009, the ratio increased to 12.6%. The consolidated tier-1 ratio is 7.2%, up 
from 5.0% on 31-12-2008, and 9.0% with participation capital eligible as of 09-01-2009. Thus, the minimum 
capital adequacy requirements and the contractual provisions are met. The composition and development of own 
funds of the Kommunalkredit Group, calculated in accordance with the Austrian Banking Act, are as follows:

in EUR 1.000 Bankbuch Comparison 3) 2008

Assessment base pursuant to § 22 (2) Austrian Banking Act

Risk-weighted assets 5.920.263,6 9.000.999,1

Capital adequacy requirements

Banking book 1) 473.621,1 720.079,9

Trading book 2) 0,0 8,0

Currency risk 2) 1.466,9 835,3

Operational risk 8.148,5 13.955,9

Total 483.236,5 734.879,2

Actual own funds

Core capital after deductions 3) 436.151,4 827.312,8

Supplementary own funds after deductions 3) 426.324,9 329.152,5

Eligible own funds 862.476,3 1.156.465,3

Tier 3 (eligible) 0,0 348,2

Sum total of own funds 862.476,3 1.156.813,5

Free own funds 379.239,9 421.934,3

1) 8% of the assessment base.
2) standard approach according to capital adequacy provisions.
3) Comparative fi gures contain participation capital issued as of 09-01-2009. 
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Notes to the income statement of the KA Finanz Group

The income statement of the KA Finanz AG Group according to IFRS comprises the results of KA Old (total 
bank prior to the demerger) for January to November 2009 and the result of the residual assets not spun off for 
December 2009. The results of the holdings spun off for January to November 2009 are contained in the con-
solidated result. 

44. Net interest income

The drop in net interest income compared with the previous year is due not only to the effect of the demerger 
and the rundown of assets, but also to higher funding costs and guarantee components due to the fact that 
funding was drawn from the Emergency Liquidity Assistance Programme of the ECB/OeNB and the Austrian 
clearing agency.  

Interest income and interest expenses are included according to the accruals concept. Financial instruments not 
valued at their fair value result in interest income of TEUR 603,726.9 (2008: TEUR 934,948.0) and interest 
expenses of TEUR 769,804.2 (2008: TEUR 1,226,744.9). Income from investments in holdings measured at 
equity comprises the pro-rata result of Kommunalleasing GmbH up to the date of the demerger.

45. Net fee and commission income

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Interest income 2.547.419,2 3.196.349,2

Interst income from credit business and money market 492.011,8 768.337,6

Interest income from fi xed-income securities 502.960,7 702.405,1

Interest income from variable-income securities 479,0 2.479,0

Interest and similar income from derivatives 1.551.014,1 1.722.859,2

Income from investments in affi liated companies 587,8 312,9

Income from investments in companies valued at equity 365,8 -44,5

Interest expenses -2.508.823,5 -3.106.466,9

Interest expenses for deposit business and money market -237.237,7 -488.167,2

Interest expenses for securitised liabilities -522.925,9 -734.616,4

Interest expenses for subordinated capital -13.242,8 -21.239,3

Interest expenses for derivatives -1.735.417,1 -1.862.444,1

Result of operating lease contracts -48,0 111,9

Net interest income 38.547,6 89.994,3

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Management of support schemes 9.529,7 10.466,5

Payment transactions 8,3 45,9

Other services business -122,4 853,8

Securities business -691,8 -2.907,4

Credit / CDS business -939,9 12.123,0

Guarantee fees for surety and issue guarantees -158.097,0 0,0

Total -150.313,1 20.581,8
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Services for the management of support schemes are rendered by Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH 
(KPC, transferred to Kommunalkredit within the framework of the demerger) mainly on behalf of the Republic 
of Austria. KPC’s contribution to the result for the year amounted to TEUR 185.6.

Net fee and commission income from the securities business includes commission income of TEUR 587.5 
(2008: TEUR 710.4) and commission expenses of TEUR 1,279.3 (2008: TEUR 3,697.6). The drop in net fee 
and commission income from the credit/CDS business, compared with the previous year, is essentially due to 
higher expenses for the CDS portfolio resulting from hedging measures.

Guarantee fees payable under the surety arrangements with the Republic of Austria totalled TEUR 104,939.8. 
Moreover, guarantee fees of TEUR 53,157.2 were paid to the Republic of Austria for issues guaranteed. All 
guarantee fees are independent of income and paid in full to the Republic of Austria.

Financial instruments measured at their fair value and not passing through profi t or loss generated fee and 
commission income of TEUR 17,506.3 (2008: TEUR 37,657.9) and fee and commission expenses of 
TEUR 11,012.8 (2008: TEUR 19,646.6). Fee and commission income and expenses are included according to 
the accruals concept.  

46. General administrative expenses

Income from re-invoiced personnel and other administrative expenses for services rendered by KF to affi liated 
and associated companies up to the reporting date of the demerger amounted to TEUR 3,506.5 and have been 
recognised since 2009 on a gross basis in other operating results. Up to the demerger, the bank had its own 
employees. 

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Personnel expenses before reinvoicing -25.627,7 -24.703,6

 Salaries -19.048,4 -20.628,1

 Social charges -5.088,4 -5.509,9

 Expenses for retirement and employee benefi ts -1.490,8 1.434,4

Reinvoiced personnel expenses 0,0 2.983,9

Total personnel expenses -25.627,7 -21.719,7

Non-personnel administrative expenses -24.615,9 -21.952,5

Reinvoiced administrative expenses 0,0 3.961,9

Total general administrative expenses -24.615,9 -17.990,6

Depreciation and revaluation of 

 intangible assets -183,0 -249,5

 Property and equipment -1.951,3 -2.491,8

Total -52.377,9 -42.451,6
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Other administrative expenses comprise the following items:

The increase in other administrative expenses is primarily due to the fact that services are no longer re-invoiced 
to Dexia Kommunalkredit Bank. Further cost increases result from the restructuring process, expenses for the 
preparation of interim fi nancial statements for the demerger, demerger audit costs and other legal expenses. 
Corrected for these non-recurrent effects, other administrative expenses dropped by TEUR 3,659.6 from 
the previous year’s level.Auditing expenses for the year under review exclusively comprise expenses of 
TEUR 535.5 for the audit of the annual fi nancial statements.

47. Trading result

Besides the result of currency trading, the trading result contains net results from the disposal and valuation of 
items in the trading portfolio, interest income from the trading portfolio and funding expenses for the trading 
portfolio. The trading portfolio is measured on a fair-value basis. The trading book was spun off to KA. The 
trading result therefore only contains components up to the demerger reporting date.

48. Net credit risk provisions

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Consulting and auditing costs 12.232,5 3.923,5

Third-party services 3.055,5 2.749,6

Data processing 2.135,2 2.511,3

Communication (mail, telephone, Reuters) 2.003,4 1.690,6

Advertising 1.550,0 5.805,7

Occupancy costs 1.013,8 1.650,2

Technical literature and training expenses 650,2 1.309,6

Travel expenses 608,6 1.364,4

Other administrative expenses 1.366,8 942,4

Proceeds from reinvoicing 0,0 -3.961,9

Total 24.615,9 17.990,6

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Net currency result 3.250,2 640,1

Securities trading 671,8 60,3

Interest-rate derivatives -609,3 -60,8

Currency conversion from consolidation 15,7 -14,2

Total 3.328,4 625,4

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Additions to risk provisions -107.388,0 -41.728,2

 of which provisions for losses incurred but not reported -46.644,0 0,0

 of which from expiry of surety -51.643,5 0,0

Release of risk provisions 10.275,8 321,2

Write-off of receivables -98.983,0 0,0

 of which from expiry of surety -97.000,0 0,0

Total -196.095,1 -41.407,0
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Net credit risk provisions comprise all valuation adjustments concerning the loan portfolio. Additions to risk 
provisions and write-offs result from the expiry of the surety given as of 31-12-2009 and the resulting valuation 
adjustments in the amount of TEUR 195,287.5 as well as new provisions set up and changes during the year 
under review in the amount of TEUR 11,083.4. Provisions of TEUR 10,275.8 were released as the amounts due 
were received on schedule.

49. Net income from fi nancial investments

The waiver by KA of its claim to the repayment of money-market deposits within the framework of the re-
capitalisation of the company (see Note 4 Recapitalisation / Debtor warrant) resulted in income of 
TEUR 1,000,000.0. This is booked against valuation adjustments and valuation results of TEUR -721,265.3 
due to KF’s waiver of the surety given by the Republic of Austria as of 31-12-2008, which are reported under 
valuation adjustments and the result of fair-value measurement. The item also includes provisions for losses 
incurred but not reported in the amount of TEUR -7,306.0.

New provisions set up in 2009 amount to TEUR -35,226.1, whereas releases of risk provisions total TEUR 
17,260.9.

The effect on the 2009 income statement of loans designated at fair value through profi t or loss and of active 
and passive security portfolios designated at fair value through profi t or loss amounts to TEUR -5,494.1 and 
TEUR -190,695.2, respectively, and TEUR 1,516.1 (2008: TEUR 232,217.9 and TEUR -130,274,2, respec-
tively, and TEUR 17,316.5). As regards the effects of credit spread changes in active and passive security 
portfolios designated as fair-value options, see Note 53. The result of the fair-value measurement of loans and 
securities is booked against the result of the measurement of derivatives in the amount of TEUR -22,927.7 
(2008: TEUR -320,671.1).

The CDS portfolio was reduced by TEUR 1,627,152.9 in the year under review, which resulted in expenses of 
TEUR -106,227.6. The valuation yield from this portfolio, 86% of which is accounted for by public-sector 
exposures (as described in the Risk Report on page 57), was highly positive at TEUR 545,156.2 due to the fact 
that risk premiums were lower than at the end of the previous year.

The early buyback and redemption of own issues resulted in an unrealised gain of TEUR 105,508.9.

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Claim waived by Kommunalkredit Austria 1.000.000,0 0,0

Valuation adjustments -643.364,9 -24.567,3

Result of fair-value measurement -83.557,4 -201.410,9

Valuation CDS 545.156,2 -1.046.184,3

Cashouts CDS -106.227,6 -41.660,5

Buyback preference shares and supplementary capital 105.508,9 0,0

Result of the disposal of fi nancial investments -6.689,8 -7.067,5

 of which available for sale -5.970,3 5.707,3

  of which loans and receivables -721,4 -13.834,0

  of which held to maturity 1,8 1.059,2

Profi t/loss from  hedge accounting 0,0 -8.076,9

 Hedged instrument -546.946,1 287.408,2

 Hedging instrument 546.946,1 -295.485,1

Total 810.825,5 -1.328.967,3
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The hedge accounting result is due to changes in the fair values of derivatives contracted to hedge the market 
value of asset items carried on the banking book (fair-value hedges) and to hedging-related changes in the 
value of the items hedged (hedge accounting according to IAS 39).

As of 31-1-2-2009, the amounts repayable upon maturity of the fi nancial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profi t or loss are TEUR 19,169.5 above their book values (31-12-2008: TEUR 22,902.4 above their 
book values).

50. Other operating results

Income from services rendered and re-invoiced is reported on a gross basis under other operating results for 
the fi rst time in 2009. The deconsolidation result concerns the companies transferred to Kommunalkredit 
Austria AG in the course of the demerger.

51. Taxes on income

The actual taxes were calculated on the basis of the tax results for the business year at the local tax rates 
applicable to the Group companies concerned. The following table shows the relation between the expected 
and actual taxes on income: 

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Current tax expense -2.197,2 -2.707,3

Deferred tax expense/income -10.425,5 28.409,8

Total -12.622,7 25.702,6

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Pre-tax result for the year 447.590,8 -1.477.150,6

Minority shares in surplus for the year -18,6 -44,3

Distribution on participation capital 0,0 -3.145,4

Tax base 447.572,2 1.480.340,3

Income tax expense expected for the fi nancial year at the statutory tax rate (25 %) -111.893,1 370.085,1

Effects of different tax rates -56.559,9 -128.642,8

Tax reduction due to tax-exempt earnings of investments 146,9 53,2

Tax reductions due to other tax-exempt income 256.178,2 2.856,2

Tax increases due to non-deductible expenses -57.804,0 -30.785,7

Tax expense/income not attributable to reporting period -337,1 1.496,9

Non-realisable losses -41.466,5 -186.301,2

Other -887,3 -3.059,0

Reported taxes on income -12.622,7 25.702,6

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Proceeds from reinvoicing 3.506,5 1.045,9

Other operating result 854,1 26,4

Result from deconsolidation -10.518,1 0,0

Other operating expenses -167,0 -83,0

Assets available for sale 0,0 -176.515,4

Total -6.324,5 -175.526,1
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The debt waiver by Kommunalkredit against issue of a debtor warrant in the amount of TEUR 1,000,000.0 in 
the course of the recapitalisation process is a tax-neutral transaction; its effect on tax reconciliation amounts to 
TEUR -250,000.0 and is contained in other tax-exempt income. Out of tax losses incurred in 2009, 
TEUR 41,466.5 are not recognisable as tax assets due to negative income forecasts.

Other information

52. Book value by IAS category

The maximum risk of default by class of fi nancial instruments corresponds to the book values shown in the 
table. 

53. Additional information on fi nancial assets or liabilities designated at fair value 
 through profi t or loss

As regards the maximum risk of default for loans and securities measured at fair value through profi t or loss, 
see Note 52, fair-value option.

The maximum risk of default is mitigated through credit derivatives of a nominal value of TEUR 284,294.0.

In the period under review, valuation yields from credit spread changes in the amount of TEUR 113,613.6 were 
determined for active securities designated at fair value through profi t or loss. The valuation yield component 
due to credit spread changes is calculated as follows: in a fi rst step, the valuation as of 31-12-2008 is compared 
with the valuation as of 31-12-2009. In a second step, the difference in valuation is corrected for valuation 
effects due to exchange-rate fl uctuations and valuation effects due to interest-rate changes. The resulting amount 
for the underlying portfolio contains valuation changes due to credit spread changes, liquidity premium changes 
and other factors impacting on market prices, but does not consider interest-rate or FX effects.

In the year under review, credit spread changes of loans designated at fair value through profi t or loss has an 
effect on income of TEUR -27,654.2 (2008: TEUR -27,333.5).

The changes in the fair values of the corresponding credit derivatives amounted to TEUR -723.0 in the period 
under review and to TEUR -693.1 on an accumulated basis.

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Financial assets

Loans and receivables 11.215.574,7 21.777.297,8

Held to maturity 784.467,9 1.503.843,9

Fair value through profi t or loss 6.674.057,7 9.627.120,2

 Fair-value option 3.211.886,1 7.720.815,8

 Held for trading 3.462.171,6 1.906.304,4

Available for sale 2.275.877,9 2.849.703,0

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost 16.799.931,3 32.655.720,9

Fair value through profi t or loss 4.823.919,7 3.446.817,9

 Fair-value option 40.550,9 41.597,6

 Held for trading 4.783.368,8 3.405.220,3
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For liabilities measured at fair value through profi t or loss, changes in own credit spreads resulted in a gain of 
TEUR 2,896.2 (2008: TEUR 19,790.1) in 2009. 

54. Information on the determination of the fair value (fair-value hierarchy)

Generally speaking, the methods applied to determine the fair value can be broken down into three categories:

Level 1: Prices for identical fi nancial instruments are available in an active market. For this category KF used 
bid quotes from Bloomberg or Reuters.

Level 2: The input factors for the valuation can be observed in the market. 
 This category comprises the following pricing methods:

 • Pricing based on benchmark bonds (similar instruments)
 • Pricing based on marked-derived spreads (benchmark spreads)
 • Price indications by third parties

Level 3: The input factors cannot be observed in the market. This category mainly includes prices based on 
expert estimates. This category is not used by KF.

The following table shows the breakdown of AFS (available-for-sale) and FV (fair-value) securities by book 
value:

in EUR 1.000 AFS FV

level 1 2.207.572,5 1.888.178,4

level 2 68.305,4 1.323.707,7

Total 2.275.877,9 3.211.886,1
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55. Overview of fair values

The following tables show a comparison of the carrying values and the fair values of the classes of fi nancial 
instruments and fi nancial liabilities defi ned by KF as of the balance-sheet date:

Assets 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

in EUR 1.000 Carrying 
value

minus
risk prov.

Carrying 
value after 

risk prov.

Market value Carrying 
value

Market value

Cash and balances with central banks 559.666,7 0,0 559.666,7 559.666,7 171.113,6 171.113,6

Loans and advances to banks 6.177.703,8 -131.991,4 6.045.712,4 5.852.674,6 8.537.763,8 7.328.974,3

 Held to maturity 18.366,5 0,0 18.366,5 11.586,3 18.787,8 12.458,7

 Loans and receivables 5.834.096,6 -131.991,4 5.702.105,2 5.515.847,6 8.011.720,9 6.957.367,3

 Fair-value option 285.570,1 0,0 285.570,1 285.570,1 462.355,4 462.355,4

 Available for sale 39.670,6 0,0 39.670,6 39.670,6 44.899,7 44.899,7

Loans and advances to customers 6.535.172,5 -51.680,5 6.483.492,0 5.752.887,7 18.157.517,5 17.817.673,5

 Held to maturity 115.285,4 0,0 115.285,4 103.592,3 222.235,1 208.642,6

 Loans and receivables 5.381.478,1 -51.680,5 5.329.797,5 4.610.886,4 13.765.577,0 13.577.903,5

 Fair-value option 967.089,3 0,0 967.089,3 967.089,3 4.076.182,7 4.076.182,7

 Available for sale 71.319,7 0,0 71.319,7 71.319,7 93.522,7 93.522,7

Trading assets 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 16.419,7 16.419,7

Financial investments 4.775.718,4 0,0 4.775.718,4 4.748.032,9 7.164.444,9 6.983.616,1

 Held to maturity 650.815,9 0,0 650.815,9 623.130,5 1.262.821,0 1.201.130,8

 Fair-value option 1.959.226,7 0,0 1.959.226,7 1.959.226,7 3.182.277,7 3.182.277,7

 Available for sale 2.164.887,6 0,0 2.164.887,6 2.164.887,6 2.711.280,6 2.711.280,6

 Other 788,1 0,0 788,1 788,1 8.065,7 8.065,7

Property and equipment 5.805,4 0,0 5.805,4 5.805,4 39.765,4 39.765,4

Other assets 3.583.577,1 0,0 3.583.577,1 3.583.577,1 3.423.021,3 3.534.299,1

 Derivatives not in IAS hedge accounting 3.151.719,0 0,0 3.151.719,0 3.151.719,0 1.889.884,7 1.889.884,7

 Derivatives in IAS hedge accounting 310.452,6 0,0 310.452,6 310.452,6 1.395.748,7 1.395.748,7

 Other 121.405,5 0,0 121.405,5 121.405,5 137.387,9 248.665,6
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56. Segment reporting

The purpose of segment reporting by KF is to present the components of net results and assets by region, as 
the regional subdivision is the basis for decisions by the Executive Board. 

The division into segments is based on different approaches. Assets – such as interest income from loans and 
bonds – are broken down by the countries of the counterparties on a single-transaction basis. Interest income 
from money-market transactions is broken down by currency-weighted average portfolio. The same applies to 
interest expenses for funding transactions, as funding is raised for all segments together. Interest results from 
derivatives, provided they can be allocated as fair-value hedges to a hedged fi nancial instrument, are assigned 
directly to the country of the allocated asset operation, or otherwise broken down by currency-weighted aver-
age portfolio.  

The breakdown of the net credit risk result, fee and commission income and other operating income is made 
by partner country on a single-transaction basis. All other items are allocated on the basis of the relevant aver-
age portfolios. There are no business relations between the regional segments.

Within the framework of segment reporting, the breakdown by region is as follows:

• Austria
• Europe
• Rest of the world

Liabilities 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

in EUR 1.000 Carrying 
value

minus
risk prov.

Carrying 
value after 

risk prov.

Market value Carrying 
value

Market value

Amounts owed to banks 9.596.640,6 0,0 9.596.640,6 9.584.602,3 14.509.895,4 14.473.757,2

 at amoritsed cost 9.596.640,6 0,0 9.596.640,6 9.584.602,3 14.509.895,4 14.473.757,2

Amounts owed to customers 46.835,0 0,0 46.835,0 38.012,8 1.001.719,1 878.238,9

 at amortised cost 46.835,0 0,0 46.835,0 38.012,8 1.001.719,1 878.238,9

Securitised liabilities 6.850.186,5 0,0 6.850.186,5 6.903.875,8 16.686.585,3 16.279.285,0

 at amortised cost 6.850.186,5 0,0 6.850.186,5 6.903.875,8 16.686.585,3 16.279.285,0

Trading liabilities 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 14.903,3 14.903,3

Provisions 1.687,9 0,0 1.687,9 1.687,9 18.496,9 18.496,9

Other liabilities 4.816.077,2 0,0 4.816.077,2 4.817.003,5 5.887.401,6 5.887.401,6

 Derivatives not in IAS hedge accounting 4.166.103,7 0,0 4.166.103,7 4.166.103,7 3.390.317,1 3.390.317,1

 Derivatives in IAS hedge accounting 617.265,1 0,0 617.265,1 617.265,1 2.464.718,0 2.464.718,0

 Other 32.708,4 0,0 32.708,4 33.634,7 32.366,5 32.366,5

Subordinated capital 346.820,0 0,0 346.820,0 43.370,2 499.118,7 330.352,5

 at amortised cost 306.269,1 0,0 306.269,1 2.819,4 457.521,1 288.754,9

 Fair-value option 40.550,9 0,0 40.550,9 40.550,9 41.597,6 41.597,6

66



Presentation of results by segment 2009

Presentation of results by segment 2008

in EUR 1.000 Austria Europe Rest of the world 2009

Interest and similar income 750.437,3 1.472.623,9 324.310,0 2.547.371,2

Interest and similar expenses -739.897,6 -1.446.469,3 -322.456,6 -2.508.823,5

Net interest income 10.539,7 26.154,5 1.853,4 38.547,6

Net credit risk result -99.857,4 -82.150,2 -14.087,6 -196.095,1

 Fee and commission income 10.446,9 21.437,9 6.134,7 38.019,5

 Fee and commission expenses -47.792,2 -91.532,3 -49.008,1 -188.332,6

Net fee and commission income -37.345,3 -70.094,4 -42.873,4 -150.313,1

Trading result 1.293,4 1.387,1 647,9 3.328,4

Net income from fi nancial investments 215.498,2 413.845,0 181.482,2 810.825,5

General administrative expenses -20.980,0 -26.464,6 -4.933,3 -52.377,9

Other operating result -6.882,7 558,1 0,0 -6.324,5

Pre-tax surplus for the year 62.265,9 263.235,7 122.089,2 447.590,8

Taxes on income -1.756,0 -7.423,6 -3.443,1 -12.622,7

After-tax surplus for the year 60.509,9 255.812,1 118.646,1 434.968,1

Distributions on participation capital 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Minority shares in surplus for the year -18,6 0,0 0,0 -18,6

Consolidated surplus for the year 60.491,4 255.812,1 118.646,1 434.949,5

in EUR 1.000 Austria Europe Rest of the world 2008

Interest and similar income 835.524,9 1.846.160,2 514.776,1 3.196.461,2

Interest and similar expenses -815.456,4 -1.793.749,4 -497.261,1 -3.106.466,9

Net interest income 20.068,5 52.410,8 17.515,0 89.994,3

Net credit risk result 157,3 -30.690,4 -10.873,9 -41.407,0

 Fee and commission income 12.926,0 21.006,9 7.549,1 41.482,0

 Fee and commission expenses -2.310,0 -13.165,1 -5.425,2 -20.900,2

Net fee and commission income 10.616,1 7.841,8 2.123,9 20.581,8

Trading result 98,0 344,5 182,9 625,4

Net income from fi nancial investments -137.780,6 -1.018.231,4 -172.955,4 -1.328.967,3

General administrative expenses -20.390,4 -18.057,7 -4.003,5 -42.451,6

Other operating result 429,4 -175.955,5 0,0 -175.526,1

Pre-tax surplus for the year -126.801,7 -1.182.338,0 -168.011,0 -1.477.150,6

Taxes on income 2.206,8 20.564,7 2.931,1 25.702,6

After-tax surplus for the year -124.595,0 -1.161.773,2 -165.079,9 -1.451.448,1

Distributions on participation capital -293,1 -2.051,9 -800,3 -3.145,4

Minority shares in surplus for the year -44,3 0,0 0,0 -44,3

Consolidated surplus for the year -124.932,4 -1.163.825,2 -165.880,2 -1.454.637,7
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The breakdown of assets by segment in 2009 is as follows:

There are no business relations between the regional segments.

The breakdown of assets by segment in 2008 is as follows:

in EUR 1.000 Austria Europe Rest of the world Total

Cash and balances with central banks 545.890,4  13.776,3  0,0   559.666,7 

Loans and advances to banks 668.742,6  4.333.063,5  1.175.897,7  6.177.703,8 

Loans and advances to customers  245.113,5  3.740.332,9  2.549.726,1  6.535.172,5

Risk provisions -28.991,0 -179.613,2 -21.711,8 -230.315,9 

Trading assets  0,0    0,0    0,0    0,0   

Financial investments  90.878,3  3.178.026,7  1.506.813,3  4.775.718,4 

Property and equipment  0,00  5.805,4 0,0    5.805,4 

Other assets  1.736.000,8  1.521.320,2  326.256,1  3.583.577,1 

Trading assets 3.257.634,6 12.612.711,9 5.536.981,4 21.407.328,0 

in EUR 1.000 Austria Europe Rest of the world Total

Cash and balances with central banks  168.332,3  2.781,3 0,0    171.113,6

Loans and advances to banks  291.165,1  6.961.347,3  1.285.251,4  8.537.763,8

Loans and advances to customers  6.644.906,0  8.105.749,7  3.406.861,8 18.157.517,5 

Risk provisions -991,3 -34.828,0 -17.579,8 -53.399,0

Trading assets  14.918,4  1.501,3  0,0    16.419,7

Financial investments  287.582,0  4.907.923,5  1.968.939,4  7.164.444,9 

Property and equipment  33.624,5  6.140,8 0,0    39.765,4 

Other assets  585.994,8  2.330.604,8  506.421,7  3.423.021,3

Trading assets 8.025.531,8  22.281.220,7 7.149.894,5 37.456.647,1 
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57. Breakdown by residual maturity

Residual maturity is the period between the balance-sheet date and the date on which the claim or liability 
becomes contractually due, and, in the case of partial amounts, is calculated separately for each part. Deferred 
interest is accounted for under the period “up to 3 months”.

The breakdown of signifi cant asset and liability items by residual maturity as of 31-12-2009 is as follows:

The share of provisions for losses incurred but not reported in the amount of TEUR 7,306.0, recognised under 
“securities – held to maturity”, is not contained in the breakdown by residual maturity, as it cannot be directly 
allocated to the individual residual maturity bands.

Assets in EUR 1.000 Repayable
on demand

Up to
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Loans and advances to banks 813.301,0 1.035.097,8 1.734.619,4 1.348.683,3 1.246.002,3

Loans and advances to customers 0,0 121.213,3 221.963,8 765.527,6 5.426.467,8

Securities – designated at fair 
value through profi t or loss

0,0 40.473,8 142.295,2 698.207,0 1.075.543,1

Securities – available for sale 0,0 64.984,6 38.311,7 472.602,8 1.588.988,6

thereof Micro-Hedges 0,0 29.793,0 17.572,1 155.033,1 979.179,3

Securities – held to maturity 0,0 10.685,7 3.150,3 267.661,1 376.624,8

Total 813.301,0 1.272.455,2 2.140.340,3 3.552.681,9 9.713.626,5

Liabilities in EUR 1.000 Repayable
on demand

Up to
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 37.959,8 4.252.821,6 3.370.561,5 844.473,1 1.090.824,6

Amounts owed to customers 2.532,6 8.310,1 26.961,4 0,0 9.030,9

Securitised liabilities 0,0 903.757,3 297.415,4 5.602.615,8 46.397,9

Subordinated capital 0,0 3.941,5 0,0 24.589,0 318.289,5

Total 40.492,4 5.168.830,6 3.694.938,4 6.471.677,9 1.464.542,9
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Breakdown of signifi cant asset and liability items by residual maturity as of 31-12-2008 (comparative fi gures):

58. Subordinated assets

Assets shown on the balance sheet comprise the following subordinated assets:

59.  Assets assigned and received as collateral

The book value of securities assigned from repo transactions amounts to TEUR 702,549.2 (31-12-2008: 
TEUR 2,401,626.5).

KA Finanz AG agrees on Collateral Support Annexes (“CSA”) to framework contracts for derivatives. 
As of 31-12-2009, TEUR 1,498,673.6 (31-12-2008: TEUR 2,518,496.0) were deposited as collateral for 
derivatives. At the same time, KA Finanz AG received cash collaterals for derivatives in the amount of 
TEUR 584,410.0 (31-12-2008: TEUR 156,900.0). This amount is used to reduce the derivative-related credit 
risk of KA Finanz AG.

60. Contingent liabilities and other off-balance-sheet liabilities

The nominal value of loan commitments and unused lines as of 31-12-2009 amounted to TEUR 135,280.7 
(31-12-2008: TEUR 1,121,864.8).

Assets in EUR 1.000 Repayable
on demand

Up to
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Loans and advances to banks 1.274.082,3 1.614.970,2 1.448.951,4 2.255.914,6 1.943.845,2

Loans and advances to customers 314,2 254.009,5 426.104,8 3.479.075,8 13.998.013,1

Trading assets 0,0 0,0 1.516,8 0,0 14.902,9

Securities – designated at fair 
value through profi t or loss

0,0 153.450,3 164.043,0 1.235.205,9 1.561.984,7

Securities – available for sale 0,0 63.417,9 59.391,6 539.934,3 2.048.536,8

Securities – held to maturity 0,0 70.884,3 106.931,1 258.929,6 826.076,0

Total 1.274.396,5 2.156.732,2 2.206.938,8 7.769.060,2 20.393.358,7

Liabilities in EUR 1.000 Repayable
on demand

Up to
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 11.598,6 11.275.951,5 1.211.446,0 513.526,8 1.497.372,5

Amounts owed to customers 10.186,5 508.405,6 2.007,2 80.203,2 400.916,5

Securitised liabilities 0,0 2.170.339,2 2.025.013,6 6.263.513,0 6.227.719,5

Subordinated capital 0,0 6.777,8 0,0 63.467,7 428.873,1

Total 21.785,1 13.961.474,2 3.238.466,9 6.920.710,7 8.554.881,6

in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Loans and advances to banks 28.301,0 31.905,8

Financial investments 32.215,6 25.292,4

Other receivables 527,4 0,0

Total 61.044,1 57.198,2

70



Moreover, guarantees of a nominal value of TEUR 100,000.0 (31-12-2008: TEUR 323,425.6) have been granted.

In connection with the spin-off of the core banking operations of KA Old to KA, the Demerger Act stipulates 
a liability for obligations having arisen prior to the entry of the demerger in the Companies Register of the 
Commercial Court of Vienna (28-11-2009). 

Based on the joint and several liability stipulated in the Demerger Act, KF is liable for obligations having 
arisen prior to the entry of the demerger into the Companies Register and spun off to KA as liabilities allocated 
to the core banking business, up to the amount of the net assets assigned to it within the framework of the 
demerger (value of the assets retained minus the liabilities retained, as shown in Note 3, Restructuring/ 
Demerger of Kommunalkredit Austria AG) as joint and several debtor.

61. Assets assigned but not qualifying for derecognition

Repo transactions do not qualify for derecognition, as signifi cant opportunities and risks are retained. The 
associated liabilities represent a total book value of TEUR 588,804.7 (31-12-2008: TEUR 2,090,460.0).

Other assets assigned but not qualifying for derecognition include securities sold for which all opportunities 
and risks were re-transferred to the company though simultaneous total return swaps. The book values of the 
securities assigned are as follows:

The associated liabilities represent a total book value of TEUR 1,072,867.2 (31-12-2008: TEUR 1,084,483.2).

No securities were subject to securities lending transactions (31-12-2008: market value of securities lending 
TEUR 501,209.0).

Repo transactions in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Financial investments

 Held to maturity 47.228,6 481.308,5

 Loans and receivables 179.478,8 907.767,4

 Fair value through profi t or loss 468.275,1 786.495,1

 Available for sale 7.566,6 273.479,6

Total 702.549,2 2.449.050,6

Accounting value in EUR 1.000 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Securities

 Held-to-Maturity 44.458,4 47.580,2

 Loans & Receivables 172.716,4 175.521,2

 Fair-Value-Option 321.170,3 316.836,3

 Available-for-Sale 617.161,2 607.590,2

Total 1.155.506,3 1.147.528,0
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62. Derivative fi nancial transactions

The structure of open derivative fi nancial transactions is as follows:

63.  Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Foreign currencies are currencies outside the euro area. Kommunalkredit’s fundamental risk strategy in the 
fi eld of currency risk consists in not taking any signifi cant open currency positions.

64. Risk management

Organisation

The control and limitation of risks is performed within the framework of a clearly defi ned overall risk strategy. 
Strategy-compliant implementation is monitored by the monthly meetings of the Risk Management Committee 
(RMC). The RMC meeting keeps the Executive Board informed about the total exposure of the bank on a 
regular and structured basis, takes all important risk-relevant decisions, and sets and monitors the limits. In 
addition to the monthly RMC meetings, weekly task force meetings support the RMC in operational terms, 
especially the credit committee, the liquidity/ALCO meeting and the capital budgeting meetings. 

Nominal amount as of 
31.12.2009

Nominal 
amount

Nominal 
amount

in EUR 1.000 Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years more than 
5 years

Total
2009

Market 
values pos.

Market 
values neg.

Total
2008

Interest-related 
transactions

3.021.663,8 20.645.142,6 28.368.821,6 52.035.628,1 3.001.238,3 -3.678.662,5 40.055.274,0

OTC products

 Interest-rate swaps 3.021.663,8 20.645.142,6 28.368.821,6 52.035.628,1 3.001.238,3 -3.678.662,5 40.055.274,0

Currency-related 
transactions

5.934.522,8 1.039.308,0 1.397.189,8 8.371.020,6 223.052,2 -265.254,0 9.546.583,5

OTC prducts

 FX forward transactions 5.354.157,6 0,0 124.662,9 5.478.820,4 217.777,5 -152.082,7 6.431.801,5

 Currency swaps 580.365,3 1.039.308,0 1.272.526,9 2.892.200,2 5.274,7 -113.171,3 3.114.782,0

Other transactions 195.000,0 1.728.370,8 10.438.239,6 12.361.610,4 237.881,1 -839.452,2 14.495.747,0

OTC products

 Options 0,0 0,0 1.000.000,0 1.000.000,0 233.128,6 -233.128,6 1.000.000,0

 CDS buy 0,0 289.889,5 927.399,7 1.217.289,2 3.145,6 -53.060,2 1.355.349,5

 CDS sell 195.000,0 1.438.481,3 8.510.839,9 10.144.321,3 1.606,9 -553.263,4 12.140.397,5

Total 9.151.186,7 23.412.821,5 40.204.251,0 72.768.259,2 3.462.171,6 -4.783.368,8 64.097.604,5

                 31.12.2009                  31.12.2008

in EUR 1.000 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

CHF 1.610.669,1 1.610.103,3 3.654.302,8 3.656.886,6

USD 1.675.759,3 1.675.394,0 3.544.546,5 3.540.528,1

JPY 936.883,8 936.640,8 2.320.558,6 2.104.963,9

GBP 98.357,5 102.658,3 1.330.751,6 1.329.895,8

Übrige 71.338,6 69.529,4 283.487,1 333.135,0

Sum total of foreign currencies 4.393.008,3 4.394.325,8 11.133.646,6 10.965.409,4

72



The primary goal of asset and liability management is to run down the non-strategic business of KA Old and, 
at the same time, minimise the input of funds from the Republic of Austria, realise the value recovery potential 
as much as possible and secure liquidity.

The following risks have been specifi cally identifi ed in KA:

• Credit risk
 Default and counterparty risk
 Concentration risk
 Country risk
 Investment portfolio risk

• Liquidity risk
 Short-term liquidity risk
 Long-term liquidity risk
 
• Market risk
 Interest-rate risk
 Exchange-rate risk
 Spread widening risk
 Option price risk

• Operational risk
 Operational risk
 Legal risk
 Reputational risk

• Other risks
 Equity risk
 Strategic risk
 Earnings risk

KA Finanz AG obtains all its internal and external risk reports from Kommunalkredit Austria AG as a service 
rendered on the basis of a service level agreement. However, the responsibility for risk management at KF, in 
particular for the adequate measurement, control and limitation of risks, has not been outsourced through the 
service level agreement, but remains with the Executive Board of KA Finanz, with support from middle 
management positions, i.e. the risk offi cer, the deputy risk offi cer and the operating offi cer. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial losses arising from a counterparty not meeting its payment obligations. KA 
Finanz AG distinguishes the following types of credit risk: counterparty and/or default risks, concentration 
risks and country risks. KA Finanz AG uses a uniform methodology for the quantifi cation of credit exposures 
throughout the Group. For each class of products, i.e. short-term inter-bank transactions, securities, loans, 
derivatives and CDS/guarantees, the credit exposure is calculated according to a uniform method and may 
deviate in detail from book values. The most signifi cant deviations from the book values are outlined briefl y in 
the following. For derivatives, recognition of the positive fair value is supplemented by recognition of maturity- 
and product-specifi c add-on factors. The security exposure, regardless of the portfolio category, always corre-
sponds to the fair value of the reporting date. The loan exposure is determined by all repayment obligations of 
the counterparty, any remaining payout obligations of the bank, the residual premium (discount), if any, and 
the positive option value from an embedded option, if any. 
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Personal securities (sureties and guarantees) play an important role in credit exposures. Financial securities 
taken into consideration primarily include netting and collateral arrangements. If personal securities are 
available, the exposure can be counted towards the guarantor. Depending on the assessment of the risk, the 
exposure is transferred to the guarantor and included in the portfolio model and the limit system. Financial 
securities received reduce the existing exposure. 

To assess the probability of default of individual customers, KA Finanz AG uses rating procedures tailor-made 
to the segments concerned. External ratings (Moody’s, S&P or Fitch) are applied to most of the customers in 
segments covered by the standard approach according to Basel 2 (see section on “Basel 2”). Every active 
customer is assigned an external or internal rating, which is updated at least once a year. The business develop-
ment of all borrowers is continuously analysed and the credit risk is regularly assessed. Thus, assets on the 
banking book and off-balance-sheet business can be classifi ed fully according to credit rating and collateralisa-
tion. On the basis of a common internal rating scale (master scale), the probabilities of default are grouped in 
categories, to which external ratings can be assigned. To ensure uniform determination of the probabilities of 
default, all internal and external rating procedures and/or ratings have to be calibrated to the common master 
scale. The discriminatory power of the rating procedures and their ability to forecast defaults are checked 
regularly and adjusted, if necessary, on the basis of unexpected losses.

Unexpected loss

A portfolio approach is essential for the quantifi cation of the unexpected risk of default. KA Finanz AG calcu-
lates a credit VaR on a monthly basis. The portfolio model used is based on CreditRisk+. To calculate the 
credit VaR (holding period 1 year, confi dence interval 99.95%), rating-dependent one-year probabilities of de-
fault (PD) as well as regional and sector-specifi c loss ratios (LGD) are used. These parameters were reviewed 
and updated during the year under review. The unexpected risk of default is quantifi ed by calculation methods 
meeting the usual bank management standards.

Calculated on a liquidation basis, the unexpected loss from credit defaults within one year amounts to 
EUR 284.6 million (confi dence level 99.95%, statistical event once in two thousand years); on a going concern 
basis, the unexpected loss from credit defaults within one year amounts to EUR 13.7 million (confi dence level 
90.00%, statistical event once in ten years). 

The model used is based on statistical methods and assumptions. Basically, it replicates and explains all rele-
vant developments of the past. The essential assumption is that statistically well founded conclusions can be 
drawn from the past with regard to future developments. The fundamental systemic crisis of the worldwide 
fi nancial markets observed in 2008 has no precedent in the available history of the models used by banks. To 
take account of this fact in the assessment of the unexpected risk of default, the model calculations are supple-
mented by additional analyses in specifi c cases and regular stress tests, the results of which serve as an 
additional decision-making basis for the management.

Breakdown of exposures by rating

The breakdown of exposures by rating shows that the portfolio is concentrated in the top rating categories. 
48% of the exposures are rated AAA/AA, 96% are rated investment grade. The KA Finanz AG portfolio has a 
good credit quality; the capital weighted average rating of the total portfolio is A2 (according to Moody’s 
rating scale).
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Breakdown of credit exposures by rating

The comparison with the previous year is of limited value, as the strategic business of KA Old was spun off to 
what is now Kommunalkredit Austria AG. The reduction of the total exposure of EUR 44.1 billion at the end 
of 2008 to EUR 27.7 billion at the time of the demerger at the end of November 2009 primarily results from 
the spin-off of the strategic business, but also from the measures taken to run down the securities and CDS 
portfolios. The spin-off of the strategic business is refl ected in the reduction of the loan exposure (2008: 

31.12.2009
in EUR 1.000

Exposure Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

AAA 5.861.828 21,5 % 1.427.616 4.422.767 9.713

AA 7.255.166 26,6 % 2.526.938 3.594.059 562.587

A 6.914.848 25,3 % 3.559.608 1.510.465 1.134.920

BBB 6.303.669 23,1 % 2.974.944 892.225 787.336

BB 819.818 3,0 % 354.690 308.233 156.894

B 45.228 0,2 % 33.318 0 11.910

CCC 7.205 0,0 % 13.272 -6.067 0

C 67.004 0,2 % 31.433 5.000 30.571

non-rated 23.793 0,1 % 0 10.000 13.793

Total 27.298.559 100,0 % 10.921.820 10.736.682 2.707.723

28.11.2009
in EUR 1.000

Exposure Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

AAA 5.680.723 20,5 % 1.383.753 4.280.916 10.344

AA 7.383.756 26,7 % 2.989.241 3.240.357 556.455

A 10.044.441 36,3 % 4.528.244 1.683.872 1.391.148

BBB 3.650.300 13,2 % 2.157.986 728.767 579.039

BB 828.763 3,0 % 372.149 302.104 154.510

B 37.544 0,1 % 25.365 0 12.179

CCC 6.668 0,0 % 12.872 -6.203 0

D 61.886 0,2 % 26.515 5.000 30.370

non-rated 10.953 0,0 % 0 10.000 953

Total 27.705.034 100 % 11.496.125 10.244.843 2.734.998

31.12.2008
in EUR 1.000

Exposure Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

AAA 9.997.624 22,9 % 1.953.110 5.715.290 2.291.022

AA 15.467.493 34,2 % 3.954.077 3.126.586 6.852.809

A 11.821.551 27,7 % 5.945.598 2.609.861 2.955.602

BBB 6.048.800 13,5 % 2.273.891 1.621.288 1.975.548

BB 568.294 0,9 % 216.812 142.332 206.475

B 85.268 0,4 % 18.412 19.371 47.486

C 75.693 0,3 % 57.556 7 18.130

non-rated 7.401 0,0 % 7.375 0 25

Total 44.072.123 100,0 % 14.426.831 13.234.735 14.347.098

75



EUR 14.3 billion, 30-11-2009: EUR 2.7 billion) and, to a certain extent, in the reduction of the securities expo-
sure (2008: EUR 14.4 billion, 30-11-2009: EUR 11.5 billion). The reduction in CDS and guarantee exposures 
(2008: EUR 13.2 billion, 30-11-1009: EUR 10.2 billion) is not demerger-related, as the entire CDS exposure 
remained with KA Finanz AG. The lower CDS and guarantee exposures are essentially due to risk-mitigating 
rundown measures and partly (EUR 0.3 billion) to the contractual due dates of CDS transactions. 

Concentration risk

Risk concentrations are identifi ed prior to portfolio management deals (hedging and funding transactions only, 
no new investments and no new customer business) and in the course of the monthly credit risk reports 
submitted to the RMC. The total portfolio is broken down according to different parameters (breakdown by 
country, region, top 100 groups of related customers, rating, sector). In addition, risk concentrations in indi-
vidual sub-portfolios are identifi ed by the credit risk department, which also proposes appropriate measures in 
the course of its portfolio analyses. Portfolio analyses comprise correlating regional and/or sectoral risks or 
risk concentrations and permit the early detection, limitation and management of risk portfolios under current 
and future conditions. Depending on the risk assessment, reviews are performed at different intervals, but at 
least once a year. In specifi c cases, portfolio reviews may also be performed on an ad-hoc basis and between 
the scheduled intervals. 

The exposure to the top 20 “group of related customers” comprises 44.5% of the total exposure. Given the low 
expectation of default for the single-party exposures contained therein, the resulting risk is considered to be 
immaterial. Limits for concentration risks have only been set in the form of country risks, as KA Finanz AG is 
not engaging in any new credit business. All portfolios are being run down, with due consideration given to 
their risk content.

Country risk

KA Finanz AG defi nes the country risk as a political transfer risk. Exposures of subsidiaries and branch offi ces 
are not recognised in the country of the parent company, but in the country of establishment. The country risk 
of KA Finanz AG is reported by the RMC meeting on a monthly basis. For each country, information on the 
average rating, exposure by product type, expected and unexpected loss, and limit utilisation are reported. 

Geographically, the majority of exposures is accounted for by the core EU Member States (EU-15 incl. 
Austria, 63%) and the remaining EU Member States (12%). 59% of the exposure in the rest of the world 
(20%) is accounted for by the USA and Canada.

Geographic breakdown of credit exposures 

31.12.2009
in EUR 1.000

Exposure Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

Austria 2.928.131 10,7 % 316.391 534.077 214.746

EU-15 14.343.311 52,5 % 4.366.319 7.690.037 1.273.963

EU Central Europe 3.333.683 12,2 % 1.491.524 1.661.151 179.281

Non-EU Europe 774.075 2,8 % 176.405 273.875 322.064

Non-EU Eastern Europe 481.605 1,8 % 199.717 47.000 234.888

Other 5.437.754 19,9 % 4.371.464 530.541 482.783

Total 27.298.559 100,0 % 10.921.820 10.736.682*) 2.707.723
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The comparison with the previous year is of limited value, as the strategic business of KA Old was spun off to 
Kommunalkredit Austria AG. The reduction of the total exposure of EUR 44.1 billion at the end of 2008 to 
EUR 27.7 billion at the time of the demerger at the end of November 2009 results from the spin-off of the stra-
tegic business and from the measures taken to run down the securities and CDS portfolios. The spin-off of the 
strategic business is refl ected in the reduction of the Austrian exposure (2008: EUR 9.0 billion, 30-11-2009: 
EUR 3.1 billion), the “non-EU European exposure” (2008: EUR 2.5 billion, 30-11-2009: EUR 0.8 billion) 
and, to a certain extent, the exposures in the “EU-15” and “EU Central Europe” groups. The reduction in the 
“other countries” group (2008: 7.2 billion, 30-11-2009: EUR 5.4 billion) is essentially due to portfolio run-
down measures and partly to the contractual due dates of CDS transactions. 

Details on the CDS and guarantee exposure

The CDS and guarantee exposure of EUR 10.7 billion as of the end of 2009, which is contained in the overall 
exposure, primarily comprises exposures from single-name CDS (EUR 10.1 billion). Almost 75% of the CDS 
and guarantee exposure is rated AAA/AA, 97% is rated investment grade. It comprises exposures to the public 
sector (86%), banks (13%) and corporates (1%). Geographically, 92% of the exposure originates from the EU, 
with 77% accounted for by the EU-15 and 15% by the remaining EU Member States.  

The reduction in CDS and guarantee exposures (2008: EUR 13.2 billion, 30-11-1009: EUR 10.2 billion) is not 
demerger-related, as the entire CDS exposure remained with KA Finanz AG. The lower CDS and guarantee 
exposures are essentially due to risk-mitigating rundown measures and partly to the contractual due dates of 
CDS transactions. 

28.11.2009
in EUR 1.000

Total
exposure

Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

Austria 3.138.259 11,3 % 315.461 515.428 217.565

EU-15 14.576.605 52,6 % 4.998.216 7.223.198 1.274.035

EU Central Europe 3.326.451 12,0 % 1.495.745 1.637.061 191.864

Non-EU Europe 783.036 2,8 % 169.588 274.393 333.343

Non-EU Eastern Europe 500.623 1,8 % 197.376 52.000 251.248

Other 5.380.060 19,4 % 4.319.790 542.763 466.943

Total 27.705.034 100,0 % 11.496.125 10.244.843*) 2.734.998

31.12.2008
in EUR 1.000

Total
exposure

Proportion thereof 
securities

thereof CDS /
guarantees

thereof 
loans

Austria 9.023.033 20,5 % 740.172 1.114.211 6.531.070

EU-15 18.856.219 42,8 % 5.938.350 8.030.456 3.561.816

EU Central Europe 5.198.896 11,8 % 2.348.533 2.229.941 578.655

Non-EU Europe 2.464.525 5,6 % 239.286 389.938 1.833.720

Non-EU Eastern Europe 1.364.208 3,1 % 210.486 251.178 902.513

Other 7.165.243 16,3 % 4.950.005 1.219.011 939.323

Total 44.072.123 100,0 % 14.426.831 13.234.735 14.347.098

*) Two thirds of the exposure increase by 492 million between the demerger date (28-11-2009) and the balance sheet date 
(31-12-2009) are accounted for by exchange-rate fl uctuations and the resulting changes in reporting-date EUR equivalents of 
the underlying FX transactions; one third is due to the expiry of guarantees received for securities positions.
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Credit risk provisions

The portfolio is reviewed regularly for objective indications of impairments of customer exposures or expo-
sures to groups of related customers. Assessments of impairment losses are performed either in the course of 
the annual rating updates or on an ad-hoc basis. Loan loss provisions are determined by the risk management 
unit, subject to approval by the Executive Board.

Impairment provisions booked for non-performing loans include specifi c loan loss provisions and general pro-
visions based on the incurred loss model according to IFRS for losses already incurred but not yet reported.

KA Finanz AG has no fi nancial assets which were overdue for more than 90 days at the end of the reporting 
period, but not impaired. 

Identifi cation and management of increased credit risks, including watch list

The existing processes for the identifi cation and management of increased credit risks were extended in 2009 
and a multi-level risk control process was introduced. All counterparties are now classifi ed in four risk classes:

• Level 0 standard risk class for all counterparties not belonging to any of the following risk classes
• Level 1 counterparties with a slightly increased credit risk and/or a negative trend and therefore subject 

 to closer monitoring
• Level 2 problem exposures (payment arrears, credit impairment), except for workout cases in which default 
  according to Basel II has been identifi ed. Level 2 counterparties are all put on a so-called watch list.
• Level 3 default according to Basel II

Based on the service level agreement, KA Finanz AG receives an updated list (at least once a month) of coun-
terparties with an increased probability of default, which is monitored monthly by credit risk management and 
presented to the credit committee meeting of KA Finanz AG at least on a quarterly basis. For KA Finanz AG, 
the presentation of counterparties with an increased probability of default is a basis for qualitative information 
on the exposure at risk. Measures to be taken are agreed upon with the Executive Board at the credit commit-
tee meeting of KA Finanz AG.

Investment portfolio risk

Given the nature of the holding, the investment portfolio risk as part of the credit risk is of minor importance. 
Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd, as an essential holding, is fully included in the above risk fi gures on 
account of its full consolidation.

1) Compared with the previous year, specifi c loan loss provisions have been reduced mainly through regular redemptions and 
exposure rundown measures.

2) Incurred loss model according to IFRS. The reduction of portfolio provisions according to the incurred loss model of IAS 39 
results not only from the reduced asset base after the demerger, but also from a reduced need for specifi c provisioning during 
the detection period, which refl ects a certain improvement of the economic environment. 

in EUR Mio. Underlying exposure of 
specifi c loan loss provsions

Amount of loan loss provisions

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Allowance for credit risks 1) 501,9 521,8 360,6 393,6

Portfolio allowance based on incurred loss model 
according to IAS 39 2)

54,0 200,7

Total 414,6 594,1
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Maximum risk of default

The disclosure requirements according to IFRS 7.36(2) defi ne the maximum risk of default as the gross book 
value of loans and advances to customers, loans and advances to banks and fi nancial investments. According to 
this defi nition, the maximum risk of default in KA Finanz AG as of 31-12-2009 amounts to EUR 17,488.6 million. 

Liquidity risk

During the period under review, liquidity management was one of the essential management tasks. Its focus 
was not only on ensuring solvency at any point in time, but also on the control and improvement of the struc-
tural liquidity risk. 

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to maintain an adequate liquidity position. KA Finanz AG distin-
guishes between the liquidity risk in the narrow sense of the term (risk of insolvency) as the risk of the bank 
being unable to meet its present and future payment obligations fully or on schedule, and the funding risk as 
the risk of having to raise additional funding at increased cost. In terms of time, KA distinguishes between 
short-term (up to one year) and long-term (more than one year) liquidity management.

Liquidity risk management

Crucial elements of liquidity risk management include the following:

• analysis of the liquidity position
• reporting to the Executive Board
• determination of the medium- and long-term funding requirements, including a plan for own issues
• management and further development of the liquidity model

Short-term liquidity risk in the narrow sense  (< 1 year)

For the purposes of short-term liquidity control, the management relies on short- and medium-term liquidity 
scenarios drawn up on a daily basis. These scenarios include not only contractual payment fl ows, but also ex-
pected payment fl ows from new issues, the termination of deals, cashout from new deals, repo prolongations 
and liquidity demand for appropriations of cash collaterals (from CSA/ISDA arrangements). The resulting 
liquidity gaps are managed on a daily basis and/or subsequently on a monthly basis.

In the year under review, the bank began to work on the change-over of its system to the daily management of 
cash collaterals for the most important counterparties of derivative contracts. This will allow a faster genera-
tion of liquidity in the event of additional margin payments being required from counterparties.

The following table shows the expected liquidity gaps, the additional liquidity to be raised through external 
and internal measures, and the liquidity position after such measures, based on the term structure:

in million EUR as of 31.12.2009 Expected 
liquidity gap

Additional
realisable 

liquidity

Liquidity 
position after 

measures

up to 1 month -316 770 454

more than 1 month up to 3 months -687 350 -337

more than 3 months up to 1 year -1.174 1.110 -64

Total -2.177 2.230 53
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Long-term liquidity risk in the narrow sense  (≥ 1 year)

For the purposes of liquidity control and the structural analysis of its liquidity position, KA Finanz AG analyses 
the expected capital fl ows over the entire term of all on- and off-balance deals. The overhangs from capital in-
fl ows and capital payouts are monitored at a periodic and cumulative level and provide the basis for strategic 
liquidity control by the Executive Board.

Organisation and reporting

A liquidity forecast, including an assessment of additional liquidity available, is drawn up daily, reported daily 
to the chief treasury offi cer and submitted monthly to the full Executive Board within the framework of the 
RMC. In addition, the long-term liquidity risk is discussed by the full Executive Board at the monthly RMC 
meetings. Regular weekly meetings of the Executive Board and the treasury department are held for opera-
tional and strategic liquidity management. 

Emergency plan

The emergency funding plan (emergency plan) is intended to facilitate liquidity management in a critical market 
environment. The bank’s emergency plan specifi es the tasks and the composition of crisis management bodies 
to be set up in an emergency, the internal and external communication channels and, if necessary, the measures 
to be taken. In the event of an emergency, liquidity management is taken over by a crisis management body, 
which then decides on the specifi c measures to be taken.

Analysis of fi nancial liabilities

The following table shows the maturities of contractual, non-discounted cash fl ows from fi nancial liabilities:

Besides redemptions, the cash fl ows also comprise interest payments. For liabilities with variable cash fl ows, 
future cash fl ows are determined on the basis of forward rates.

The amounts have been allocated on the basis of their contractual rather than expected residual maturity. If the 
redemption term is at the borrower’s discretion, the amount is allocated to the maturity band with the earliest 
possible redemption. If payments have been pledged but not yet called, they are allocated to the maturity band 
with the earliest possible date of call. 

Market risk

The objective of market risk management is to optimise the risk position, with due consideration given to the 
economic environment and the competitive situation as well as the fair value risk and the effect on net interest 
income.

in million EUR as of 31.12.2009 Non derivative 
fi nancial liabilities

Derivative 
fi nancial liabilities*

up to 1 month 6.146 1.423

more than 1 month up to 3 months 2.095 3.864

more than 3 months up to 1 year 5.009 2.219

more than 1 year up to 5 years 6.946 6.566

more than 5 years 2.007 12.987

Total 22.203 27.058

*  Derivative fi nancial liabilities are increased due to the demerger and will be reduced signifi cantly in the course of 2010.
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Market risks arise from potential changes in risk factors which may result in changes in the market value of the 
underlying fi nancial positions of these parameters. KA Finanz AG distinguishes between interest rate risks, 
currency risks, spread widening risks and option price risks. Interest rate risks and currency risks are quanti-
fi ed on the basis of value-at-risk approaches, whereas spread widening risks are measured by means of 
the present value of a basis point (DV01) and option price risks are calculated on the basis of 16 parameter 
scenarios (volatility and interest rate changes).

The objective of the value-at risk approach is to determine a potential negative change in value, which – with a 
certain degree of probability – will not be exceeded within a specifi ed period of time. KA Finanz AG uses the 
variance/co-variance approach based on historical volatilities and correlations.

The sensitivity analysis for the spread widening risk shows the cash effect of a spread change by +1 BP on the 
portfolio concerned. This analysis does not show the effect of different spread volatilities within the portfolio, 
but this disadvantage is acceptable due to the structure and size of the portfolio. The calculation of option price 
risks on the basis of a scenario matrix is also intended to discover potentially negative changes in value. How-
ever, not all possible combinations of changes in market value can be calculated. Nevertheless, this is accept-
able on account of the small scale of option price risks.

Interest rate risk

For the purposes of effi ciently controlling the interest-rate risk and net interest income, KA uses an analysis 
and simulation tool (interest-rate gap structure for each currency, VaR, sensitivity analyses, simulation trades), 
which permits the forecast and targeted control of the interest-rate risk, measured in terms of P&L sensitivity 
of the fair-value-through-profi t-or-loss portfolio, and of net interest income. Due to the demerger, the P&L 
sensitivity of the fair-value-through-profi t-or-loss portfolio cannot be determined at Group level before 
completion of the planned merger.

Within the framework of interest-rate risk control, the gap structures – broken down by currency – are analysed 
and their impact on the overall position as well as the risk position of the fair-value-through-profi t-or-loss port-
folio is quantifi ed for different scenarios. To support the decision-making process, the impact of control meas-
ures on exposure and performance fi gures can be simulated at RMC meetings.

The risk from interest-rate changes is monitored and controlled at least on a monthly basis. Equally weighted 
historical volatilities and correlations with a past observation period of 150 days are used to calculate the interest 
VaR (holding period of 20 trading days, confi dence interval of 90%). The interest VaR calculated considers 
KF’s entire portfolio of transactions, but not its equity (paid in capital and reserves). As of 31-12-2009, the inter-
est VaR stood at TEUR 16,871.1 (2008: TEUR 45,987.2). The average interest VaR of the period under review 
was TEUR 31,484. The most recent interest VaR of the fair-value-through-profi t-or-loss portfolio prior to the 
demerger was TEUR 1,058.5 as of 31-10-2009 (holding period 20 trading days, confi dence interval 90%).

Currency risk

Currency risks arise, above all, in connection with short-term and long-term funding. It has always been KF‘s 
fundamental risk strategy not to take any open FX positions. To this end, a system for the control of open cur-
rency positions was established, which considers not only disbursements and redemptions, but also interest, 
commission and premium deferrals and accruals as well as cash-outs from the derivatives business.

The currency risk is monitored and controlled on a daily basis. Exponentially weighted historical volatilities 
and correlations of exchange rates with a past observation period of 400 days are used to calculate the FX VaR 
(holding period of 1 trading day, confi dence interval of 99%). The calculation is made with a weighting factor 
of 0.94. As of 31-12-2009, the FX VaR stood at TEUR 10.0 (2008: TEUR 60.6). The average FX VaR in the 
period under review was TEUR 17.6. 

81



Spread widening risk  

KA Finanz AG defi nes the spread widening risk (DV01) as the net present value risk in the event of changing 
credit spreads. Rising credit spreads have a negative net present value effect on the existing portfolio, as in on-
balance transactions payment fl ows are discounted at a higher yield curve, which results in lower net present 
values. For existing CDS, spread widening also results in a valuation loss. The sensitivity to a spread widening 
by + 1BP is calculated for the entire CDS portfolio and the entire securities and loan portfolio. 

As of 31-12-2009, the net present value sensitivity at a spread widening by + 1 BP amounted to EUR -4.8 million 
(2008: EUR -5.9 million) for the entire CDS portfolio. As all CDS remained with KA Finanz AG after the 
demerger, the reduction in sensitivity results mainly from hedging and rundown measures taken in 2009 and 
partly from the shorter duration of the remaining portfolio. The sensitivity of the CDS portfolio to credit spread 
changes is P&L- relevant.

In the period under review, the calculation of the spread widening risk was rolled out to the entire securities 
and loan portfolio. The net present value sensitivity of the entire securities portfolio as of the end of 2009 is 
EUR -6.5 million. The spread widening risk of the entire loan portfolio as of 31-12-2009 is EUR -1.1 million.

The P&L-relevant spread widening risk of the fair-value-through-profi t-or-loss portfolio at a spread widening 
of +1 BP was EUR -1.6 million as of 31-12-2010. Due to the relatively low spread changing potential of the 
underlying portfolio and the intended rundown, the absolute level is considered to be low.

Option price risk

Option risks exclusively exist with options embedded in an underlying transaction (own issues, bond or swap). 
To limit option price risks that are not fully hedged, 16 price scenarios are calculated on the basis of volatility 
and interest-rate changes. The worst result of the scenarios is monitored and limited.

As of 31-12-2009, the option price risk amounted to EUR -2.6 million. This amount is representative of the 
year under review, as most of the options not fully hedged and embedded were not spun off.

Operational risk

KA Finanz AG defi nes operational risk as the possibility of losses incurred due to the inadequacy or failure of 
internal processes, people and systems or as a result of external events. The legal risk and the reputational risk 
are also part of the operational risk. External events which are classifi ed purely as credit risk, market risk, 
liquidity risk or other types of risk are not covered by this defi nition. Operational risk management (ORM) is 
intended not only to identify and evaluate risks, but also to generate added value for the bank through the 
ORM process.

A clear division of tasks within the ORM process has been agreed upon and an operational risk offi cer has 
been appointed for KA Finanz AG. Operational risk correspondents (ORC), appointed by the management after 
consultation of the operational risk offi cer, act as points of contact for the individual departments and support 
the ORM process. In addition, the operational risk offi cer of KA Finanz AG receives regular reports on opera-
tional risk events in accordance with the provisions of the service level agreement.

An operational default database and risk & control self-assessments are the instruments available for the 
manage ment of operational risks. The operational default database represents a retrospective view, i.e. the 
profi ts/losses generated by an operational event in the past are recorded in the database and cleared for further 
processing by the line managers in charge. Operational risk & control self-assessments represent a prospec-
tive, future-oriented view. Risks are identifi ed and assessed subjectively for their severity. At KA Finanz AG 
these assessments are performed as coached self-assessments, i.e. individual risks are assessed and evaluated 
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by the departments concerned. The entries in the operational default database serve as input and provide feed-
back for the revaluation of risks. Within the framework of the RMC meetings, the management is informed 
regularly about operational risks.

Business Continuity Management (BCM) is based on international standards*. The management approach en-
sures adequate, comprehensive and effi cient business continuity management. This includes the drafting and 
management of continuity and start-up plans as well as the implementation of measures designed to minimise 
interruptions of critical business processes. 

Other risks

Other risks identifi ed by KA Finanz AG: 

• equity risk, 
• strategic risk and 
• earnings risk. 

Other risks are not quantifi ed. KA therefore maintains an adequate capital buffer for protection against these 
risks within the framework of the ICAAP. Other risks are managed and controlled through organisational 
measures.

Basel 2

Valuations in the corporate segment are based on the FIRB approach. For the time being, the standard 
approach continues to be applied to fi nancial institutions, to the sovereign segment, including territorial 
authorities, to public-sector entities and special fi nancing models.

In September 2007, Österreichische Volksbanken-AG (VBAG), then in its capacity as a superordinate fi nancial 
institution, applied on behalf of Kommunalkredit Austria AG for approval of an internal-rating-based approach 
(Foundation IRB – FIRB).

Having performed a detailed audit of the documentation submitted between September and November 2007, 
the Austrian National Bank (OeNB) confi rmed that the conditions for use of the internal-rating-based approach 
pursuant to Sect. 21.a.1.1, it.1 to 8, of the Austrian Banking Act were met. As of 31-03-2008, the offi cial letter 
of acceptance was issued to the KA Sub-Group by the Financial Market Authority.

The standard approach is applied to operational risks.

On account of the deconsolidation of the Kommunalkredit Austria AG Group from the VBAG Group as of the 
end of 2008, the Kommunalkredit Austria AG Group obtained the status of a superordinate fi nancial institution. 
Based on service level agreements with the VBAG Group, KA Finanz AG continues to apply the current Basel 
2 approach until its own systems are implemented.

ICAAP

As the superordinate fi nancial institution, KA Finanz AG is obliged to comply with its own ICAAP pursuant to 
Sect. 39.a of the Austrian Banking Act.

* e.g. BCM Standard BS 25999-1 published by British Standards 
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KF’s ICAAP was subjected to an internal audit in 2009. The audit covered the risk strategy, the measurement 
and recording of risk types, risk aggregation, risk cover funds as well as the risk management process and risk 
limitation. Measures to further develop the ICAAP in KA Finanz AG have been derived from the internal audit 
performed in 2009 and have already been or are being implemented.

The statement of risk-carrying capacity compares the economic risk position with the funds available to cover 
the risk. The risk assessment is performed monthly and reported to the RMC. The systems used for this purpose 
are SAP, zeb/credit.risk-manager and NumeriX. An adequate buffer for non-quantifi able risks is comprised in 
the risk cover fund.

65. Legal risks

Legal risks are risks of losses arising from non-compliance with the legal framework defi ned through legal 
provisions and court rulings due to ignorance (including non-culpable or unavoidable ignorance), lack of dili-
gence in the application of the law or failure to react in time to changes in the legal framework. 

Two former members of the Executive Board brought an action against KA Finanz AG before the Labour and 
Social Court of Vienna for allegedly unjustifi ed early termination of their Executive Board contracts, claiming 
compensation for wrongful dismissal. The fi nancial risk involved amounts to approx. EUR 3 million each, plus 
interest. KA Finanz AG lodged a counter-claim for damages in both cases. As matters now stand, KA Finanz 
AG does not expect the claim lodged by the former members of the Executive Board to succeed. 

In the criminal proceedings against former members of the Executive Board, KA Finanz AG, as the legal 
successor to Kommunalkredit Austria AG, is listed as a defendant pursuant to the Act on Corporate Criminal 
Liability by the Offi ce of the Public Prosecutor in Vienna. As matters now stand, a verdict of guilty is not 
expected. Fines imposed depend on the income situation (min. EUR 10,000.00 to max. EUR 1,300,000.00).

Apart from the above, there are no other legal risks as of the end of the year under review.

66. Other obligations

Pursuant to Sect. 93 of the Austrian Banking Act, KA is obliged to undertake proportional safeguarding of 
depositors’ accounts within the framework of the deposit guarantee regime of Banken und Bankiers Gesell-
schaft mbH, Vienna. 

Based on the debtor warrant described in Note 4, Recapitalisation, KA Finanz AG committed itself to distribute 
future annual surpluses to Kommunalkredit until complete redemption of the debtor warrant (EUR 1.0 billion + 
interest accrued, i.e. EUR 1.003 billion as of 31-12-2009). Given the fact that payments on the debtor warrant 
are currently indeterminate in terms of both time and amount, no provision has been set up as of 31-12-2009 
according to IAS 37.14. If a provisioning requirement is identifi ed upon clarifi cation of the market situation, 
the corresponding provisions will be charged to expenses.

Based on the surety agreement dated 17 November 2009, the Republic of Austria assumed liability, as a guarantor 
and payer, to KA for the obligations of a special purpose company arising from the put arrangement for the 
debtor warrant, effective as of 30 November 2009. The term of the guarantee is three years. As the economic 
benefi ciary of the guarantee given by the Republic of Austria to Kommunalkredit, KF has to pay a guarantee 
fee in the amount of 10% p.a. of the amount guaranteed to the Republic of Austria. 

For issues of government-guaranteed bonds, the Republic of Austria assumed liability to KA Finanz AG as a 
guarantor for the repayment obligations arising from the issues. As of 31-12-2009, the Republic of Austria has 
assumed liability to KA Finanz AG for an outstanding nominal amount of EUR 6.77 billion. As the economic 
benefi ciary, KA Finanz AG has to pay a guarantee fee to the Republic of Austria over the term of the issues.

84



67. Time of disclosure for publication

The present Annual Financial Statements were signed by the Executive Board on 16-04-2009 and released for 
transmission to the Supervisory Board.

68. Information on employees

In the course of the demerger, all employees were transferred to Kommunalkredit Austria AG. As of 31-12-2009, 
the KF Group therefore only had 22 employees working for KIB in Cyprus, whose employment contracts are 
to be terminated in the course of the merger planned for 2010. Eleven employees (excl. Executive Board) are 
working full time for KF on the basis of 100% secondment contracts from KA. These employees are responsible 
for portfolio management, risk management and the operational processes of the company. Moreover, KF 
receives operational services from KA on the basis of a service level agreement.

Prior to the demerger, the company had an average headcount of 285 (2008: 314) (employees of fully consoli-
dated companies, with part-time employees weighted according to the extent of employment).

69. Information on emoluments of and loans to Board members

The following table contains information on the total emoluments of members of the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board as well as on severance payments and pensions for members of the Executive Board, senior 
offi cers and other employees (including changes in provisions and reserves):

As in the previous year, no loans to members of the Executive Board and members of the Supervisory Board 
were outstanding as of 31-12-2009. No guarantees by KA Finanz AG were given for these persons.

70. Events after the balance-sheet date

As of 24-03-2010 (value date). KF issued a government-guaranteed bond with a volume of EUR 1 billion. 
Based on the government guarantee, the bond was awarded a triple-A rating by Fitch, Standard & Poors (S&P) 
and Moody’s.

Having been mandated to rate KF at the beginning of the year, S&P published its ratings on 03-03-2010, 
awarding the company a long-term rating of A and a short-term rating of A1. Thus, KF has been rated highly in 
the short-term segment by both Fitch (F1+) and S&P (A-1). The company intends to have Moody’s rating 
withdrawn.

in EUR 1.000 2009 2008

Total emoluments

Active Executive Board members 672,7 1.115,1

Active Supervisory Board members 0,0 20,0

Former Executive Board members 266,7 278,3

Expenses for severance payments and pensions and other expenses

Executive Board members and senior offi cers – severance payments and pensions *) 610,5 138,6

Other employees – severance payments and pensions 611,2 141,3

Other – other expenses 75,0 0,0

*) of which expenses of TEUR 63.5 for the Executive Board in 2009
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71. Information on the Boards of the bank

Executive board

Alois Steinbichler
Chairman of the Executive Board

Andreas Fleischmann
Member of the Executive Board since 1 February 2009

Pierre Vérot
Member of the Executive Board until 30 April 2009

Supervisory board

Elected by the general meeting on 8 January 2009

Klaus Liebscher
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Adolf Wala
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Helmut Mödlhammer

Werner Muhm

Herbert Paierl

Georg Schöppl

Franz Hofer (delegated by the Staff Council)

Martin Öhlknecht (delegated by the Staff Council)

Christine Sipek (delegated by the Staff Council)

Prior to closing on 5 January 2009:

Franz Pinkl
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

François Durollet

François Laugier

Wolfgang Perdich

Franz Hofer
(delegated by the Staff Council)
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Martin Öhlknecht
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Christine Sipek
(delegated by the Staff Council)

Astrid Sukup until 7 January 2009
(delegated by the Staff Council)

State commissioner

Peter Braumüller
State Commissioner

Wolfgang Nitsche
Deputy State Commissioner

Government commissioner

Appointed as Government Commissioners for depository management of the cover pool for funded bonds:

Heinrich Traumüller
Government Commissioner

Peter Braumüller
Deputy Government Commissioner

The Executive Board of KA Finanz AG

Mag. Alois Steinbichler                Mag. Andreas Fleischmann
  Chairman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board

Vienna, 16 April 2010
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Auditor’s report

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of 

KA Finanz AG,
Vienna,

for the fi nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2009. The Consolidated Financial Statements 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2009, the Consolidated Income Statement, the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the business year 
ended on 31 December 2009, as well as the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management’s responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial State-
ments in accordance with international the Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria and in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (IAASB) of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). These standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement in the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the consolidated fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Audit opinion

Our audit did not give rise to any objections. Based on the results of our audit, in our opinion the Consolidated 
Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the Group as of 31 December 
2009, and its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows for the fi nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2009 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Laws and regulations applicable in Austria require us to audit whether the Consolidated Management Discus-
sion is consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements and whether the other disclosures made in 
the Consolidated Management Discussion do not give rise to misconceptions of the position of the Group. 
The audit opinion also has to contain a statement as to whether the Consolidated Management Discussion is 
consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Management Discussion is consistent with the Consolidated Financial State-
ments.

Vienna, 16 April 2010

KPMG Austria GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

  DDr. Martin Wagner  Mag. Walter Reiffenstuhl
  Austrian Chartered Accountant Austrian Chartered Accountant

Publication or transmission of the Consolidated Financial Statements with our Auditor’s Report is only permit-
ted in the version certifi ed by us. This Auditor’s Report exclusively refers to the German-language version and 
the complete Consolidated Financial Statements, including the Consolidated Management Discussion. For 
other versions, the provisions of Sect. 281.2 of the new Austrian Company Code apply.
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Report by the supervisory board to the annual 
general meeting

2009 was a year marked by a profound restructuring process. In the wake of an acute liquidity crisis and based 
on the contract dated 3 November 2008, the Republic of Austria took over 99.78% of the former Kommunal-
kredit Austria AG on 5 January 2009; 0.22% remained with the Association of Austrian Municipalities. A re-
structuring plan approved by the Supervisory Board, which was elaborated after the takeover in accordance 
with the relevant legal provisions and in conformity with the competition rules of the European Commission, 
is being implemented.

The composition of the Boards of the bank changed in the course of this process. As of 7 November 2008, 
Alois Steinbichler was appointed to serve as Chairman of the Executive Board. As of 1 February 2009, 
Andreas Fleischmann was appointed Member of the Executive Board. Pierre Vérot, Member of the Executive 
Board from 1 October 2008, resigned from his position as of the end of April.

At the extraordinary general meeting of 8 January 2009, the Supervisory Board was newly appointed as 
follows:

• Klaus Liebscher, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG 
(FIMBAG)

• Adolf Wala, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG 
(FIMBAG) 

• Werner Muhm, Director of the Vienna Chamber of Labour and the Federal Chamber of Labour
• Herbert Paierl, Executive Vice President of Cosma Europa/Magna
• Georg Schöppl, Member of the Board of Österreichische Bundesforste AG

Re-elected to the Supervisory Board: 

• Helmut Mödlhammer, President of the Association of Austrian Municipalities 

Delegated by the Staff Council, as previously:

• Franz Hofer
• Christine Sipek
• Martin Öhlknecht

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board intensively monitored the situation of the company and 
its restructuring process.

During the fi rst half of the year, the deconsolidation of Dexia Kommunalkredit Bank was prepared and imple-
mented. On 28 May 2009, the restructuring plan was adopted by the Supervisory Board and submitted to the 
Directorate General for Competition of the European Commission through the Federal Ministry of Finance. At 
its meeting of 15 October 2009, the Supervisory Board took the necessary decisions regarding the implemen-
tation of the restructuring process. On 17 November 2009, the demerger of Kommunalkredit Austria AG was 
decided by the Supervisory Board and approved by the extraordinary general meeting. This general meeting 
also appointed PwC INTER-TREUHAND GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft as 
the new auditors for the separate and consolidated fi nancial statements for the business year 2010.

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board of Kommunalkredit Austria AG convened a total of 
twelve meetings. At its 12th meeting on 17 November 2009, it decided on the demerger of the company into 
KA Finanz AG as the legal successor to Kommunalkredit Austria AG, and Kommunalkredit Austria AG as the 
legal successor to Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG. On 4 December 2009, the Supervisory Board held its 13th 
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meeting as the Supervisory Board of KA Finanz AG. The audit committee of the Supervisory Board held four 
meetings (one of them in its capacity as audit committee of KA Finanz AG). The credit committee of the 
Supervisory Board held four meetings; on six occasions, decisions were taken by circular resolution.

The Supervisory Board adopted new rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 27 January 
2009 and new rules of procedure for the Executive Board at its meeting of 25February 2009. Likewise, a 
credit committee, an audit committee and an executive committee were set up. In the course of the demerger, 
the rules of procedure had to be adjusted to the new situation of KA Finanz AG as the legal successor to 
Kommunal kredit Austria AG. At its meeting of 4 December 2009, the Supervisory Board adopted revised rules 
of procedure for the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board; at the same time, the credit committee was 
renamed approvals committee.

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the main task of KA Finanz AG consists in phasing out its non-strate-
gic activities (CDS and securities portfolios as well as the assets of the Cyprus-based subsidiary). The main 
objective is to preserve the value recovery potential of the assets and to run down the portfolio, with due con-
sideration given to prevailing market conditions.

These Financial Statements and the Management Discussion for the year under review were audited by KPMG 
Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs¬gesellschaft, Vienna. The audit, which did not give 
rise to any objections, met all legal requirements and an unqualifi ed audit opinion was issued thereon. The 
Supervisory Board endorsed the result of the audit and approved the 2009 Annual Financial Statements. More-
over, the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2009, including the Management Discussion, 
were also audited and taken note of. 

The Supervisory Board

Klaus Liebscher
Chairman

Vienna, 27 April 2010 
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Statement by the legal representatives

KA Finanz AG
Consolidated Financial Statements 2009 according to IFRS

We herewith confi rm to the best of our knowledge that the Consolidated Financial Statements according to 
IFRS, prepared in conformity with the relevant accounting standards, present a true and fair view of the 
fi nancial position of the Group, that the Consolidated Management Discussion presents the development of 
business, the results and the position of the Group in such a way that it conveys a true and fair view of the 
fi nancial position of the Group, and that the Consolidated Management Discussion describes the essential risks 
and uncertainties the Group is exposed to.

The Executive Board of KA Finanz AG

Mag. Alois Steinbichler                Mag. Andreas Fleischmann
  Chairman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board

Vienna, 16 April 2010
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Balance sheet of KA Finanz AG (Austrian banking act)

Assets in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

1. Cash and balances with central banks 545.890.381,05 166.770.476,62

2. Public-sector debt instruments eligible as collateral
  for funding from the central bank
  Public-sector debt instruments and similar securities 30.904.887,56

30.904.887,56 77.767.222,83

77.767.222,83

3. Loans and advances to banks
  a) repayable on demand
  b) other receivables

34.083.365,65
9.863.694.870,59

9.897.778.236,24 10.257.620.058,86
225.548.345,46

10.032.071.713,40

4. Loans and advances to customers 2.088.404.987,69 12.219.701.450,91

5. Bonds and other fi xed-income securities
  a) of public issuers
  b) of other issuers
    of which: 
    own bonds

2.479.899.284,54
1.724.071.072,19

813.255.890,42

4.203.970.356,73 5.764.946.633,80
4.050.644.031,80
1.714.302.602,00

28.922.145,84

6. Shares and other variable-income securities 2.707.590,00 67.593.702,10

7. Holdings
  of which: 
  in banks

0,00
23.142,67 143,67

1,00

8. Investments in affi liated companies
  of which: 
  in banks

0,00
765.000,00 195.064.299,94

187.959.451,82

9. Intanible non-current assets 0,00 177.071,70

10. Property and equipment 0,00 2.043.713,13

11. Other assets 829.507.384,03 1.065.386.376,93

12. Deferrals 57.327.867,45 70.617.366,32

17.657.279.833,42 29.887.688.516,81

  Off-balance-sheet items

1. Foreign assets 15.705.825.368,41 17.395.564.329,48
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Liabilities in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

1. Amounts owed to banks
  a) repayable on demand
  b) with agreed maturity or period of call

17.138.759,21
8.361.668.205,56

8.378.806.964,77 1.121.350.321,63
6.976.399,74

11.114.373.921,89

2. Amounts owed to customers
  other liabilities
  of which:
  aa) repayable on demand
  bb) with agreed maturity or period of call

2.586.255,14
71.621.998,60

74.208.253,74 985.207.593,66

3.126.964,83
982.080.628,83

3. Securitised liabilities
  a) Bonds issued
  b) Other securities liabilities

6.827.015.850,49
832.045.866,33

7.659.061.716,82 16.148.155.218,58
12.960.417.318,73
3.187.737.899,85

4. Other liabilities 798.395.227,49 719.269.800,93

5. Deferrals 51.442.111,15 65.392.536,78

6. Provisions
  a) Provisions for severance payments
  b) Provisions for pensions
  c) Tax provisions
  d) Other

 
0,00
0,00
0,00

16.300.459,81

16.300.459,81 88.501.652,75
1.771.592,26
4.609.278,97
2.362.367,83

79.758.413,69

7. Subordinated liabilities 202.694.504,62 197.629.285,44

8. Supplementary capital 101.685.155,29 214.581.572,24

9. Participation capital 434.126.750,00 200.000.000,00

10. Subscribed capital 22.346.025,00 22.346.025,00

11. Capital reserves
  a) earmarked
  b) non-earmarked

9.351.162,04
60.000.000,00

69.351.162,04 341.439.924,41
341.439.924,41

0,00

12. Retained earnings
  a) statutory reserve
  b) other reserves

0,00
118.551.020,86

118.551.020,86 53.504.103,56
1.485.171,11

52.018.932,45

13. Liability reserve persuant to Sect. 23.6 Austr. Banking Act 76.091.088,46 76.091.088,46

14. Net loss -345.780.606,63 -345.780.606,63

17.657.279.833,42 29.887.688.516,81

  Items under the balance sheet

1. Contingent liabilities
  of which:
  a) Liabilities from sureties and guarantees 
        from collateral provision

8.016.530.778,79

8.016.530.778,79 6.355.584.797,69

6.355.584.797,69

2. Credit risks
  of which:
  Liabilities from repo transactions 0,00

36.455.241,74 875.000.858,16

92.429.336,95

3. Eligible own funds pursuant to Sect. 23.14 Austrian Banking Act
  of which: 
  own funds pursuant to Sect. 23.14.It.7 Austrian Banking Act 

749.370.879,46 668.882.784,66

4. Own funds required pursuant to Sect. 22.1 Austrian Banking Act
  of which:
  own funds required pursuant to Sect. 22.1.It.1 and 4 Austrian Banking Act

395.786.890,00
395.996.055,35 552.148.815,32

551.800.619,91

5. Foreign liabilities 7.257.167.796,16 21.198.028.785,73
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Income statement of KA Finanz AG 
(Austrian banking act)

in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

1. Interest and similar income
  of which: from fi xed-income securities
2. Interest and similar expenses

203.320.026,97
1.877.276.213,01

1.866.647.425,56

2.685.376.823,11
282.899.718,14

2.621.608.846,32

I.  Net interest income 10.628.787,45 63.767.976,79

3. Income from securities and holdings
  a) Income from other variable-interest securities
  b) Income from investments in affi liated companies
4. Fee and commission income
5. Fee and commission expenses
6. Income/expenses from fi nancial transactions
7. Other operating income

0,00
405.500,00

405.500,00

22.857.369,83
166.364.855,39
-13.227.438,04

5.460.048,14

8.181.991,27
118.396,16

8.063.595,11
16.294.643,38

9.249.086,53
321.776,33

1.364.737,43

II. Operating income -140.240.588,01 80.682.038,67

8. General administrative expenses
  a) Personalaufwand
      of which:
      aa) Salaries
    bb) Expenses for statutory social charges and 
      salary-dependent charges and compulsory  
      contributions
           cc) Other social expenses
       dd) Expenses for old age provision and support
       ee) Appropriation to pension provisions
      ff) Expenses for severance payments and 
      contributions to ccompany pension plans
  b) other administrative expenses 
    (non-personnel expenses))
9. Impairments of assets included in asset items 9 and 10
10. Other operating expenses

7.402.307,99
2.000.044,89

375.606,93
416.790,47

-106.124,90
21.303,52

10.109.928,90

21.438.029,83

31.547.958,73

104.367,26
46.197,50

26.072.441,23
13.299.226,97

10.397.241,55
2.588.335,10

479.528,84
1.226.932,63

-1.306.315,96
-86.495,19

12.773.214,26

313.408,65
0,00

III. Operating expenses 31.698.523,49 26.385.849,88

IV. Operating result -171.939.111,50 54.296.188,79

11. Balance of income/expenses from the measurement 
  of receivables and contingent liabilities as well as 
  the disposal and measurement of securities 
  reported as current assets
12. Balance of income/expenses from the disposal of 
  fi nancial investmens measured as securities as well 
  as holdins and investments in affi liated companies

-427.200.471,05

-663.822.892,05

-134.854.413,38

-245.691.113,44

V. Result of ordinary activities -1.262.962.474,60 -326.249.338,03

13. Non-recurrent income
14. Non-recurrent expenses
15. Non-recurrent result

1.000.000.000,00
0,00

1.000.000.000,00

0,00
0,00
0,00

16. Taxes on income
17. Other taxes not to be shown under item 16

-252.639,57
-3.826.730,90

1.412.367,83
1.730.591,40

VI. Defi cit for the year -267.041.845,07 -329.392.297,26

18. Appropriation to/release from reserves
  of which:
  appropriation to / release of liability reserve

Dotierung (-)
-194.642.109,32

-76.091.088,46

Aufl ösung (+)
461.683.954,39

76.091.088,46

 
267.041.845,07

 
-16.391.930,48
-16.391.930,48

VII. Net loss / income for the year  0,00 -345.784.227,74

19. Distribution on participation capital 0,00 -3.145.371,66

20. Profi t / loss carried forward -345.780.606,63 3.148.992,77

VIII. Net loss -345.780.606,63 -345.780.606,63
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Notes to the fi nancial statements of KA Finanz AG, 
Vienna

In these Financial Statements, the following names are used for the entities involved: 

• Kommunalkredit Austria AG prior to the demerger:    KA Old
• Kommunalkredit Austria AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009  
  (formerly Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG):    KA
• KA Finanz AG, since the demerger on 28 November 2009,  
  (formerly Kommunalkredit Austria AG (KA Old):    KF

1. General information

KA Finanz AG (hereinafter called KF), with its registered offi ce in 1090 Vienna, Türkenstrasse 9, is a specialised 
bank mandated to phase out the non-strategic business of the former Kommunalkredit Austria AG on a long-
term basis. It is registered with the Commercial Court of Vienna under Companies Register number 128283b.

KF was established in the course of a restructuring process which had to be implemented after the emergency 
nationalisation of KA Old in the wake of the fi nancial crisis. KA Old was split into two credit institutions: 
Kommunalkredit Austria AG took over the core business of KA Old, which comprises, in particular, municipal 
loan business and infrastructure-related project fi nance business. KF retained the other, non-strategic business 
(in particular the securities business, the credit default portfolio and the holding in Kommunalkredit Inter-
national Bank Ltd, Cyprus (KIB)). The purpose of business of KF is to manage and realise the existing port-
folio in the best possible manner, minimising the input of funds of the Republic of Austria. KF is not intended 
to conduct any new business involving loans, securities or CDS sell positions, but for the purposes of active 
portfolio management KF continues to engage actively in banking transactions, particularly for funding 
purposes, but also in the derivatives segment for interest, FX and portfolio hedging. 

In legal terms, the procedure involved a demerger of the core business of the former Kommunalkredit Austria 
AG for transfer to the subsidiary Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG and the payout of the shares to the owners 
of Kommunalkredit Austria AG. After the demerger, Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG was renamed Kommu-
nalkredit Austria AG, while KA Old with its non-strategic business was renamed KA Finanz AG. The report-
ing date for the demerger in terms of commercial and tax law was 30 June 2009. The demerger was entered 
into the Companies Register on 28 November 2009. Thus, the demerger became legally effective in terms of 
civil law.

The Republic of Austria holds 99.78% of the shares of KF, while the remaining shares are held by the Association 
of Austrian Municipalities. KF is the superordinate fi nancial institution of a group of fi nancial institutions, as 
defi ned in Sect. 30 of the Austrian Banking Act. KF prepares its consolidated fi nancial statements on the basis 
of IFRS pursuant to Section 59.a of the Austrian Banking Act.

These consolidated fi nancial statements are deposited with the Court of Commercial Registration of the 
Commercial Court of Vienna.
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2. Demerger of KA Old

The demerger had the following effects on the balance sheet of KF:

Demerger balance sheet as of 30-06-2009 in EUR Closing balance 
sheet as of 

30-06-2009

Disposal
through 

demerger

Balance sheet 
after demerger

1. Cash and balances with central banks 413.340.116,6 0,0 413.340.116,6

2. Public-sector debt instruments eligible as collateral for funding 
  from central bank

170.127.377,3 138.578.556,1 31.548.821,2

3. Loans and advances to banks*) 10.658.349.505,3 3.619.923.404,0 9.802.540.898,2

4. Loans and advances to customers 12.046.136.397,0 9.920.866.017,2 2.125.270.379,8

5. Bonds and other fi xed-income securities
  a) of public issuers
  b) of other issuers

6.343.836.343,7
3.959.121.234,9
2.384.715.108,8

1.874.857.925,9
1.477.951.166,5

396.906.759,4

4.468.978.417,8
2.481.170.068,4
1.987.808.349,4

6. Shares and other variable-income securities 25.909.586,9 0,0 25.909.586,9

7. Holdings 23.142,7 0,0 23.142,7

8. Investments in affi liated companies 195.064.299,9 12.299.299,9 182.765.000,0

9. Intangible assets held as non-current assets 106.995,2 106.995,2 0,0

10. Property and equipment 1.935.942,5 1.935.942,5 0,0

11. Other assets 630.302.333,2 287.222.096,0 343.080.237,3

12. Deferred items 74.195.831,6 43.919.068.3 30.276.763,3

Assets 30.559.327.872,0 15.899.709.305,1 17.423.733.363,8

Demerger balance sheet as of 30-06-2009 in EUR Closing balance 
sheet as of 

30-06-2009

Disposal
through 

demerger

Balance sheet 
after demerger

1. Amounts owed to banks*) 8.922.724.687,3 1.781.515.423,9 9.905.324.060,3

2. Amounts owed to customers 1.245.931.074,5 498.843.038,9 747.088.035,5

3. Securitised liabilities
  a) bonds issued
  b) other securitised liabilities

18.726.907.581,0
16.061.651.072,0

2.665.256.509,0

13.072.916.906,4
10.555.339.757,1

2.517.577.149,3

5.653.990.674,6
5.506.311.314,9

147.679.359,7

4. Other liabilities 494.937.567,7 241.995.268,3 252.942.299,4

5. Deferred items 63.205.611,3 39.364.639,2 23.840.972,1

6. Provisions 24.204.508,1 10.291.619,2 13.912.888,9

7. Subordinated liabilities 268.844.521,8 66.044.889,5 202.799.632,3

8. Supplementary capital 208.375.133,3 50.364.269,7 158.010.863,6

9. Participation capital 572.500.000,0 138.373.250,0 434.126.750,0

10. Subscribed capital 22.346.025,0 0,0 22.346.025,0

11. Capital reserves 9.351.162,0 0,0 9.351.162,0

12. Retained earnings 0,0 0,0 0,0

13. Liability reserve pursuant to Sect. 23.6 Austrian Banking Act 0,0 0,0 0,0

14. Net loss / profi t 0,0 0,0 0,0

Liabilities  30.559.327.872,0 15.899.709.305,1 17.423.733.363,8

*) including demerger-related offsetting items of EUR 2,764,114,796.85
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On account of the demerger-related changes shown here, a comparison with the previous year’s balance-sheet 
and income-statement fi gures is of limited value.

3. Recapitalisation / debtor warrant

Within the framework of the capitalisation agreement with the Republic of Austria and Kommunalkredit Aus-
tria AG concluded on 17 November 2009, KA waived its claim against KF for repayment of money market 
deposits in the amount of EUR 1 billion against issue of a debtor warrant. Under this debtor warrant, KF will, 
from its future annual surpluses, make payments to KA equal to the amount waived, plus interest. Moreover, 
KF waived its rights under the surety given by the Republic of Austria as of 31-12-2008 for certain assets up to 
a maximum amount of EUR 1,207.9 million. Through these measures, which are inseparably interrelated with 
each other, KF is largely restored to its previous position. 

The income from KA’s waiver of its claim is recognised as extraordinary income, whereas the waiver of the 
surety and the resulting provisioning requirements are shown in lines 11 and 12 of the income statement. Obli-
gations will arise for KF from the debtor warrant only if and when KF would report a surplus for the year 
without the debtor warrant; therefore, no charge is booked against its present assets and no provisions have to 
be made.

4. Accounting rules applied

These Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of the relevant provisions of the Austrian Banking 
Act and the provisions of the new Austrian Company Code applicable to fi nancial institutions.

5. Accounting and valuation principles

General remarks

The Financial Statements were prepared in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles and the 
general requirement of presentation of a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the company.

The principle of completeness was complied with in the preparation of the Financial Statements.

Moreover, the provisions of Section XII of the Austrian Banking Act, including the additional provisions 
derived from the new Austrian Company Code, were taken into consideration.

The assets and liabilities were measured on an item-by-item basis on a going concern assumption. The principle 
of prudence, considering the specifi cities of the banking business, was taken into account insofar as only profi ts 
realised by the reporting date were shown and all identifi able risks and impending losses were considered in 
the measurements performed.

Investment securities are allocated to non-current assets.

Marketable securities are allocated to the trading book.

Securities which are allocated neither to non-current assets nor to the trading portfolio are classifi ed as current 
assets.

As a matter of principle, acquisition costs were used as a basis of measurement, with the mitigated lower-of-
cost-or-market principle applied to non-current assets, the strict lower-of-cost-or-market principle to current 
assets and the maximum-value principle to liabilities.
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 Currency conversion

The reporting currency is the euro. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted at the rates notifi ed 
by the European Central Bank (ECB) on the balance-sheet date pursuant to Sect.58.1 of the Austrian Banking 
Act. Forward transactions not yet settled are converted at the forward rate on the balance-sheet date.

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to banks and customers are entered at their nominal value.

Specifi c loan loss provisions are made for identifi able credit risks. Moreover, for reasons of prudence and in 
view of the special risks of the banking business, general loan loss provisions were made in the year under re-
view.

Securities

For securities valued as non-current assets and acquired in or after the business year 2001, the company has 
opted for writing off pro-rata temporis the acquisition cost exceeding the amount repayable at maturity. The 
possibility of adding pro-rata temporis the amount exceeding the amount repayable has also been used. Invest-
ment securities acquired prior to the business year 2001 at acquisition costs higher than the amount repayable 
are recognised at the amount repayable pursuant to Sect. 56.2 of the Austrian Banking Act. If the acquisition 
cost of this group of securities was lower than the amount repayable, the difference is spread over the residual 
maturity, starting on 01-01-2001.

As of 31-12-2009, the difference pursuant to Sect. 56.2 of the Austrian Banking Act (difference between the 
higher acquisition cost of the securities and the amount repayable) was EUR 23,185,275.30 (31-12-2008: 
EUR 42,696,919.09), while the difference pursuant to Sect. 56.3 of the Austrian Banking Act (difference 
between the lower acquisition cost of the securities and the amount repayable) was EUR 48,620,561.10 
(31-12-2008: EUR 41,452,121.73). Investment securities include hidden burdens of EUR 361,932,707.90. 
(31-12-2009: EUR 653,683,900.89). These are shown as follows: book value: EUR 3,543,717,651.09 
(31-12-2009: EUR 6,229,633,682.68), fair value: EUR 3,181,784,943.19 (31-12-2008: EUR 5,575,949,781.79). 
Special write-offs pursuant to Sect. 204.1.it.2 of the new Austrian Company Code were not required, as the 
impairment is not expected to be of a long-term nature and default of the issuers of these securities is consid-
ered unlikely.

Securities held as current assets are valued according to the strict lowest-of-cost-or-market principle. The op-
tion pursuant to Sect. 208.2 of the New Company Code, according to which a lower value can still be reported 
even if the reasons for impairment no longer exist, was not exercised, and additions exceeding the last year-
end value reported were not made. As of 31-12-2009, this accounting method for value recovery was changed. 
In line with the business purpose of KF (best possible management and realisation of the existing portfolio 
while minimising the input of funds from the Republic of Austria), the importance of current assets is increas-
ing and, at the same time, any value recovery of securities held as current assets is to be recorded as it accrues 
and hidden reserves are to be realised, as far as possible, before the time of disposal, the intention being to 
convey a true and fair view of the assets, income position and earnings of the company. Moreover, given the 
aforementioned business purpose and the high losses carried forward, fi scal considerations are of minor im-
portance in this respect. For these reasons, the previous accounting policy was given up and – starting with the 
fi nancial statements for 2009 – additions to the fair value are recognised up to acquisition cost. This change 
has a positive effect of EUR 12,167,503.04 in 2009.

Securities of the trading portfolio are measured at the market value on the balance sheet date. Other securities 
held as current assets are subject to the strict lower-of-cost-or-market principle.
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Holdings and investments in affi liated companies

Holdings and investments in affi liated companies are measured at acquisition cost, unless persistent losses or a 
reduction in equity require their value to be written down to the pro-rata equity held or yield.

Liabilities

Liabilities are entered at the amount repayable. 

Securitised liabilities

Premiums/discounts as well as capitalised issuing costs and additional cash payment commission up to the 
business year 2002 are spread over the term of the debt on a linear basis. Zero bonds are recognised under the 
equity method. 

Costs incurred through an issue, which are directly related to funding, are booked as expenses. The remaining 
difference between the proceeds of the issue and the amount repayable (premium/discount) is booked under 
deferred expenses and/or prepaid income and recognised in the interest result spread as an interest component 
on a linear basis over the term of the liability 

Provisions

In the course of the demerger, all employees were transferred to KA. Therefore, no provisions for personnel 
had to be made by the company as of 31-12-2009.

Other provisions were made in the amount of their expected use in accordance with the principle of prudence, 
based on all identifi able risks and on liabilities not yet quantifi able.

Contingent liabilities

Risks from CDS contracts, which are reported as fi nancial guarantees according to the new Austrian Company 
Code, are provided for by setting up provisions for specifi c expectations of default based on the principles of 
commercial prudence.

As of the balance sheet date 2009, no default is expected to occur in the existing portfolio.

For DCS buy positions, concluded to hedge CDS sell or securities positions, a provision for pending losses in 
the amount of EUR 13,575,200.00 (31-12-2008: EUR 0.0) is set for the event of negative market values and/or 
negative spreads fi xed through the hedge.

Derivatives

In swap transactions made by the bank to hedge against its interest-rate risks, the interest claims related to the 
contracts are deferred at matching maturities. In the income statement the interest components are recognised 
on a gross basis. As these transactions are made exclusively for hedging purposes and related to corresponding 
underlying transactions, provisioning for impending losses was not required.

6. Notes to the balance sheet

Public-sector debt instruments

No public-sector debt instruments will fall due in 2010 (2008: EUR 40,800,000.00).
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As in the previous year, all public-sector debt instruments were classifi ed as non-current assets as of the 
balance-sheet date. 

This item does not include any subordinated claims.

Moreover, this item does not include any claims against affi liated companies and against companies in which 
an equity investment is held.

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to banks not repayable on demand are broken down by maturity (residual maturity) as 
follows:

Loans and advances to banks include loans and advances to affiliated companies in the amount of 
EUR 7,551,943,673.92 (31-12-2008: EUR 6,420,472,689.45), no loans and advances to companies in which 
an equity investment is held (31-12-2008: EUR 19,996,488.75), and no bills receivable (31-12-2008: EUR 0.00). 

Moreover, provisions in the amount of EUR 135,000,000.00 (31-12-2008: EUR 0.0) were set up pursuant to 
Sect. 57.1 of the Austrian Banking Act.

In the course of 2009, all bank rescue packages were implemented in practice and there were no further 
defaults in the KF bank portfolio. Even exposures viewed as critical took a positive development; therefore, 
no general loan loss provisions for loans and advances to banks were made as of 31-12-2009 (31-12-2008: 
EUR 29,116,047.31).

Loans and advances of EUR 114,623,892.56 (31-12-2008: EUR 113,758,882.36) are subordinated.

Loans and advances to banks comprise cover for negative fair values from derivative and CDS transactions of 
a nominal value of EUR 1,335,247,558.00 (31-12-2008 EUR 1,805,000,000.00). 

This item comprises non-listed securities with a book value of EUR 2,631,217,663.23 (31-12-2008: 
EUR 3,813,544,628.03).

in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

a) up to 3 months 1.197.450.077,45 4.111.084.498,12

b) more than 3 months to 1 year  6.827.614.649,23       1.571.423.529,61      

c) more than 1 year to 5 years 1.436.383.682,04     3.213.642.933,30     

d) more than 5 year     537.246.461,87 1.135.920.752,37

e) general loan loss provisions 0,00 - 29.116.047,31

f) surety by the Republic of Austria 0,00 29.116.047,31

g) provision pursuant to Sect. 57.1  Austrian Banking Act - 135.000.000,00 0,00

Total  9.863.694.870,59 10.032.071.713,40
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Loans and advances to customers

The reduction in loans and advances to customers is due to the demerger and presented in detail under Note 2.

Loans and advances to customers not repayable on demand are broken down by maturity (residual maturity) as 
follows:

This item contains no loans and advances to affi liated companies (31-12-2008: EUR 0.0) and no bills receivable 
(31-12-2008: EUR 2,343,895.51). As in the previous year, no loans and advances are reported to companies in 
which an equity investment is held.

Provisions of EUR 23,000,000.00 (31-12-2008: EUR 0.0) pursuant to Sect. 57.1 of the Austrian Banking Act 
were made.

General loan loss provisions of EUR 28,990,978.71 (31-12-2008: EUR 61,609,243.69) were made. In the pre-
vious year, the amount calculated was offset by the surety given by the Republic of Austria in the same 
amount.

This item contains no subordinated claims. 

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities in the amount of EUR 926,618,766.00 (2009: EUR 326,009,800.87) 
will fall due in 2010.

As of the balance-sheet date, a volume of EUR 4,027,591,602.57 (31-12-2008: EUR 5,430,519,161.66) was 
classifi ed as non-current assets; EUR 176,378,754.16 (31-12-2008: EUR 334,427,472.14) were held as current 
assets.

All instruments reported under bonds and other fi xed-income securities are exchange-listed.

The difference between the higher market value and the carrying value of the securities held as current assets 
amounts to EUR 2,590,480.01 (31-12-2008: EUR 1,000.592.22).

The difference pursuant to Sect. 56.2 of the Austrian Banking Act (difference between the higher acquisition 
cost of the securities and the amount repayable) as of 31-12-2009 amounts to EUR 18,684,829.60 
(31-12-2008: EUR 31,581,373.19), the difference pursuant to Sect. 56.3 of the Austrian Banking Act 
(difference between the lower acquisition cost of the securities and the amount repayable) amounts to 
EUR 35,146,091.99 (31-12-2008: EUR 36,049,845.12).

in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

a) up to 3 months 19.357.245,53 137.869.501,62

b) more than 3 months up to 1 year 59.047.087,32 298.725.569,74

c) more than 1 year up to 5 years      107.190.288,23 2.467.259.326,44

d) more than 5 years 1.954.902.831,40 9.312.752.922,19

e) general loan loss provisions - 28.990.978,71 - 61.609.243,69

f) surety of the Republic of Austria 0,00 61.609.243,69

g) provisions pursuant to Sect.57.1 Austrian Banking Act - 23.000.000,00 0,00

Total  2.088.506.473,77 12.216.607.319,99
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This item comprises own issues of a nominal value of EUR 800,000,000.00.

Moreover, general loan loss provisions of EUR 2,452,676.92 (31-12-2008: EUR 3,184,709.00) have been 
made. In the previous year, the amount calculated was offset by the surety given by the Republic of Austria in 
the same amount.

Moreover, provisions pursuant to Sect. 57.1 of the Austrian Banking Act in the amount of EUR 7,000,000.00 
(31-12-2008: EUR 0.00) were made.

Claims in the amount of EUR 30,760,436.65 (31-12-2008: EUR 31,017,605.15) are subordinated.

Shares and other variable-income securities

The entire volume of EUR 2,707,590.00 (31.12.2008: EUR 67,593,702.10) held at the balance-sheet date is 
classifi ed as current assets.

As in the previous year, all instruments contained in this item are exchange-listed.

As in the previous year, there is no difference between the acquisition cost and the higher market value of the 
exchange-listed securities.

The fund with a nominal value of EUR 5,415,180.00 was written down by 50% as of 31-12-2009.

This item does not contain any subordinated claims.

Moreover, this item does not contain any claims against affi liated companies and against companies in which 
an equity investment is held. 

Holdings and investments in affi liated companies

The composition of holdings and investments in affi liated companies (none of them exchange-listed), includ-
ing the presentation of their economic situation, is contained in Annex 1.

The holding in Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd (KIB) was written off completely as irrecoverable.

Property and equipment and intangible assets

The development of property and equipment and intangible assets is shown in the Schedule of Fixed Asset 
Transactions (Annex 2).

Other assets

Other assets comprise the following material items: interest deferrals of derivatives of the banking book in the 
amount of EUR 569,958,884.88 (31-12-2008: EUR 525,132,541.45), foreign currency valuations of deriva-
tives of the banking book in the amount of EUR 202,370,409.46 (31-12-2008: EUR 512,553.641.76) and 
claims against KA in the amount of EUR 48,840,816.16 (31.12.2008: EUR 0,00).

Other assets include income in the amount of EUR 570,092,843.72 (31-12-2008: EUR 531,289,658.04) to be 
received as cash items after the balance-sheet date.
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Prepayments and accrued income

Prepayments and accrued income mainly include offering premiums of bonds issued in the amount of 
EUR 20,089,415.72 (31-12-2008: EUR 54,085,706.46) and deferred charges from derivative transactions in 
the amount of EUR 37,215,110.95 (31-12-2008: EUR 16,173,718.54).

Amounts owed to banks

Amounts owed to banks not repayable on demand are broken down by maturity (residual maturity) as 
follows:

Amounts owed to banks include EUR 12,572,227.43 (31-12-2008 EUR 46,720,995.12) amounts owed to 
affi liated companies, but no amounts owed to companies in which an equity investment is held (31-12-2008 
EUR 41,300,000.00).

Amounts owed to customers

Amounts owed to customers not repayable on demand are broken down by maturity (residual maturity) as 
follows:

Amounts owed to customers include EUR 1,431,670.88 (31-12-.2008: EUR 2,789,562.86) owed to affi liated 
companies; as in the previous year, no amounts are owed to companies in which an equity investment is held.

Securitised liabilities

Bonds issued in the amount of EUR 1,218,509,032.08 (2009: EUR 2,776,883,614.68) and other securitised 
liabilities of EUR 682,624,413.73 (2009: EUR 526,726,033.54) will fall due in 2010.

All covered bond issues (nominal value 31-12-2008: EUR 8,412,115,406.00) were transferred to KA in the 
course of the demerger.

No amounts owed to affi liated companies and to companies in which an equity investment is held are 
contained in this item.

Moreover, this item comprises ten government-guaranteed own issues with a total nominal value of 
EUR 6,769,704,286.08, of which one CHF-denominated issues, one JPY-denominated issue and eight EUR-
denominated issues.

in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

a) up to 3 months  4.249.909.034,54   9.138.534.149,76

b) more than 3 months up to 1 year   3.382.051.410,36      825.282.520,72

c) more than 1 year up to 5 years      125.000.000,00      160.296.036,60

d) more than 5 years 604.707.760,66 990.261.214,81

Total  8.361.668.205,56 11.114.373.921,89

in EUR 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

a) up to 3 months 3.775,28 472.125.759,69

b) more than 3 months up to 1 year 35.214.138,75              0,00

c) more than 1 year up to 5 years                0,00 78.000.000,00

d) more than 5 years 36.404.084,57 431.954.869,14

Total 71.621.998,60 982.080.628,83
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Other liabilities

The most essential items included under other liabilities are interest deferrals of derivatives in the amount of 
EUR 550,825,599.80 (31-12-2008: EUR 534,726,033.54) and foreign currency valuations of derivatives in the 
banking book in the amount of EUR 219,473,253.81 (31-12-2008: EUR 155,499,036.85).

Other liabilities include expenses of EUR 550,924,783.75 (31-12-2008: EUR 536,640,230.17) which will only 
be paid out as a cash item after the balance-sheet date.

Accruals and deferred income

Deferred items essentially comprise CDS fees in the amount of EUR 1,427,073.32 (31-12-2008: 
EUR 1,744,413.40) deferred over the maturity of the instruments as well as charges for derivatives in the 
amount of EUR 48,483,652.34 (31-12-2008: EUR 54,273,851.69).

Provisions

The remaining other provisions essentially comprise provisions for pending drawdown from credit default 
swaps in the amount of EUR 926,313.00 (31-12-2008: EUR 69,926,554.06), provisions for audit, legal and 
consulting expenses in the amount of EUR 1,577,650.07 (31-12-2008: EUR 780,195.72) as well as pending 
losses from CDS hedging contracts in the amount of EUR 13,575,200.00 (31.12.2008: EUR 0,00).

Subordinated liabilities

As of 31-12-2009, subordinated liabilities comprise the following:

No issue will fall due in 2010 (2009: EUR 0.00).

The subordinated liabilities meet the requirements of Sect. 23.8 of the Austrian Banking Act.

The item does not contain liabilities to affi liated companies and to companies in which an equity investment is 
held.

Securities no. Interest rate Maturity Currency Nominal value Call right Conversion in 
capital

AT0000329768Z 6,25% 12.03.2012 EUR 4.360.369,80 Excluded None

AT0000329941Z 5,5% 23.07.2013 EUR 10.900.924,50 Excluded None

AT0000441209Z 5% 27.02.2024 EUR 20.000.000,00 Issuer None

XS0140045302Z 6,08% 13.12.2018 EUR 19.500.000,00 Issuer None

XS0144772927Z 6,46% 27.03.2022 EUR 5.000.000,00 Issuer None

XS0185015541Z 5,43% 13.02.2024 EUR 20.000.000,00 Issuer None

XS0255270380Z 3,37% 07.06.2021 EUR 5.000.000,00 Excluded None

XS0267751245 1,002% 20.09.2016 EUR 30.000.000,00 Issuer in case of 
tax event

None

XS0279423775 4,44% 20.12.2030 EUR 35.000.000,00 Issuer in case of 
tax event

None

XS0286975973 0,914% 28.02.2017 EUR 40.000.000,00 Issuer in case of 
tax event

None

XS0257275098Z 4,9% 23.06.2031 EUR 10.000.000,00 Issuer in case of 
tax event

None

 199.791.294,30
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Supplementary capital

As of 31-12-2009, supplementary capital comprises the following:

This item comprises liabilities to affi liated companies (KIB) in the amount of EUR 60,722,978.89. 

In the course of the demerger, the supplementary capital, as well as all profi t-sharing rights, was distributed 
between KF and KA at a ratio of 75.83% to 24.17%; thus, after entry of the demerger in the Companies 
Register, the economic position of the holders of these special rights corresponds at least to their position prior 
to the demerger. Therefore, equivalent rights, as defi ned in Sect. 15.5 of the Demerger Act, were granted to the 
holders of participation capital in the course of the demerger. 

Two issues of a nominal value of JPY 3,791,500,000.00 were bought back in October 2009. The share of 
EUR 42,636,254.60 due to KF is shown in the income statement under line 12.

As of 31-12-2009, the bank had no supplementary capital from own issues (31-12-2009: EUR 0.00) on its 
portfolio. No issue will fall due in 2010 (2009: EUR 0.00).

For supplementary capital issues without a contractual provision stipulating cumulative coupon payments, the 
interest coupon is not recognised as a liability in 2010 due to the negative result for 2009.

The supplementary capital meets the conditions of Sect. 23.7 of the Austrian Banking Act.

Due to the negative result for the year before appropriations to reserves, income-dependent coupons will not 
be paid out in 2010.

This was already announced in the ad-hoc notifi cation dated 17 November 2009.

Participation capital

As of 31-12-2009, participation capital comprised two EUR-denominated issues of a total nominal value of 
EUR 200,000,000.00. 

In 2009, an issue in the amount of EUR 372,500,000.00 was subscribed to in the course of the change of 
owner ship in 2008 by the former owners - Österreichische Volksbanken-AG and Dexia Crédit Local – through 
conversion of parts of their unsecured exposure (VBAG: EUR 172,500,000.00; Dexia: EUR 200,000,000.00). 
The latter participation capital, which carries a dividend of 8%, was subscribed to at the time of closing on
05-01-2009 and became effective as of 09-01-2009.

Securities no. Interest rate Maturity Currency Nominal value Call right Conversion in 
capital

181700900067Z 3,50% 20.12.2044 EUR 60.664.000,00 Issuer Issuer

AT0000320890Z 5,875% 19.11.2012 EUR 5.687.250,00 Excluded Excluded

AT0000329966Z 5,1875% 30.09.2011 EUR 1.102.156,14 Excluded Excluded

AT0000329966Z 5,1875% 30.09.2011 EUR 7.164.014,91 Excluded Excluded

XS0270579856 1,33% 25.10.2021 EUR 18.957.500,00 Issuer Issuer

XS0284217709 4,26% 08.02.2019 EUR 7.583.000,00 Excluded Excluded

  101.157.921,05
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In the course of the demerger, all profi t-sharing rights were distributed between KF and KA at a ratio of 
75.83% to 24.17%; thus, after entry of the demerger in the Companies Register, the economic position of the 
holders of these special rights corresponds at least to their position prior to the demerger. Therefore, equivalent 
rights, as defi ned in Sect. 15.5 of the Demerger Act, were granted to the holders of participation capital in the 
course of the demerger. With EUR 138,373,250.00 being spun off, a nominal value of EUR 434,126,750.00 
remains with KF.

The participation capital meets the provisions of Sect. 23.4 of the Austrian Banking Act and counts towards 
the core capital of the bank.

In the absence of a distributable profi t after appropriation to the statutory liability reserve on the separate bal-
ance sheet of KF according to the Austrian Banking Act, no distributions will be made on participation capital 
in 2010 (for 2009).

This was already announced in the ad-hoc notifi cation dated 17 November 2009.

Subscribed capital

The share capital of EUR 22,346,025.00 is subdivided into 307,500 no-par-value shares. The shares are issued 
to bearer and have a nominal value of EUR 72.67 each. All shares are fully paid in.

Based on a decision taken by the 16th extraordinary general meeting on 27-09-2005, the Executive Board was 
authorised to increase the share capital by 26-09-2010 through the issue of new shares in one or several tranches 
by a maximum of EUR 8,175,375.00 (authorised capital), subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board. 

After partial utilisation of the authorised capital in 2006, the share capital of the company, with the approval 
by the Supervisory Board on 05-12-2007, was increased by EUR 3,815,175.00 to EUR 22,346,025.00 on 
03-01-2008 through further utilisation of the authorised capital; the premium of EUR 162,949,500.00 thus 
generated was transferred to the earmarked capital reserve.

Following this increase, the authorised capital, to be utilised by 26-09-2010, amounts to EUR 2,180,100.00.

As of 31-12-2009 and during the business year no own shares were held in the KF portfolio.

Capital reserve

a) Earmarked capital reserve
In the course of the demerger, the earmarked capital reserve was released to cover the net loss incurred by 
30 June 2009 in the amount of EUR 332,088,762.37. 

b) Non-earmarked capital reserve
In December 2009, in accordance with the provisions of the recapitalisation agreement, a loan of the Republic 
of Austria in the amount of EUR 60 million was converted into a shareholder contribution in order to maintain 
the contractually agreed tier-1 capital ratio of 7%. This shareholder contribution was appropriated to the free 
capital reserve without passing through profi t or loss and therefore increases the company’s equity. 

Retained earnings

In the course of the demerger, the statutory retained earnings (EUR 1,485,171.11) as well as the free reserves 
(EUR 52,018,932.45) were released to cover the net loss incurred by 30-06-2009. As of the balance-sheet date, 
appropriations to free retained earnings amounted to EUR 118,551,020.86.
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Liability reserve

In the course of the demerger, the liability reserve was released in the amount of EUR 76,091,088.46 to cover 
the net loss incurred by 30-06-2009. As of the balance sheet date, appropriations to the reserve stood at 
EUR 76,091,088.46.

7. Off-balance-sheet items

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities essentially comprise credit default swaps (CDS) in the amount of EUR 7,916,530,778.79 
(31-12-2008: EUR 6,032,159,179.62).

The rise in CDS in 2009 exclusively results from internal carry-overs from KIB to KF in a nominal amount of 
EUR 3.48 billion. Through the implementation of risk-mitigating measures, the CDS portfolio was actively 
reduced by approx. EUR 1.63 billion at Group level in 2009.

As of 31-12-2009, the credit default swaps represented a negative market value of EUR 425,285,448.07 
(31-12-2008: EUR 629,475,561.16).

Moreover, guarantee credits of EUR 100,000,000.00 (31-12-2008: EUR 323,425,618.07) were reported.

No loans and advances to banks or other borrowers were pledged as collateral for third-party liabilities as of 
the balance-sheet dates of the year under review and the previous year.

Credit balances at fi nancial institutions of a nominal value of EUR 1,335,247,588.00 were put up as collateral 
under ISDA/CSA arrangements.

Credit risks

The credit risks concern loan commitments and unused lines of EUR 36,455,241.74 (31-12-2008: EUR 
782,571,521.21).

There are no liabilities from reverse repo transactions as of 31-12-2009 (31-12-2008: EUR 92,429,336.95)

8. Supplementary disclosures

Total amount of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

Assets denominated in foreign currencies in the amount of EUR 5,037,351,642.39 (31-12-2008: EUR 
8,357,620,385.58) are shown on the balance sheet.

Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies amounted to EUR 3,074,281,839.92 (31-12-2008 EUR 
8,214,651,717.71).
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Derivative transactions not yet settled on the balance-sheet date

To hedge against currency and interest-rate risks, the following derivative transactions were made in the bank-
ing book, which were not yet settled on the balance-sheet date (31-12-2009):

31-12-2008 (in EUR million)

To determine the market values, the net present value method (discounting for future cash fl ows) is used for 
swap transactions; the Hull-White model approach is used for the valuation of options in the banking book.

An internal valuation model, also based on the discounted cash-fl ow method and considering current yield 
curves, is used for the valuation of swaps.

As a matter principle, options are valued at current stock exchange prices. If no such prices are available, 
options and/or option components are priced by means of appropriate option valuation models.

Expenses for subordinated liabilities

Expenses for all subordinated liabilities (including supplementary capital) in the year under review totalled 
EUR 8,442,845.52 (31-12-2008: EUR 19,688,643.84).

Trading book

As of the 2009 balance sheet date, no fi nancial instruments of the company were carried on the trading book.

31.12.2009 
in EUR

Contract to buy Contract to sell Market value Other 
receivables

Other liabilities

Interest-rate swaps 52.279.265.222 52.279.265.222 -391.868.874 558.744.904 538.885.373

 thereof structured 8.233.848.425 8.233.848.425 -41.615.253 47.034.503 48.377.057

Interest-rate / currency swaps 2.638.620.919 2.601.586.761 26.419.772 11.213.981 11.940.226

 thereof structured 51.058.397 48.157.232 -5.481.711 41.719 541.655

Currency swaps 7.692.020.673 7.635.140.089 -54.330.441 1.500.278 2.588.742

Options 1.000.000.000 1.000.000.000 0 0 0

CDS *) 0 0 0 0 0

Total 63.609.906.814 63.515.992.072 -419.779.543 571.459.163 553.414.341

31.12.2008 
in EUR Mio.

Contract to buy Contract to sell Market value Other 
receivables

Other liabilities

Interest-rate swaps 34.749 34.748 -1.449 511 517

thereof structured 7.460 7.460 -381 71 51

Interest-rate / currency swaps 2.327 2.185 76 14 18

thereof structured 53 53 -10 0 0,7

Currency swaps 5.914 5.704 210 1,6 5,9

Options 1.000 1.000 0 0 0

CDS *) 0 180 -15 0 0

Total 43.990 43.817 -1.178 526,6 540,9

*) no fi nancial guarantees

*) no fi nancial guarantees
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Trust assets

Loans and advances to customers comprise securities with a book value of EUR 27,504,083.43 (31-12-2008: 
EUR 26,981,076.57) held by KF in its own name but for third-party accounts. The equivalent matching item 
on the liabilities side is shown under amounts owed to customers.

Other obligations

Based on the debtor warrant described in Note 3, Recapitalisation, KF committed itself to distribute future 
annual surpluses to KA until the debtor warrant is completely redeemed (EUR 1,000,000,000.00 + interest 
accrued, i.e. EUR 1,003,702,777.78 as of 31-12-2009). 

In connection with the spin-off of the core banking operations of KA Old to KA, the Demerger Act stipulates a 
liability for obligations having arisen prior to the entry of the demerger in the Companies Register of the 
Commercial Court of Vienna (28-11-2009). Based on the joint and several liability stipulated by the Demerger 
Act, KF is liable for obligations which have arisen prior to the entry of the demerger in the Companies 
Register and have been spun off to KA as liabilities allocated to the core business, up to the amount of the net 
assets assigned to it (value of the assets retained, minus the value of liabilities retained, as shown in Note 2, 
Demerger of KA Old) as joint and several debtor.

Based on the surety agreement dated 17 November 2009, the Republic of Austria guaranteed for KA, as a 
guarantor and payer, for the obligations of a special purpose company arising from the put arrangement on the 
debtor warrant, effective as of 30 November 2009. The term of the guarantee is three years. As the economic 
benefi ciary of the guarantee, KF has to pay a guarantee fee in the amount of 10% p.a. of the amount guaran-
teed to the Republic of Austria. 

Pursuant to Sect. 93 of the Austrian Banking Act, KF is required to undertake proportionate safeguarding of 
depositors’ accounts within the framework of the relevant programme of Banken und Bankiers Gesellschaft 
mbH, Vienna.

On the basis of rental contracts, liabilities in the amount of EUR 126,000.00 will be incurred in 2010. The 
corresponding liabilities for 2011 to 2015 presumably will amount to EUR 693,000.00.

Deferred taxes

As of the balance sheet date, no capitalisable active, deferred taxes (31-12-2008: EUR 249,814.36) were 
reported.
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9. Notes to the income statement

The Income Statement of KF, prepared in conformity with the new Austrian Company Code, comprises the result 
of KA Old (total bank prior to the demerger) from January to June 2009 and the result of the residual assets not 
spun off from July to December 2009.

1. The signifi cant income statement items as of 31-12-2009 are as follows (in EUR):

Interest and similar income

Credit business 274.491.138,13

Investments in banks 174.729.681,51

Fixed-income securities 203.320.026,97

Swap income 1.224.735.366,40

Total interest income 1.877.276.213,01

Interest and similar expenses

With banks -168.991.126,18

With non-banks -27.202.738,69

Own issues -347.069.625,99

Swap expenses -1.323.383.934,70

Total interest expenses -1.866.647.425,56

Fee and commission income

Credit business 22.511.385,38

Securities business 91.773,80

Other service business 254.210,65

Total fee and commission income 22.857.369,83

Fee and commission expenses

Credit business -10.942.323,70

Securities business -154.817.214,79

 of which

 guarantee fee for surety of the Republic of Austria -96.253.641,50

 expenses debtor warrant -8.686.114,38

 guarantee fee for government-guaranteed own issues -48.891.217,18

Money and currency trading -605.316,90

Total fee and commission expenses -166.384.855.39
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As of 31-12-2008, the signifi cant income statement items are as follows (in EUR):

2) On the basis of service level agreements, employees of KA provide services for Dexia Kommunalkredit 
  Bank AG, Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH and Kommunalkredit Dexia Asset Management AG. 
 Personnel and other administrative expenses (direct and indirect) are re-invoiced pro-rata temporis. In the 
 course of the demerger, all employees were transferred to KA; therefore, no services have been invoiced by 
 KF since that time. Since 2009, proceeds from re-invoicing are shown under other operating results (in 
 previous years the net amounts received were booked against the corresponding expense items).

Up to the demerger, amounts re-invoiced totalled EUR 4,246,139.15.

Expenses for severance payments and contributions to company pension plans include expenses for severance 
payments in the amount of EUR 36,790.95 (2008: EUR 217,490.51).

Interest and similar income

Credit business 549.868.384,77

Investments in banks 348.541.659,65

Fixed-income securities 282.899.718,14

Swap income 1.504.067.060,55

Total interest income 2.685.376.823,11

Interest and similar expenses

With banks -341.981.509,92

With non-banks -48.604.283,16

Own issues -634.456.858,18

Swap expenses -1.596.566.195,06

Total interest expenses -2.621.608.846,32

Fee and commission income

Credit business 15.745.340,73

Securities business 323.536,72

Other service business 225.765,93

Total fee and commission income 16.294.643,38

Fee and commission expenses

Credit business -4.749.509,15

Securities business -3.802.506,04

 of which: 

 guarantee fee for surety of the Republic of Austria -330.928,00

 expenses debtor warrant 0,00

 guarantee fee for government-guaranteed own issues -2.512.893,90

Money and currency trading -697.071,34

Total fee and commission expenses -9.249.086,53
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3) The valuation result (lines 11 and 12 of the income statement) in the amount of EUR -1,091,023,363.10 
 (31-12-2008: EUR -380,545,526.82) is made up of the following items:

As of 31-12-2008, the valuation result was essentially made up of the following:

4) Extraordinary income

Income from the waiver of KA to money market claims in the amount of EUR 1,000,000,000.00 is reported 
under extraordinary income (for details see Note 3, Recapitalisation).

5) Pursuant to Sect. 237 of the new Austrian Company Code, the breakdown of the bank’s revenues by 
 geographic market as of 31-12-2009 is as follows:

Interest and similar income Income from securities 
and investments

Austria 610.442.026,57 405.500,00

Western Europe 835.804.308,87 0,00

Central and Eastern Europe 274.443.213,60 0,00

Rest of the world 156.586.663,97 0,00

Total 1.877.276.213,01 405.500,00

in EUR

Valuation adjustments for assets covered by the surety in 2008 - 287.361.400,79

Write-down of KIB funding claims - 423.391.511,28

Write-down of investment in KIB - 182.723.480,21

Provisions pursuant to Sect. 57.1 Austrian Banking Act      -165.000.000,00

Rundown of CDS positions - 38.039.337,84

General loan loss provision - 31.443.655,63

Setting up of additional risk provisions - 12.125.869,24

Buyback of supplementary capital + 42.636.254,60 

Other valuations + 6.425.637,29

Total – 1.091.023.363,10

in EUR

Write-down of holding in Dexia Kommunalkredit Bank AG: - 154.965.956,66

Write-down of holding in Kommunalkredit International Bank: - 52.000.000,00

Sale/redemption of securities held as non-current assets: - 16.285.365,00

Provisions and/or early release of credit default swaps (essentially “self-referencing Republic of Austria”): - 80.909.600,85

Valuation of securities held as current assets: - 20.431.030,31
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As of 31-12-2008, the breakdown of the bank’s revenues was as follows:

6) Tax expenses

Tax expenses incurred in the year under review exclusively concern the ordinary activities of the company.

Net fee and commission income Income/expenses from 
fi nancial transactions

Austria 1.091.517,53 -12.018.006,64

Western Europe 5.884.636,32 -1.209.431,40

Central and Eastern Europe 10.961.163,62 0,00

Rest of the world 4.920.052,36 0,00

Total 22.857.369,83 -13.227.438,04

Other operating income

Austria 5.024.334,78

Western Europe 360.096,17

Central and Eastern Europe 75.617,19

Rest of the world 0,00

Total 5.460.048,14

Interest and similar income Income from securities 
and investments

Austria 797.682.483,40 1.736.346,16

Western Europe 1.175.109.304,71 6.445.645,11

Central and Eastern Europe 404.253.797,96 0,00

Rest of the world 308.331.237,05 0,00

Total 2.685.376.823,11 8.181.991,27

Net fee and commission income Income/expenses from 
fi nancial transactions

Austria 1.364.957,20 178.333,70

Western Europe 4.719.031,68 33.136,47

Central and Eastern Europe 7.593.558,01 0,00

Rest of the world 2.617.096,49 110.306,16

Total 16.294.643,38 321.776,33

Other operating income

Austria 848.858,34

Western Europe 423.244,36

Central and Eastern Europe 92.634,73

Rest of the world 0,00

Total 1.364.737,43
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10. Information on the boards of the bank

1) Emoluments, advances and loans to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, guarantees assumed 
 for these persons:

As of 31-12-2009, and likewise as of 31-12-2008, no loans to members of the Executive Board and members 
of the Supervisory Board were outstanding. No guarantees by KF were given for these persons.

2) Members of the Executive Board

Alois Steinbichler, Chairman of the Executive Board 
Andreas Fleischmann, Member (since 01-02-2009)
Pierre Vérot (until 30-04-2009)

3) Members of the Supervisory Board

Klaus Liebscher, Chairman (since 08-01-2009)
Adolf Wala, Deputy Chairman (since 08-01-2009)
Helmut Mödlhammer  (since 08-01-2009)
Werner Muhm (since 08-01-2009)
Herbert Paierl (since 08-01-2009)
Georg Schöppl (since 08-01-2009)
Franz Hofer – delegated by the Staff Council
Christine Sipek – delegated by the Staff Council
Martin Öhlknecht – delegated by the Staff Council
Astrid Sukup – delegated by the Staff Council (until 07-01-2009)

State Commissioner:
Peter Braumüller, State Commissioner
Wolfgang Nitsche, Deputy State Commissioner

Government Commissioner:
Appointed as Government Commissioners for the depository management of the cover pool for funded bonds 
for the year under review:

Heinrich Traumüller, Government Commissioner (until 17-11-2009)
Peter Braumüller, Deputy Government Commissioner (until 17-11-2009)

Total emoluments in EUR                                                                                          2009 2008

Active Executive Board members  390.934,29 1.115.178,69

Active Supervisory Board members      0,00 20.000,00

Former Executive Board members    142.944,23    278.327,31

533.878,52 1.393.506,00

Expenses for severance payments, pensions and other expenses in EUR 2009 2008

Executive Board members and senior offi cers 66.380,83  -182.046,74

Other employees 265.588,26   16.168,23

331.969,09 -165.878,51

Other expenses 103.391,75 0,00
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11. Net result

The net loss reported as of 31-12-2009 of EUR 345,780,606.63 is carried forward to the new account.

12. Group relationships

The Republic of Austria owns 99.78% of KF. The remaining 0.22% is held by the Association of Austrian 
Municipalities.

The Executive Board of KA Finanz AG

Mag. Alois Steinbichler                Mag. Andreas Fleischmann
  Chairman of the Executive Board  Member of the Executive Board

Vienna, 8 April 2010
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Schedule of fi xed asset transactions pursuant to 
Sect. 226 (1) of the new Austrian Company Code as of 
31 December 2009 (Annex 1)

Overview of holdings and investments in affi liated 
companies as of 31 December 2009 (Annex 2)

Non-current assets 2009 Acquisition cost Book value

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2009 *)

Additions Disposals   Disposals due 
to demerger

as of
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation 2009

Book value              
31-12-2009

Book value                 
31-12-2008

Depreciation 
2009

Additions
2009

Public-sector debt instruments 75.382.820,90 89.354.388,47 0,00 133.906.105,00 30.831.104,37 151.843,11 30.679.261,26 76.216.918,96 151.383,75 0,00

Loans and advances to banks 3.590.166.122,93 0,00 668.291.365,69 44.000.000,00 2.877.874.757,23 235.347,17 2.877.639.410,06 3.589.996.589,13 78.552,24 6.070,00

Loans and advances to customers 2.731.032.714,36 3.462.057,20 60.180.711,80 1.151.182.745,74 1.523.131.314,02 -3.885.289,97 1.527.016.603,99 2.732.407.985,20 198.364,84 1.453.942,04

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities 5.327.332.227,05 874.660.654,32 465.944.989,80 1.728.881.414,65 4.007.166.476,92 959.247,59 4.006.207.229,33 5.322.120.341,31 1.632.503,14 7.158.374,71

Holdings 154.966.100,33 23.000,00 154.965.957,66 0,00 23.142,67 0,00 23.142,67 143,67 0,00 0,00

Investments in affi liated companies 247.064.299,94 723.480,21 0,00 12.299.299,94 235.488.480,21 234.723.480,21 765.000,00 195.064.299,94 0,00 0,00

Intangible non-current assets 3.525.020,68 0,00 0,00 3.525.020,68 0,00 0,00 0,00 177.071,70 70.076,55 0,00

Property and equipment 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

    Offi ce furniture and equipment 2.510.002,13 27.717,57 166.861,94 2.370.857,76 0,00 0,00 0,00 2.043.713,13 34.290,71 0,00

12.131.979.308,32 968.251.297,76 1.349.549.886,90 3.076.165.443,77 8.674.515.275,42 232.184.628,11 8.442.330.647,31 11.918.027.063,04 2.165.171,22 8.618.386,76

Name and registered offi ce

in EUR 1.000

Extent of 
investment 
31.12.2009

Equity 
(Sect. 224 Aust.
Company Code)

31.12.2009

Acquisition cost
31.12.2009

Book value
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation

After-tax profi t 
for the period 

31.12.2009

Date of last 
fi nancial 

statement

I. Holdings

Safeguarding of depositors‘ accounts through Banken und Bankiers Gesellschaft mbH, Vienna 0,10%  - 1) 0,0 0,0 0,0  - 1) -

ARZ Volksbanken Holding GmbH, Wien 0,03%  - 1) 0,0 0,0 0,0  - 1) -

SALEM Beteiligungsverwaltung zwölfte GmbH, Wien 100,00%  - 1) 23,0 23,0 0,0  - 1) -

II. Investments in affi liated companies

Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd, Limassol (CY) *) 100,00% -622.712,0 234.723,0 0,0 -234.723,0 191.560,4 31.12.2009

Kommunalkredit Dexia Asset Management AG, Wien 2) 51,00% 1.567,0 765,0 765,0 0,0 61,4 31.12.2008

*) after currency conversion

*) fi nancial statements only according to IFRS
1) not shown due to minor signifi cance
2) winding up
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Non-current assets 2009 Acquisition cost Book value

in EUR 1.000 as of
01.01.2009 *)

Additions Disposals   Disposals due 
to demerger

as of
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation 2009

Book value              
31-12-2009

Book value                 
31-12-2008

Depreciation 
2009

Additions
2009

Public-sector debt instruments 75.382.820,90 89.354.388,47 0,00 133.906.105,00 30.831.104,37 151.843,11 30.679.261,26 76.216.918,96 151.383,75 0,00

Loans and advances to banks 3.590.166.122,93 0,00 668.291.365,69 44.000.000,00 2.877.874.757,23 235.347,17 2.877.639.410,06 3.589.996.589,13 78.552,24 6.070,00

Loans and advances to customers 2.731.032.714,36 3.462.057,20 60.180.711,80 1.151.182.745,74 1.523.131.314,02 -3.885.289,97 1.527.016.603,99 2.732.407.985,20 198.364,84 1.453.942,04

Bonds and other fi xed-income securities 5.327.332.227,05 874.660.654,32 465.944.989,80 1.728.881.414,65 4.007.166.476,92 959.247,59 4.006.207.229,33 5.322.120.341,31 1.632.503,14 7.158.374,71

Holdings 154.966.100,33 23.000,00 154.965.957,66 0,00 23.142,67 0,00 23.142,67 143,67 0,00 0,00

Investments in affi liated companies 247.064.299,94 723.480,21 0,00 12.299.299,94 235.488.480,21 234.723.480,21 765.000,00 195.064.299,94 0,00 0,00

Intangible non-current assets 3.525.020,68 0,00 0,00 3.525.020,68 0,00 0,00 0,00 177.071,70 70.076,55 0,00

Property and equipment 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

    Offi ce furniture and equipment 2.510.002,13 27.717,57 166.861,94 2.370.857,76 0,00 0,00 0,00 2.043.713,13 34.290,71 0,00

12.131.979.308,32 968.251.297,76 1.349.549.886,90 3.076.165.443,77 8.674.515.275,42 232.184.628,11 8.442.330.647,31 11.918.027.063,04 2.165.171,22 8.618.386,76

Name and registered offi ce

in EUR 1.000

Extent of 
investment 
31.12.2009

Equity 
(Sect. 224 Aust.
Company Code)

31.12.2009

Acquisition cost
31.12.2009

Book value
31.12.2009

Accumulated 
depreciation

After-tax profi t 
for the period 

31.12.2009

Date of last 
fi nancial 

statement

I. Holdings

Safeguarding of depositors‘ accounts through Banken und Bankiers Gesellschaft mbH, Vienna 0,10%  - 1) 0,0 0,0 0,0  - 1) -

ARZ Volksbanken Holding GmbH, Wien 0,03%  - 1) 0,0 0,0 0,0  - 1) -

SALEM Beteiligungsverwaltung zwölfte GmbH, Wien 100,00%  - 1) 23,0 23,0 0,0  - 1) -

II. Investments in affi liated companies

Kommunalkredit International Bank Ltd, Limassol (CY) *) 100,00% -622.712,0 234.723,0 0,0 -234.723,0 191.560,4 31.12.2009

Kommunalkredit Dexia Asset Management AG, Wien 2) 51,00% 1.567,0 765,0 765,0 0,0 61,4 31.12.2008
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Auditor’s report

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements of

KA Finanz AG,
Vienna,

for the fi nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2009 including the accounts of the company. The 
Financial Statements comprise the Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2009, the Income Statement for the year 
ended on 31 December 2009 and the Notes to the Balance Sheet and the Income Statement.

Management’s responsibility for the Financial Statements and the Accounts

Management is responsible for the keeping of the accounts and the preparation of fi nancial statements that 
convey a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the company in accordance with the relevant Austrian 
legal provisions. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control 
system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility and description of the type and scope of the audit

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with laws and regulations as well as the generally accepted audit standards applicable 
in Austria. These standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement in the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Audit opinion

Our audit did not give rise to any objections. Based on the results of our audit, in our opinion the Financial 
Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the company as of 31 December 
2009 and its fi nancial performance for the fi nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2009 in accordance 
with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
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Statement on the Management Discussion

Laws and regulations applicable in Austria require us to audit whether the Management Discussion is consist-
ent with the Financial Statements and whether the other disclosures made in the Management Discussion do 
not give rise to misconceptions of the position of the company. The audit opinion also has to contain a state-
ment as to whether the Management Discussion is consistent with the Financial Statements and whether the 
disclosures pursuant to Sect. 243.a of the new Austrian Company Code are correct.

In our opinion, the Management Discussion is consistent with the Financial Statements. The disclosures pursu-
ant to Sect. 243.a of the new Austrian Company Code are correct.

KPMG Austria GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

DDr. Martin Wagner               Mag. Walter Reiffenstuhl
  Austrian Chartered Accountant Austrian Chartered Accountant

Vienna, 8 April 2010

Publication or transmission of the Financial Statements with our Auditor’s Report is only permitted in the ver-
sion certifi ed by us. This Auditor’s Report exclusively refers to the German-language version and the complete 
Financial Statements, including the Management Discussion. For other versions, the provisions of Sect. 281.2 
of the new Austrian Company Code apply.
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Report by the supervisory board to the annual 
general meeting

2009 was a year marked by a profound restructuring process. In the wake of the acute liquidity crisis in 2008, 
the Republic of Austria took over 99.78% of the former Kommunalkredit Austria AG on 5 January 2009; 
0.22% remained with the Association of Austrian Municipalities. A restructuring plan approved by the Super-
visory Board, which was elaborated after the takeover in accordance with the relevant legal provisions and in 
conformity with the competition rules of the European Commission, is being implemented.

The composition of the Boards of the bank changed as well. As of 7 November 2008, Alois Steinbichler was 
appointed to serve as Chairman of the Executive Board. As of 1 February 2009, Andreas Fleischmann was ap-
pointed Member of the Executive Board. Pierre Vérot, Member of the Executive Board from 1 October 2008, 
resigned from his position as of the end of April 2009.

At the extraordinary general meeting of 8 January 2009, the Supervisory Board was newly appointed:

• Klaus Liebscher, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung AG 
(FIMBAG)

• Adolf Wala, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Member of the Board of Finanzmarktbeteiligung 
AG (FIMBAG) 

• Werner Muhm, Director of the Vienna Chamber of Labour and the Federal Chamber of Labour
• Herbert Paierl, Executive Vice President of Cosma Europa/Magna
• Georg Schöppl, Member of the Board of Österreichische Bundesforste AG

Re-elected to the Supevisory Board: 

• Helmut Mödlhammer, President of the Association of Austrian Municipalities 

Delegated by the Staff Council, as previously

• Franz Hofer
• Christine Sipek
• Martin Öhlknecht

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board intensively monitored the situation of the company and 
its restructuring process.

During the fi rst half of the year, the deconsolidation of Dexia Kommunalkredit Bank was prepared and imple-
mented. On 28 May 2009, the restructuring plan was adopted by the Supervisory Board and submitted to the 
Directorate General for Competition of the European Commission through the Federal Ministry of Finance. At 
its meeting of 15 October 2009, the Supervisory Board took the necessary decisions regarding the implemen-
tation of the restructuring process. On 17 November 2009, the demerger of Kommunalkredit Austria AG was 
decided by the Supervisory Board and approved by the extraordinary general meeting. This general meeting 
also appointed PwC INTER-TREUHAND GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft as 
new auditors for the separate and consolidated fi nancial statements for the business year 2010.

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board of Kommunalkredit Austria AG convened a total of 
twelve meetings. At its 12th meeting on 17 November 2009, it decided on the demerger of the company into 
KA Finanz AG as the legal successor to Kommunalkredit Austria AG, and Kommunalkredit Austria AG as the 
legal successor to Kommunalkredit Depotbank AG. On 4 December 2009, the Supervisory Board held its 13th 
meeting as the Supervisory Board of KA Finanz AG. The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board held four 
meetings (one of them in its capacity as Audit Committee of KA Finanz AG). The Credit Committee of the 
Supervisory Board held four meetings; on six occasions, decisions were taken by circular resolution.
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The Supervisory Board adopted new rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 27 January 
2009 and new rules of procedure for the Executive Board at its meeting of 25 February 2009. Likewise, a 
credit committee, an audit committee and an executive committee were set up. In the course of the demerger, 
the rules of procedure had to be adjusted to the new situation of KA Finanz AG as the legal successor to 
Kommunalkredit Austria AG. At its meeting of 4 December 2009, the Supervisory Board adopted revised rules 
of procedure for the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board; at the same time, the credit committee was 
renamed approvals committee.

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the main task of KA Finanz AG consists in phasing out its non-strate-
gic activities (CDS and securities portfolios as well as the assets of the Cyprus-based subsidiary. Any value 
recovery potential is to be preserved and the portfolio is to be run down, with due consideration given to pre-
vailing market conditions.

These Financial Statements and the Management Discussion for the year under review were audited by KPMG 
Austria GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs¬gesellschaft, Vienna. The audit, which did not give 
rise to any objections, met all legal requirements and an unqualifi ed audit opinion was issued thereon. The 
Supervisory Board endorsed the result of the audit and approved the 2009 Annual Financial Statements. More-
over, the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2009, including the Management Discussion, 
were also audited and taken note of

The Supervisory Board

Klaus Liebscher
Chairman

Vienna, 27 April 2010
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Statement by the legal representatives

KA Finanz AG
Annual Financial Statements 2009

We herewith confi rm to the best of our knowledge that the Financial Statements of the parent company, 
prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting standards, present a true and fair view of the fi nancial 
position of the company, that the Management Discussion presents the development of business, the results 
and the position of the company in such a way that it conveys a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of 
the company, and that the Management Discussion describes the essential risks and uncertainties the company 
is exposed to.

The Executive Board of KA Finanz  AG

Mag. Alois Steinbichler                Mag. Andreas Fleischmann
  Chairman of the Executive Board  Member of the Executive Board

Vienna, 8 April 2010
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